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In May 2010, Bavarian Nordic initiated the delivery of IMVAMUNE® 
smallpox vaccine to the U.S. Strategic National Stockpile under the 
contract with BARDA to deliver 20 million doses of IMVAMUNE®.  
Deliveries were initiated upon notification from the FDA that  
Bavarian Nordic had fulfilled all preclinical, clinical and 
 manufacturing requirements to potentially support the  
use of IMVAMUNE® in HIV infected subjects following a  
declared emergency.

During 2010, more than 2 million doses of IMVAMUNE® were  
delivered. 

2	 annual report 2010



Contents

A biotech breakthrough	 4
Milestones 2010	 6
Our focus and short-term objectives	 7
Our Company	 8
Key Figures	 10
Financial Review 2010	 11
Outlook for 2011	 13
Our Strategy	 15
Our Technology	 18
Intellectual Property Rights	 19
Cancer Vaccine Division	 21
Infectious Disease Division	 27
Other programmes	 31
Corporate Social Responsibility	 32
Corporate Governance	 33
Risk Management	 34
Internal Control	 35
The Bavarian Nordic Share	 36
Management of Bavarian Nordic	 38
Statement by Management on the Annual Report	 40
Independent auditor’s report	 41
Financial statements	 42
Notes	 52

	 annual report 2010� 3



A biotech breakthrough

Anders Hedegaard,  
President & CEO

2010 was an eventful year in Bavarian Nordic.  
The Company reached a turning point, when the  
FDA in March allowed us to produce and deliver  
our IMVAMUNE® smallpox vaccine to  
the U.S. Strategic Stockpile. 

It marked the success of our dedi-
cated and strong efforts to build 
up a unique and highly special-
ized manufacturing facility and 
organization. Subsequently we 
shipped the first 2 million vaccines 
under the contract for 20 million 
doses with the US government. 
These were also the first vaccines 

to be successfully developed and 
delivered under the US government’s 

Project BioShield, which was launched 
to improve medical countermeasures to 
protect the American people from po-
tential bioterror. As preferred collabora-
tion partner with the US government, we 

aim to build further on this relationship 
for our continuous efforts to provide safer 
and improved vaccines for the protection 
of public health.

Although we faced challenges in the scale 
up of the production, we managed to 
overcome these while at the same time 
keeping a strong focus on the deliver-
ies throughout the year. And now, with 
IMVAMUNE® in operation, we are able to 
broaden our focus towards new applica-
tions for our MVA-BN® vaccine technology. 

In recognition of the different approach-
es that exist in our two key business 
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areas, we decided to reorganize Bavarian 
Nordic in 2010 into two divisions; Cancer 
Vaccines and Infectious Diseases. This 
reorganization has brought leadership 
into focus, and facilitated a stronger and 
more effective management that will 
spur the development and in-licensing of 
new projects. 

Our Cancer Vaccine division has been 
working diligent to finalize the prepara-
tions for the first programme in Bavarian 
Nordic to enter pivotal Phase 3 studies; 
PROSTVAC®. Ever since we in-licensed 
the vaccine, we have seen an increasing 
interest in the features that the vaccine 
offers patients, suffering from advanced 
prostate cancer. Not least, spurred by the 
FDA’s recent approval of the first-ever im-
munotherapy for this population.

Key milestones were completed in the 
development of PROSTVAC® in 2010, pri-
marily due to the regulatory endorsement 
that has outlined the path for approval of 
the vaccine by the FDA. We were granted 
Fast Track status by the FDA, with whom 
we also held a successful end of Phase 

2 meeting. Based on the outcome of the 
meeting and responses from European 
health authorities as well, we submitted 
a clinical trial protocol for the intended 
Phase 3 trial, which later in the year was 
endorsed by the FDA with a  
Special Protocol Assessment Agreement. 
This means that the Phase 3 study can 
proceed as designed and, if the predeter-
mined goals are reached, could form the 
primary clinical basis of product approval 
under a Biologics Licence Application. 
Initiating Phase 3 will mark yet another 
turning point for Bavarian Nordic.

Securing a partner for PROSTVAC® 
continues to be a key strategic goal for 
Bavarian Nordic and the Company is in 
partnership discussions for the continued 
development and commercialization of 
PROSTVAC®.

Supported by both existing and new 
shareholders, we successfully raised 
more than DKK 500 million in cash in 
2010 through a rights issue and later a 
private placement. However, in the same 
period, our market capitalisation grew by 

as much as DKK 2 billion. Looking back at 
the year clearly explains the success that 
is reflected by this share performance.

Now, we are looking forward in excite-
ment of the events that lies ahead. Our 
two lead projects have led the way for 
growth and although our primary focus 
remains on the IMVAMUNE® deliveries 
and PROSTVAC® Phase 3 trials for the 
next couple of years, we are ready to ex-
plore opportunities that lie beyond these 
to support our strategy for sustainable 
operations. We are confident that 2011 
will be another year of great accomplish-
ments driven by the continued dedica-
tion and excellent performance by our 
employees.
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Milestones 2010

PROSTVAC®

•	 �Regulatory endorsement of PROSTVAC® by the US health authorities (FDA) with the successful completion of an end of Phase 2 
meeting, Fast Track status, and Special Protocol Assessment agreement for the Phase 3 programme

•	 �A scientific paper on the previously reported Phase 2 study with PROSTVAC® was published in the peer-reviewed Journal of Clini-
cal Oncology ( JCO), the official journal of ASCO (American Society of Clinical Oncology)

IMVAMUNE®

•	 �Fulfilment of FDA requirements to potentially support the use of IMVAMUNE® in HIV infected subjects following a declared 
emergency

•	 �Initiation of deliveries to the U.S. Strategic National Stockpile

•	 �2 million doses delivered

•	 �Performance-based milestone payment of USD 25 million received under the RFP-3 contract 

•	 �Phase 2 data from study in atopic dermatitis patients submitted to the FDA, potentially able to expand current planned use of 
IMVAMUNE® in the US

•	 �Phase 3 protocols submitted to the FDA to support the licensure of IMVAMUNE® under the animal rule

•	 �Milestones in development of freeze-dried IMVAMUNE® completed, triggering the continued funding from the U.S. Government 
(BARDA)

Other company milestones

•	 �Funding received from the U.S. National Institutes of Health (NIH) to advance Bavarian Nordic’s early research in the prevention 
of filoviruses (Ebola and Marburg virus), using the MVA-BN® platform

•	 �More than DKK 500 million raised in successful rights issue and private placement

•	 �Reorganization of the Company into divisions that support Bavarian Nordic’s long-term growth strategy

•	 �Core MVA-BN® patents upheld after aggressive attempts to revoke patents in Europe
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Our focus and 
short-term objectives

With the initiation of deliveries of 
IMVAMUNE® to the U.S. Strategic Na-
tional Stockpile in 2010, we set off as an 
order-producing company, and our overall 
objective for this part of our business is 
to strive for profitable operations through 
efficient management and a continuous 
focus on optimizing our manufacturing in 
order to increase the production yield as 
well as to ensure a timely delivery. 

The Phase 3 studies supporting the licen-
sure of IMVAMUNE® in the US under the 
Animal Rule are planned for 2011. In the 
meantime, we have been encouraged by 
Health Canada to submit a New Drug Sub-
mission for IMVAMUNE® and we expect 
this to happen in first half of 2011, leading 
to a potential licensure in Canada in 2012.

In our Cancer Vaccines Division, the effort 
is primarily concentrated on the initiation 
of the pivotal Phase 3 trial with  
PROSTVAC® during second half of 2011. 

Short-term objectives

Cancer
•	 Finalize the preparations and initiate 

PROSTVAC® Phase 3 trial
•	 Establish PROSTVAC® partnership before 

market commercialization
•	 Broadening the portfolio by in-licensing, 

acquisitions and development of new 
mid- to late-stage cancer targets.

Infectious Diseases
•	 Continued delivery of IMVAMUNE® under 

the RFP-3 contract with the US govern-
ment

•	 Continued scale up of production 
during 2011

•	 Securing new IMVAMUNE® orders 
•	 Filing of NDS for IMVAMUNE® in Canada, 

obtain regulatory approval.
•	 Developing new late-stage vaccine can-

didates for infectious diseases beyond 
biodefence, supported by partnerships 
and/or acquisitions.
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Cancer Vaccines Division

Our Cancer Vaccines division is headed 
by Reiner Laus and comprises a research 
centre in Mountain View, USA and a pilot 
production facility in Berlin, Germany. A 
total of 77 people were employed in the 
division by year-end 2010.

The cancer pipeline is focused in thera-
peutic vaccines and includes two projects 
in prostate cancer; PROSTVAC® (Phase 2) 
and MVA-BN® PRO (Phase 1/2) and one 
project in breast cancer; MVA-BN® HER2 
(Phase 1/2).

  	R & D  	 68
  	Sales and Administration 	 9 

Employees by function

Our Company

Our business is operated in 
two divisions, each led by 
its own Division President. 
A holding function with the 
President & CEO oversees  
the divisions and operates  
all Group-related functions 
such as group management, 
IR, Finance, IT, HR, Legal and 
Facility. Holding employed 45 
by the end of 2010.

Mountain View, CA, USA
R&D facility

Washington, DC, USA
Government relations

Reiner Laus,  
Division President Cancer Vaccines, Executive Vice President
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Infectious Disease Division 

Our Infectious Disease Division is led by 
Paul Chaplin, and comprises our research 
facility in Martinsried, Germany, manu-
facturing facility in Kvistgård, Denmark, 
a government relations office in Wash-
ington, USA and an office in Singapore. A 
total of 290 people were employed in the 
division by year-end 2010.

The infectious disease pipeline is focused 
in prophylactic vaccines and includes a 
smallpox vaccine candidate; IMVAMUNE® 
(Phase 2), an anthrax vaccine candidate; 
MVA-BN® Anthrax (Preclinical), a RSV vac-
cine candidate; MVA-BN® RSV (Preclinical) 
and a HIV vaccine candidate; MVA-BN® HIV 
multiantigen (Phase 1/2).

  	R & D  	 98
  	Manufacturing 	 9
  	Quality	 70
  	Sales and Administration	 9

Employees by function

Kvistgård, Denmark
Manufacturing facility and Group administration

Berlin, Germany
GMP production of clinical trial material

Singapore 
Representative office

Martinsried, Germany
R&D facility

Paul Chaplin,  
Division President Infectious Diseases, Executive Vice President
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Group Key Figures 2006-2010

Key FigureS

DKK million	 2010	 2009	 2008 	 2007	 2006

Income statement
Revenue	  314.1 	  74.8 	  208.8 	  332.1 	  175.3 

Production costs	  444.5 	  140.1 	  196.7 	  64.5 	  136.3 

Research and development costs	  210.8 	  164.0 	  129.6 	  243.6 	  118.4 

Distribution and administrative costs	  132.9 	  111.9 	  92.0 	  89.1 	  124.4 

Income before interest and tax (EBIT)	  (474.1)	  (341.2)	  (209.5)	  (65.0)	  (203.8)

Financial items, net	  (9.4)	  10.1 	  26.2 	  14.5 	  (1.0)

Income before company tax	  (483.4)	  (331.1)	  (183.3)	  (50.5)	  (204.8)

Net profit for the year	  (389.9)	  (266.3)	  (150.4)	  (63.5)	  (160.9)
					   

Balance sheet					   

Total non-current assets	  829.2 	  715.1 	  594.2 	  538.8 	  568.2 

Total current assets	  637.9 	  556.0 	  1,100.0 	  1,193.2 	  386.2 

Total assets	  1,467.1 	  1,271.1 	  1,694.3 	  1,732.1 	  954.4 

Equity at year-end	  810.4 	  704.2 	  1,015.1 	  1,217.7 	  691.4 

Long-term current liabilities	  106.5 	  113.0 	  52.7 	  134.7 	  150.6 

Short-term current liabilities	  550.2 	  453.9 	  626.5 	  379.7 	  112.4 
					   

Cash Flow Statement					   

Securities, cash and cash equivalents	  355.7 	  185.0 	  795.9 	  913.6 	  332.7 

Cash flow from operating activities	  (239.9)	  (484.0)	  (22.4)	  163.2 	  (194.5)

Cash flow from investment activities	  (45.8)	  26.1 	  (81.5)	  (16.1)	  (192.2)

Investment in tangible assets	  45.7 	  50.6 	  12.0 	  5.8 	  73.9 

Cash flow from financing activities	  471.0 	  (30.8)	  (15.1)	  440.4 	  219.0 
					   

Financial Ratios (in DKK)					   

Earnings per share					   

– basic earnings per share of DKK 10	  (33.5)	  (34.0)	  (18.7)	  (8.0)	  (25.8)

– diluted earnings per share of DKK 10	  (33.5)	  (34.0)	  (18.7)	  (8.0)	  (25.8)

Net asset value per share	  62.5 	  88.6 	  129.9 	  155.8 	  108.4 

Share price at the year-end	  245 	  144 	  132 	  293 	  582 

Share price/Net asset value per share	  3.9 	  1.6 	  1.0 	  1.9 	  5.4 

Number of outstanding shares at the year-end	  12,962 	  7,952 	  7,816 	  7,816 	  6,376 

Equity share	 55%	 55%	 60%	 70%	 72%

Number of employees, converted to full-time,  
at year-end	 412	 354	 294	 264	  233 

Earnings per share (EPS) is calculated in accordance with IAS 33 "Earning per share". The financial ratios have been calculated in accordance with "Anbefalin-
ger og  Nøgletal 2010" (Recommendations and Financial ratios 2010).
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revenue and costs of external suppliers, 
payroll costs, depreciation and amortisa-
tion. The increase compared to 2009 is 
related to the increase in revenue. In 
addition, the Company has made material 
write-downs of inventories, net DKK 94 
million (income DKK 9 million), since the 
bulk vaccine which was produced during 
the initial scale-up in spring 2010 did not 
meet all the predefined specifications, 
leading to write down of inventories. The 
development in write-downs is shown in 
note 15.

Research and development costs
Research and development costs totalled 
DKK 211 million (DKK 164 million) exclud-
ing capitalized costs, which totalled DKK 
12 million (DKK 38 million). The develop-
ment costs primarily consist of in-house 
payroll costs and costs related to projects. 
The increase is primarily due to increased 
activities in the cancer business area. 

Distribution costs and administrative 
costs
Distribution costs and administrative costs 
in 2010 totalled DKK 133 million (DKK 112 
million). The increase is mainly due to 
severance costs to two former mem-
bers of group management, consultant 
expenses related to reorganization of the 
Group, and tax advice in connection with 
the award of a potential partner agree-
ment on PROSTVAC®.

Financials
During 2010, Bavarian Nordic posted net 
financial expenses of DKK 9 million (net 
income DKK 10 million). The decrease 
is primarily attributable to lower inter-
est income on bank balances and fixed 
deposits as a result of lower net free 
liquidity during the year.

Financial Review 2010

A pre-tax loss of DKK 483 million (DKK 
331 million) was recorded for the year. 
The Company had expected a loss for 
2010 of DKK 450 million. The negative 
deviation is mainly because the Com-
pany had slightly lower revenue than 
expected and has progressed further 
than expected with preparations for 
PROSTVAC® Phase 3 studies, leading to 
increased costs.

The Group’s cash preparedness was DKK 
460 million at the end of the year (DKK 
205 million). 

Equity stood at DKK 810 million at 31 
December 2010 (DKK 704 million).

In the autumn 2010 it was decided to re-
organize the company’s primary business 
areas into two divisions; Cancer Vaccines 
and Infectious Diseases. Certain financial 
segment information has been included 
in this annual report and can be found in 
the notes.

Income statement 

Revenue
Bavarian Nordic generated revenue of 
DKK 314 million in 2010 (DKK 75 million). 
The revenue is primarily composed of rev-
enue from deliveries of 2 million doses of 
IMVAMUNE® to the US health authorities. 
The remaining revenue mainly comes 
from ongoing contracts with the US health 
authorities (development contracts RFP-2 
and freeze-dried IMVAMUNE®). 

Production costs
Production costs, which amounted to DKK 
444 million (DKK 140 million), include 
costs incurred to generate the recognized 

Unless otherwise stated, the 
financial review is based on the 
Group’s consolidated financial 
information for the year ended 
31 December 2010 as included 
in this Annual Report with  
comparative figures for the 
Group in 2009 in brackets. 
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Tax
Income taxes represented an income 
of DKK 94 million (DKK 65 million) and 
is primarily attributable to deferred tax 
adjustments associated with tax losses 
carried forward.

Net profit
A net loss of DKK 390 million after tax 
was posted in 2010 (a loss of DKK 266 
million). It is proposed that the loss be 
transferred to free reserves.

Balance sheet 

The balance sheet total was DKK 1,467 
million as of 31 December 2010 (DKK 1,271 
million). 

Assets
Non-current assets stood at DKK 829 
million (DKK 715 million). The increase is 
primarily due to an increase of research 
and development costs related to the 
registration of IMVAMUNE® under the 
RFP-3 contract, new facilities at Kvistgård, 
refurbishment of buildings and pilot plant 
in Berlin as well as an increase in the tax 
asset as a result of the loss in the period.

Development costs for IMVAMUNE® 
related to the registration of the vaccine, 
have been capitalized by DKK 108 million 
(DKK 96 million) under intangible assets 
as an investment in progress.

Based on the contracts already concluded 
and expectations for future operations, the 
tax assets at the end of 2010 are recog-
nized in the balance sheet in the amount 
of DKK 334 million (DKK 234 million).

Inventories amounted to DKK 121 million, 
which is half in relation to 2009 (DKK 246 
million). The decrease is due to delivery 
of 2 million doses IMVAMUNE® to the US 
health authorities and material write-
downs in the year. The write-downs as of 
31 December 2010 amounted to DKK 108 
million (DKK 34 million) and relate to par-
tial write-down of inventories, where final 
release of vaccines have not taken place 
and full write-down of inventories that 
are not expected to be released when the 
final quality test is completed.

Inventories comprise of raw materials for 
production at the Kvistgård facility, work 
in progress and manufactured goods and 
commodities.

Receivables stood at DKK 161 million 
(DKK 125 million). Most of these receiva-
bles are pre-payments for future fillings, 
DKK 95 million (DKK 69 million). Trade 
receivables have increased due to de-
liveries of IMVAMUNE® to the US health 
authorities. 

Bavarian Nordic’s cash and cash equiva-
lents are primarily invested in fixed-term 
deposits with banks, short-term govern-
ment and mortgage bonds and ordinary 
bank deposits. 

As of 31 December 2010 cash and securities 
stood at DKK 356 million (DKK 185 million).

The fixed-term deposits are denominated 
in Danish kroner and are at interest rates 
reflecting the short term Danish money 
market. The investments in bonds are 
also denominated in Danish kroner at 
year-end 2010.

Equity 

After the transfer of the loss for the year, 
equity stood at DKK 810 million (DKK 704 
million). The DKK 106 million increase 
is primarily attributable to two capital 
injections in 2010 with net proceeds of 
DKK 501 million, which is partly offset by 
negative retained earnings of DKK 390 
million.

Creditors
The Group’s borrowings are reduced to 
DKK 107 million (DKK 119 million) in con-
nection with ordinary repayment of debt. 

Trade payables amounted to DKK 50 
million (DKK 48 million). Other creditors 
totalled DKK 103 million (DKK 112 mil-
lion) and includes negative fair value of 
financial instruments DKK 32 million (DKK 
10 million). 

In connection with the award of the 
RFP-3 contract in 2007, an advance pay-
ment of DKK 277 million (USD 50 million) 
was received and in 2010 the Company 
achieved a milestone payment of DKK 
148 million (USD 25 million). These pay-
ments are subject to a repayment obliga-
tion if Bavarian Nordic does not meet 
the requirements including delivery of 20 
million IMVAMUNE® doses under the con-
tract. Both prepayment and milestone 
payments are recognised as liabilities 
and will be recognised as revenue as 
doses are delivered. In 2010, 2 million 
doses have been delivered and thus DKK 
43 million recognised as revenue. 
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In 2011, Bavarian Nordic expects to deliver 
4 million doses of IMVAMUNE® to the U.S. 
Strategic National Stockpile, of which 
approximately 3 million will be revenue 
recognized but only around 2 million 
contribute to the 2011 cash flow due to 
anticipated late delivery and acceptance 
from BARDA in the fourth quarter of 2011. 

Bavarian Nordic's guidance for revenues 
and pre-tax results include the financial 
effects of initiating the PROSTVAC® Phase 
3 trial in 2011.

The Company is currently reviewing 
alternate options to fund the continued 
development of PROSTVAC®, in particular 
opportunities to pursue an independent 
development in parallel with continu-
ing the partnership discussions. As part 
of this review of options the Company 
is considering a rights issue to generate 
sufficient funds that in combination with 
positive cash flow from existing opera-

Outlook for 2011

be in a situation where the Group would 
have to postpone the initiation of the 
pivotal Phase 3 trial for PROSTVAC® and 
reduce existing research and development 
programmes except for IMVAMUNE® and 
reduce costs in the supporting functions 
and investments in order to continue 
operations.

Prospects for IMVAMUNE® 
2012-13

The delivery of the expected remaining 14 
million doses after 2011 under the RFP-3 
contract is anticipated to be approximate-
ly evenly split between 2012 and 2013. In 
summary, the projected delivery schedule 
of IMVAMUNE® is expected to enable the 
Bavarian Nordic Infectious Disease Divi-
sion to be cash flow positive as of fourth 
quarter of 2011 and onwards. 

In 2012-2013, the accumulated free cash 
flow for the Infectious Disease Division is 
expected to be positive by approximately 
DKK 350 million including costs for the 
Phase 3 trial for IMVAMUNE®, but exclud-
ing the cash from the hold back of USD 50 
million.

With the reorganization of the 
Company’s primary business 
areas into two divisions; 
Cancer Vaccines and Infectious 
Diseases, Bavarian Nordic 
has increased its focus on 
initiating the Phase 3 trial 
on PROSTVAC® and on the 
production of IMVAMUNE® for 
the continued deliveries to the 
U.S. Government.

tions in coming years can fund the pivotal 
PROSTVAC® Phase 3 trial. The Company 
intends to finalize its considerations and 
present the conclusions at the Annual 
General Meeting on 26 April 2011, where 
the Company expects to provide guidance 
for its 2011 year-end cash preparedness 
as well.

In 2011, the Company expects revenue at 
the level of DKK 500 million and a pre-tax 
loss at the level of DKK 350 million. The 
revenue of DKK 500 million is expected 
to be generated from deliveries of 
IMVAMUNE® under the RFP-3 contract and 
revenue from ongoing research contracts, 
including the contract for freeze-dried 
IMVAMUNE® and the RFP-2 IMVAMUNE® 
contract. 

The free cash flow from operations and 
investments for 2011 are projected to 
be negative by approximately DKK 600 
million and are expected to be almost 
equally split between the two divisions. 
In the Infectious Disease Division, these 
financial effects are primarily due to the 
scale up in production from two to four 
batches per week, as well as the time 
gap between deliveries in late 2011 and 
payment. In January, the Company suc-
cessfully scaled up production from two 
to three batches per week and a scale-up 
to four batches per week is projected for 
the third quarter of 2011. In the Cancer 
Vaccines Division, the negative cash flow 
is mostly related to the initiation of the 
Phase 3 trial for PROSTVAC®. The trial cost 
is estimated to be USD 150m over the 
period 2011 to 2015.

In case no alternate options to fund the 
continued development of PROSTVAC® in 
2011 materialises, Bavarian Nordic will 
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The diverse focus in both infectious 
diseases and cancer has led to 
the establishment of two separate 
business divisions

The establishment of divisions 
facilitates a stronger and more 
effective management structure and 
offers a number of benefits to the 
Company
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It is the goal of Bavarian 
Nordic to be a leading 
developer and supplier of 
innovative vaccines for the 
treatment and prevention 
of life-threatening diseases 
within cancer and infectious 
diseases. 

Cancer Vaccines

Bavarian Nordic is pursuing the develop-
ment of active immunotherapy, currently 
targeting two of the major cancers; breast 
and prostate cancer. Viral vector-based 
vaccines, like MVA-BN®, offer the ad-
vantage that the virus will induce both 
a strong humoral and a cellular immune 
response, thus activating all arms of the 
immune system.

Utilizing the MVA-BN® platform technol-
ogy, the Company is seeking to develop 
improved therapies for the treatment of 
cancers, in which current approved thera-
pies are limited in terms of efficacy and 
safety. Currently, MVA-BN® is investigated 
in clinical Phase 1/2 studies as vaccine 
candidate for the treatment of breast and 
prostate cancer.

Through the in-licensing of other technol-
ogies, the Company builds on its expertise 
in viral vector-based vaccines to enhance 
and further develop other emerging 
technologies like PROSTVAC®, which in 
clinical trials has demonstrated a superior 
efficacy, while at the same time offering 
an advantageous safety profile and ease 
of administration.

Preparations for pivotal Phase 3 stud-
ies with PROSTVAC® are ongoing with 
expected enrolment to start in the second 
half of 2011.

It is our strategy to expand the cancer 
portfolio beyond the current programmes 
with more late-stage projects through the 
continuous development of own research 
projects, scientific partnerships and 
through acquisitions. 

Our Strategy

Though our commitment to the develop-
ment of safer vaccines for the protection 
of the public against potential bioterror 
agents, we have established a successful 
business in biodefence, encompassing a 
full value chain of research and manufac-
turing facilities, based on our patented 
and proven technology platform; MVA-
BN®, suitable for developing new vaccine 
targets in both prophylactic and therapeu-
tic settings. 

Leveraging on these competencies, our 
focus has broadened over the last years 
through the establishment of a cancer 
business unit focused on the develop-
ment of new and improved therapies for 
the treatment of cancer to fulfil unmet 
medical needs.

This diverse focus in both infectious dis-
eases and cancer has led to the establish-
ment of two separate business divisions; 
Cancer Vaccines and Infectious Diseases, 
each led by its own Division President. 
The establishment of two divisions facili-
tates a stronger and more effective man-
agement structure and offers a number of 
benefits to the Company, including: 

•	 Optimization of resource management 
and investments 

•	 Acceleration of development and in-
licensing of new projects within cancer 
and infectious diseases 

•	 Multiple funding options and separate 
strategic partnership opportunities  
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Infectious Diseases

Biodefence
Our long-standing partnership with the 
U.S. Government on the development and 
the supply contracts for IMVAMUNE® as 
a safer smallpox vaccine have facilitated 
the build-up of a highly specialized or-
ganization as well as the manufacturing 
infrastructure with the ability to produce 
and deliver commercial-scale quantities 
of MVA-BN®-based vaccines. This keen 
focus on delivering biodefence vaccines 
for governments has created a sustain-
able business, allowing Bavarian Nordic 
to retain and increase the value in the 
Company. 

The continued support and dedication 
from the U.S Government, spurring the 
development of medical countermeas-
ures through early research funding over 
to procurement contracts has proven a 
good fit to our business model and we 
will continue to pursue opportunities in 
this field to further expand our pipeline 
as well as to maximize our manufacturing 
capabilities.

Next to smallpox, the U.S. Government 
is strongly focused on the development 
of countermeasures against anthrax, 
and Bavarian Nordic assesses that the 
Company is well-positioned to obtain 
funding for the continued development of 
an anthrax vaccine. Utilizing the MVA-
BN® platform, such a vaccine would be a 

combined smallpox and anthrax vaccine 
and thus it would simultaneously address 
two of the gravest bioterrorism threats, 
while at the same time offering a number 
of attractive synergies.

Funding has already been received from 
the U.S. Government to investigate the 
potential of an MVA-BN® based vaccine 
against filoviruses (Ebola and Marburg’s 
disease), also considered potential bioter-
ror agents. Preclinical activities in these 
indications will be completed with the 
aim of determining the potential to ad-
vance these into clinical studies, depend-
ing on further government funding

Infectious diseases beyond biodefence 
The infectious disease strategy is to use 
the established biodefence business 
to support the parallel development 
of vaccines against other infectious 
diseases that fulfil a significant unmet 
medical need. The continued support for 
IMVAMUNE® and MVA-BN®-based vaccines 
is ratification by a third party of the utility 
of the platform to develop effective and 
safer vaccines against lethal diseases. 
Indeed, the advanced stage of develop-
ment of IMVAMUNE®, coupled with the 
proven manufacturing capabilities for 
MVA-BN®-based vaccines reduces the risks 
associated with initiating new vaccine 
programs based on MVA-BN®.  

Following the proof of concept study 
which demonstrated a MVA-BN®-based 

vaccine (against measles) was well tol-
erated and immunogenic in a paediatric 
population (6 months – 5 years old), 
Bavarian Nordic will initially focus on the 
development of a prophylactic vaccine 
against Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV).

The body’s natural defence against RSV 
is only transient, which means that 
re-infections are common, resulting in flu-
like symptoms, although RSV can lead to 
lower respiratory infections, pneumonia, 
respiratory failure and death. Indeed, RSV 
is a leading cause of death (from an infec-
tion) in infants and is also associated with 
comparable deaths in adults, particularly 
risk populations (elderly, immunocompro-
mised, underlying respiratory conditions) 
as influenza. Currently, there is no vaccine 
against RSV to protect the estimated 200 
million people at risk from annual RSV 
infections. 

In addition to RSV, a key part of the Infec-
tious Disease strategy is to partner to fur-
ther develop the platform. A key example 
is the MVA-BN® HIV multiantigen, which 
has completed Phase 1/2 clinical trials, 
demonstrating proof of concept. While 
Bavarian Nordic will not fund the further 
development alone, we continue to look 
for a partner, because even though the 
vaccine has shown great promise in 
the clinical the Company would need to 
spread the significant risks associated 
with the development of a HIV vaccine. 
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Bavarian Nordic Provides Update 
on Strategy for PROSTVAC®

PROSTVAC® represents a significant 
product opportunity for Bavarian Nordic. 
PROSTVAC® is an "off-the-shelf" therapeu-
tic vaccine moving into late stage clinical 
development that in a fully controlled 
Phase 2 study has demonstrated the 
potential to extend the lives of people 
with advanced prostate cancer by 8.5 
months (approx. 50% increase) compared 
to placebo. PROSTVAC® has created enthu-
siasm in the medical community and has 
received positive feedback as a potential 
new and efficient vaccine for prostate 
cancer.

It is the Company’s opinion, that this 
potential is not fully recognised in the 
current proposed deal terms, and that 
there could be more benefits in terms of 
shareholder value from retaining control 
in a full in house development program. 

The Company believes that the overall 
development plan and the timing of the 
PROSTVAC® Phase 3 trial shall be main-
tained in order to secure speed to market. 

Following recent agreement 
with the FDA on the Special 
Protocol Assessment (SPA) 
received in December 2010 
for the pivotal Phase 3 trial of 
PROSTVAC®, it is the Company’s 
belief that the development 
of PROSTVAC® carries a more 
favourable regulatory approval 
threshold than previously 
anticipated, indicating greater 
upside potential. 

Bavarian Nordic has ongoing partner-
ship discussions for the development 
and commercialization of PROSTVAC®. 
While securing a partner for PROSTVAC® 
continues to be a key strategic goal for 
Bavarian Nordic, the Company believes 
that maintaining the momentum in the 
development of PROSTVAC® is critical for 
maximizing value for shareholders. 

Therefore, the Company is currently 
reviewing alternate options to fund the 
continued development of PROSTVAC®, 
in particular opportunities to pursue an 
independent development in parallel 
with continuing the partnership discus-
sions. As part of this review the Company 
is considering a rights issue to generate 
sufficient funds that in combination with 
positive cash flow from existing opera-
tions in coming years can fund the pivotal 
PROSTVAC® Phase 3 trial. The Company 
intends to finalize its considerations and 
present the conclusions at the Annual 
General Meeting on 26 April 2011. 

.
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Our Technology

Bavarian Nordic’s core 
technology platform is based 
on the patented MVA-BN® 
(Modified Vaccinia Ankara 
– Bavarian Nordic) virus, an 
enhanced version of Modified 
Vaccinia Ankara (MVA) virus, 
which is a highly attenuated 
strain of the poxvirus vaccinia. 
MVA was developed towards 
the end of the campaign for 
the eradication of smallpox 
and used successfully to  
pre-vaccinate more than 
120,000 individuals against 
smallpox in Germany in the 
1970s. 

Besides being a smallpox vaccine, MVA-
BN® has been shown as one of the safest 
multivalent vaccine vectors for the de-
velopment of vaccines against infectious 
diseases and cancer. 

MVA-BN® is under clinical evaluation in a 
total of 14 completed or ongoing trials as 
a smallpox vaccine. More than 3,400 indi-
viduals, including nearly 1,000 immuno-
compromised have been vaccinated with 
MVA-BN®-based vaccines, demonstrating 
high immunogenicity and at the same 
time, no serious adverse reactions.

The MVA-BN® has an attractive safety 
profile due to the virus’ inability to 
replicate in a vaccinated individual. The 
replication cycle is blocked at a very late 
stage which ensures that new viruses are 
not generated and released. This means 
that the virus cannot spread in the vac-
cinated person and side-effects, normally 

associated with replicating vaccinia 
viruses, do not appear with MVA-BN®. 

Studies with MVA-BN® in immunocom-
promised individuals have also confirmed 
its safety and immunogenicity profile, 
making MVA-BN®-based vaccines suitable 
for the development of vaccines for im-
munocompromised populations. 

In-licensed technologies
Through the in-licensing of other technol-
ogies, Bavarian Nordic builds on its solid 
expertise in poxviruses. The therapeutic 
prostate cancer vaccine, PROSTVAC®, 
that was acquired in 2008 as part of a 
collaboration with the National Cancer 
Institute (NCI), employs two different 
poxviruses in a prime-boost regime. Thus 
Bavarian Nordic is able to leverage not 
only its know-how, but also its manufac-
turing competencies for delivering new 
and improved cancer therapies.
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Bavarian Nordic has successfully built 
its patent portfolio on and around its 
core technology; MVA-BN®. The patent 
portfolio has been developed to ensure 
that Bavarian Nordic can optimize the 
commercial value of the discoveries in 
the Company’s research and development 
activities. In addition the portfolio ensures 
protection against competitors’ use of 
similar products and technologies within 
Bavarian Nordic’s core business areas.

Bavarian Nordic's patent portfolio directed 
to aspects of MVA consists of 34 patent 
families, comprising more than 350 pend-
ing patent applications and more than 
650 granted/issued patents. 

Bavarian Nordic's competitive IP protec-
tion gives exclusive rights to manufacture, 
sell and market its MVA based technology 
globally. 

Besides its core IP, Bavarian Nordic has 
obtained protection for, and continues to 
file further applications to protect relevant 
supporting technologies. Bavarian Nordic 
has also acquired exclusive rights to non-
MVA technologies including other viruses 
and production processes from other 
patent holders. 

Strong IP position successfully 
defended 
At several occasions during 2010, Bavarian 
Nordic successfully defended its strong IP 
position on the MVA-BN® technology. 

Intellectual Property Rights

In January, Bavarian Nordic and Oxford 
BioMedica reached a global settlement 
ending all pending litigation and op-
positions filed at the European Patent 
Office on matters relating to MVA-BN®. 
Under the agreement, Bavarian Nordic 
granted a license to its MVA-BN® patents 
in return for Oxford BioMedica making 
milestone payments and royalties.

In October, the Company successfully 
defended its core patent covering the 
MVA-BN® technology despite aggressive 
attempts from competitors to revoke the 
patent in Europe. An opposition proceed-
ing had been pending at the European 
Patent Office for several years with seven 
companies opposing the patent. After an 
oral hearing in the first instance the Op-
position Division rendered its decision to 
uphold the patent with certain amended 
claims.

Furthermore, two companies had filed 
oppositions against the Company’s 
European Patent disclosing the use 
of MVA derived viruses for inducing a 
general immune stimulation for protec-
tion against e.g. smallpox in neonates, 
i.e. young children with an immature 
immune system. This patent was also 
upheld with amended claims by the Op-
position Division 

A strong patent portfolio 
underpins Bavarian Nordic's 
competitive position in  
MVA-based vaccines.
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With the FDA approval of the 
first-ever immunotherapy to 
fight prostate cancer in 2010, 
the way has been paved for other 
immunotherapies 

Bavarian Nordic’s PROSTVAC® 
is poised to become the second 
prostate cancer vaccine based 
immunotherapy commercially 
available 
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PROSTVAC® 
With the FDA approval of the 
first-ever immunotherapy to 
fight prostate cancer in 2010, 
the way has been paved for 
other immunotherapies. This 
has raised further interest in 
the field. Bavarian Nordic’s 
PROSTVAC® is poised to 
become the second prostate 
cancer vaccine based 
immunotherapy commercially 
available. In Phase 2 clinical 
trials PROSTVAC® was 
associated with a remarkable 
prolongation of overall 
survival, and has been well 
tolerated, especially for an 
oncology product. 

Cancer Vaccine Division

Additionally, PROSTVAC® is also a stand-
ardized off-the-shelf vaccine, adding fur-
ther to its advantage. It will be easier to 
make PROSTVAC® globally available, and 
do clinical studies in early stage disease 
for label expansion.

In 2011, PROSTVAC® is set to enter Phase 
3 trials as the first-ever programme in 
Bavarian Nordic to enter pivotal studies. 
During 2010, a strong internal effort has 
been made in order to prepare for the 
study, and significant milestones were 
achieved, including the following

•	 Successful completion of an end of 
Phase 2 meeting with the FDA

•	 Scientific Advice from the European 
Medicines Agency

•	 Fast Track status granted by the FDA

•	 Special Protocol Assessment agreement 
with the FDA

Completing these key milestones outlines 
the requirements for product registra-
tion for PROSTVAC®, for the treatment of 
patients with asymptomatic or minimally 
symptomatic metastatic castration-re-

sistant prostate cancer (mCRPC), which is 
the patient group, initially targeted with 
the vaccine.

Further to the clinical preparations, an 
extensive effort has been dedicated to 
increase the awareness of PROSTVAC® 
amongst investors, analysts, key opinion 
leaders, scientific society etc. In parallel, 
Bavarian Nordic has held partnership dis-
cussions with pharmaceutical companies 
on the continued development and com-
mercialisation of PROSTVAC®.

About PROSTVAC®

PROSTVAC® is an “off-the-shelf” therapeu-
tic vaccine moving into Phase 3 clinical 
development that has the potential to 
extend the lives of people with advanced 
prostate cancer. The vaccine induces a 
specific, targeted immune response that 
attacks prostate cancer cells. 

PROSTVAC® has undergone large-scale 
Phase 2 development in metastatic 
prostate cancer, where results on overall 
survival are very encouraging. The most 
definitive assessment of PROSTVAC® has 
been a randomized, double-blinded, and 
placebo controlled Phase 2 study.

Phase 1	P hase 1/2	P hase 2	N ext milestone

Pipeline

Programme
PROSTVACTM (Prostate cancer)		P  hase 3 (H2, 2011)

MVA-BN® PRO (Prostate cancer)		  Final data (H2, 2011)

MVA-BN® HER2 (Breast cancer)		  Complete enrolment and initial immune data (H2, 2011)

statement of the management   annual report 2010	 21



The results from this study of 125 patients 
with metastatic prostate cancer after four 
years of follow-up showed that patients 
receiving PROSTVAC® had a statisti-
cally significantly longer median overall 
survival by 8.5 months compared to the 
control group (p=0.006). The hazard ratio 
estimate for overall survival from the 
study is 0.56, indicating that the vaccine 
reduced the risk of death by 44%.

The clinical data behind PROSTVAC® are 
extensive. The vaccine has undergone 
clinical testing in multiple prostate cancer 
disease settings and has been tested in 13 
completed and 6 ongoing clinical studies 
in more than 590 patients. Furthermore, 
PROSTVAC® has demonstrated a very good 
safety and tolerability profile, especially 
for an oncology product.

Additional statistical analysis of the 
Phase 2 data indicates that PROSTVAC® 
is universally applicable to a wide range 
of prostate cancer patients. These results 
suggest that PROSTVAC® can be used in 
earlier stages of prostate cancer, thus 
expanding its market potential.

Overall Survival Analysis of a Phase 2 Randomized Controlled Trial of a Poxviral-
Based PSA-Targeted Immunotherapy in Metastatic Castration-Resistant Prostate 
Cancer
J Clin Oncol. 2010 Mar 1;28(7):1099-105.
PMID: 20100959

A randomized phase II study of flutamide with or without PSA-TRICOM in nonmeta-
static castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPC).
2011 Genitourinary Cancers Symposium, Poster

A complete list of PROSTVAC® publications with abstracts are found at  
www.bavarian-nordic.com/prostvac

PROSTVAC® is being developed in collabo-
ration with the National Cancer Institute 
(NCI) under a Cooperative Research and 
Development Agreement (CRADA) with 
Bavarian Nordic’s U.S.-based subsidiary, 
BN ImmunoTherapeutics. This CRADA is 
aimed at developing new and innovative 
prostate cancer treatments.

PROSTVAC® granted Fast Track status 
In May 2010, PROSTVAC® was granted 
Fast Track designation by the FDA for 
its proposed use in the treatment of 
men with asymptomatic or minimally 
symptomatic mCRPC. The FDA determined 
that PROSTVAC® meets the criteria for Fast 
Track designation as it has demonstrated 
a potential survival benefit and an excel-
lent safety profile in the intended patient 
population of men with asymptomatic or 
minimally symptomatic mCRPC. 

The Fast Track programme of the FDA 
is designed to facilitate the develop-
ment and expedite the review of new 
drugs that are intended to treat serious 
or life-threatening conditions and that 
demonstrate the potential to address 

PROSTVAC® – selected publications

unmet medical needs. Under Fast Track, 
Bavarian Nordic would also be eligible 
to submit a Biologics License Applica-
tion (BLA) on a rolling basis. This permits 
the FDA to review sections of the BLA 
in advance of receiving the complete 
submission.

Special Protocol Assessment 
Based on the consolidated feedback 
from the FDA and the European Medi-
cines Agency upon conclusion of Phase 2, 
Bavarian Nordic submitted a clinical trial 
protocol to the Special Protocol Assess-
ment (SPA) process with the FDA in late 
summer 2010.  In December, Bavarian 
Nordic and the FDA agreed on an SPA 
for a Phase 3 study required for prod-
uct registration for PROSTVAC®, for the 
treatment of patients with asymptomatic 
or minimally symptomatic mCRPC. This 
agreement means that the Phase 3 study 
can proceed as designed and, if success-
ful, would form the primary clinical basis 
of product approval under a Biologics 
Licence Application. 
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The SPA process is a procedure by which 
the FDA provides official evaluation and 
written guidance on the design and size 
of proposed protocols that are intended 
to form the basis for a BLA or a New 
Drug Application (NDA). Final marketing 
approval depends on the results of ef-
ficacy, the adverse event profile and an 
evaluation of the benefit/risk of treat-
ment demonstrated in the Phase 3  
trial.

The PROSTVAC® Phase 3 programme
The Phase 3 programme will include one 
global, strongly powered, randomized, 
double-blind, placebo-controlled study that 
is expected to enrol about 1,200 patients 
in three study arms. Patients in the two 
active study arms will receive either 
PROSTVAC® alone or PROSTVAC® with adju-
vant doses of GM-CSF (which was included 
in Phase 2). 

Patients who have metastatic disease and 
have failed hormone therapy, but who 
have not yet received other treatment 
options such as chemotherapy, will be 
eligible to enrol in the study. 

The primary endpoint is Overall Survival 
(OS). For the study outcome to be posi-
tive, either one or both of the treatment 
arms must be superior to placebo. The 
Phase 3 trial is sized so that each compar-
ison requires 534 deaths with sensitivity 
for estimated death hazard ratios of 0.82 
or less, corresponding to a reduced risk 
of death of minimum 18%. This compares 
favourably to the results from the Phase 

2 study, where a 44% reduction was 
demonstrated. 

Bavarian Nordic has signed an agree-
ment with Pharmaceutical Product De-
velopment, Inc. (PPD), a leading global 
contract research organization for the 
management of the PROSTVAC® Phase 3 
trial. The first patients are expected to 
be enrolled during 2011 following final 
regulatory approvals and product avail-
ability. 

Ongoing PROSTVAC® studies
Currently, there are six ongoing clinical 
studies with PROSTVAC®, all of which are 
conducted by NCI: 

•	 A Phase 1 dose-escalation, combination 
study with PROSTVAC® and Ipilimumab 
(CTLA-4 antibody) in 30 patients with 
metastatic prostate cancer. Clinical 
endpoint: Safety, PSA response, CT re-
sponse.  Enrolment has been completed 
with results expected in the second half 
of 2011. 

•	 A Phase 1 study investigating 
PROSTVAC® by intra-prostatic injec-
tion in 20 patients with progressive 
or locally recurrent prostate cancer. 
Clinical endpoint: Safety, PSA response, 
immune response Enrolment has been 
completed with results expected in the 
second half of 2011.

•	 A Phase 2 study investigating 
PROSTVAC® in 50 patients with PSA 
progress after local therapy (surgery 

and/or radiation). Clinical endpoint: PSA 
progression at 6 months / PSA velocity. 
Second stage of trial that combines 
PROSTVAC with androgen ablation ther-
apy is ongoing with results expected in 
the second half of 2011

•	 A Phase 2 study comparing antihor-
mone therapy (flutamide) with or with-
out PROSTVAC® therapy in 65 patients 
with non-metastatic prostate cancer. 
Clinical endpoint: Time to progression. 
Preliminary results from 26 patients 
suggests an improvement in time to 
progression (TTP) for those patients 
receiving PROSTVAC® in combination 
with flutamide (median TTP = 223 days) 
compared to flutamide alone (median 
TTP = 85 days). Enrolment is still ongo-
ing with expected final results in 2012.

•	 A Phase 2 study comparing the radioac-
tive drug samarium with or without 
PROSTVAC® therapy in 68 patients with 
metastatic prostate cancer. Clinical 
endpoint: 4 month progression free 
survival. More than half of the planned 
patients are enrolled with expected 
results in 2012.

•	 A Phase 2 randomized study in 144 
patients with metastatic castration-
resistant prostate cancer (mCRPC), 
comparing PROSTVAC® followed by 
docetaxel (chemotherapy), versus doc-
etaxel alone. Clinical endpoint: Survival. 
Enrolment is ongoing with expected full 
enrolment in 2012.

statement of the management   annual report 2010	 23



MVA-BN® PRO prostate 
cancer vaccine candidate 
Bavarian Nordic’s MVA-BN®-
based vaccine candidate for 
the treatment of prostate 
cancer is designed to express 
sequences that control 
immunity to PSA and PAP. 

These highly prostate-specific antigens 
have shown promise as tumour targets 
when evaluated separately in clinical 
studies. PSA is also the target of the 
PROSTVAC® immunotherapy programme. 
The concomitant targeting of two preva-
lent antigens to treat prostate cancer is a 
distinctive feature of MVA-BN® PRO. The 
Company anticipates that this feature will 
confer superior cancer vaccine efficacy 
and alleviate tumour immune evasion. 

The dual vaccine properties of MVA-BN® 
PRO were verified in preclinical studies 
that showed induction of broad and com-
prehensive immune responses to both 
PSA and PAP following administration of 
MVA-BN® PRO. 

Based on the positive preclinical evalua-
tion of MVA-BN® PRO, a Phase 1/2 safety 
and tolerability study in 18 male patients 
with non-metastatic hormone-insensitive 
prostate cancer has begun in the US. 
Preliminary immune evaluation of T-cell 
responses has showed vaccine-induced 
responses to both PSA and PAP. Most 

importantly, treatment in this patient 
population also resulted in the induction 
of T-cell responses to tumour antigens 
other than PSA and PAP. These preliminary 
data are encouraging as they suggest that 
MVA-BN® PRO-induced anti-PSA and PAP 
responses may have led to tumoricidal 
activity. Final data from the study are 
expected in 2011.

Bavarian Nordic will harmonize develop-
ment of its two prostate cancer thera-
peutics (PROSTVAC® and MVA-BN® PRO). A 
vaccine product incorporating the features 
of PROSTVAC®, plus the safety of MVA 
priming and the dual antigens of the 
MVA-BN® PRO approach may generate an 
improved product. 

The intention is to roll the two projects 
into a unified development plan for a 
next-generation prostate cancer vaccine 
that includes the NCI-CRADA. With this 
approach, Bavarian Nordic will benefit 
from NCI’s expertise and commitment to 
clinical development of drug candidates.
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MVA-BN®-HER2 breast 
cancer vaccine candidate 
Bavarian Nordic’s MVA-BN® 
vaccine candidate for the 
treatment of breast cancer is 
designed to express sequences 
that control immunity to  
HER2-neu antigen (HER2). 

HER2 is a growth factor receptor that is 
over-expressed by 20 – 30% of patients 
with localized breast cancer, and is im-
portant for the growth of the tumour.

HER2 has been validated as a tumour an-
tigen target through numerous preclinical 
and clinical studies. 

This is notably exemplified by the efficacy 
of Herceptin, a humanized anti-HER2 
monoclonal antibody, approved by the US 
and European authorities for treatment in 
both metastatic and adjuvant disease set-
tings. Active immunotherapy against HER2 
is being studied by numerous investiga-
tors at an early stage of development 
using a variety of forms of HER2 including 
wild-type, truncated, peptide fragments, 
and modified forms. Bavarian Nordic’s 
approach is to utilize the MVA-BN® vector, 
engineered to encode a modified form of 
HER2, to generate endogenous immune 
response to the critical tumour antigen.

Previously, Bavarian Nordic reported data 
from a Phase 1/2 study with its breast 
cancer vaccine, MVA-BN®-HER2, in devel-
opment as therapy of metastatic breast 
cancer patients. The study met its primary 

endpoint with regards to safety and by 
showing an immune response.

Additionally, Bavarian Nordic has complet-
ed preclinical studies with an improved 
version of the MVA-BN®-HER2 vaccine. In 
those studies, the new vaccine induced up 
to 20-fold higher T-cell immune response 
as compared to the original version. 
Furthermore, it proved to be efficacious in 
additional tumour immunotherapy models 
in HER2 transgenic mice. The immuno-
logical situation regarding HER2 in those 
mice strongly resembles the situation in 
humans.

Based on those data from both clinical 
and preclinical studies Bavarian Nordic 
decided to advance the clinical develop-
ment of MVA-BN®-HER2 in further clinical 
studies with the new and improved 
vaccine. A new Phase 1/2 study in the 
US was initiated in 2010 to evaluate the 
safety and immunological efficacy of the 
improved version of the vaccine in an 
adjuvant therapy setting in 20 patients 
with HER2 positive breast cancer. Initial 
immune data from the study will be avail-
able during 2011. 
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In May 2010, Bavarian Nordic 
initiated the delivery of 
IMVAMUNE® smallpox vaccine 
to the U.S. Strategic National 
Stockpile under the contract 
with BARDA to deliver 20 million 
doses
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IMVAMUNE® – smallpox 
vaccine candidate

IMVAMUNE® is positioned 
as a new and superior third-
generation smallpox vaccine 
for protection of the general 
population (18-55 years old). 

The likely use of IMVAMUNE® by govern-
ments would be for:

•	 First-line responders (military, police, 
health care workers, etc.) 

•	 Individuals contraindicated for conven-
tional smallpox vaccines: e.g. individuals 
with HIV, people with atopic dermatitis 
(AD) and members of their households. 
This typically represents approximately 
25 % of the general population 

•	 The general population

IMVAMUNE® is currently an unlicensed 
vaccine and has gained fast track status 
at the US authorities. Because of the 
high need for a safer smallpox vaccine, 
IMVAMUNE® is already in production and 
available for governments globally under 
their national emergency rules.

Infectious Disease Division
Biodefence

In clinical trials to-date, more than 3,400 
individuals have been vaccinated with 
IMVAMUNE®, demonstrating a favourable 
safety profile including almost 1,000 
individuals with compromised immune 
systems who are currently not eligible 
for conventional smallpox vaccines.

The development of IMVAMUNE® is 
funded by the U.S. Government through 
contracts with BARDA (Biomedical 
Advanced Research and Development 
Authority and NIH (National Institutes 
of Health). Initial contracts, awarded in 
2003 and 2004 were aimed at the early 
preclinical and clinical development, 
as well as demonstrating the ability to 
deliver commercial-scale quantities of 
IMVAMUNE®. In 2007, Bavarian Nordic 
was awarded a contract for finalising the 
development up to registration as well 
as for the delivery of 20 million doses of 
the vaccine, intended for emergency use. 
The contract includes an option for the 
U.S. Government to order an additional 
60 million doses. Under this contract, 
Bavarian Nordic has received an advance 
payment of USD 50 million and four 
milestone payments of USD 25 million 
each for the successful completion of 
pre-determined milestones. The advance 
payment and one milestone payment are 

subject to repayment if Bavarian Nordic 
does not fulfil the contractual obliga-
tions.

In 2009, Bavarian Nordic was awarded yet 
another contract from the U.S. Govern-
ment, funding the development of a 
freeze-dried version of IMVAMUNE®, which 
would offer various new advantages in 
terms of a potential increased shelf-life 
compared to the current liquid-frozen for-
mulation. The contract is milestone-based 
with a total prospective value of USD 40 
million.

Through the longstanding partnership 
with Bavarian Nordic on the IMVAMUNE® 
programme, the U.S. Government has 
demonstrated its dedication to developing 
a new smallpox vaccine that can be safely 
administered to the population, includ-
ing the immunocompromised. This effort 
was underpinned in 2010, when BARDA 
in a Broad Agency Announcement noted 
the requirement for sufficient quantity 
of attenuated smallpox vaccine (e.g. 
IMVAMUNE®) to protect 66 million people 
comprising those for whom smallpox vac-
cine is contraindicated and their house-
hold contacts.

Phase I	P hase I/II	P hase II	N ext milestone

Pipeline

Programme
IMVAMUNE® (Smallpox) *		  Initiate Phase 3 (H2, 2011)

MVA-BN® Anthrax (Anthrax)		P  hase 1 (H1, 2012)

MVA-BN® RSV		P  hase 1 (H1, 2012)

MVA-BN® HIV multiantigen (Hiv)		  Identify partner for full Phase 2

 

*) Sold to governments as a vaccine in development
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During the last years, Bavarian Nordic has 
entered several minor contracts for deliv-
ery of IMVAMUNE® with other countries. 
Besides Canada, with whom Bavarian 
Nordic entered a contract in 2008 follow-
ing a public tender, contracts with other 
countries remain undisclosed in terms of 
size and country.  

Deliveries to the U.S. Strategic National 
Stockpile initiated
In May 2010, Bavarian Nordic initiated the 
delivery of IMVAMUNE® smallpox vaccine 
to the U.S. Strategic National Stockpile un-
der the contract with BARDA to deliver 20 
million doses of IMVAMUNE®. Deliveries 
were initiated upon notification from the 
FDA that Bavarian Nordic had fulfilled all 
preclinical, clinical and manufacturing re-
quirements to potentially support the use 
of IMVAMUNE® in HIV infected subjects 
following a declared emergency.

During 2010, more than 2 million doses 
of IMVAMUNE® were delivered. 

Bavarian Nordic had originally scheduled 
for delivering 4-5 million doses in 2010, 
which depended on the successful scale 
up of the production from 1 to eventually 
4 batches per week. However, techni-
cal issues were encountered during 
the initial scale up from 1 to 2 batches 
per week, causing a temporary halt 
in production. Following a successful 
implementation of corrective actions, the 
production was resumed with 2 batches 
per week, and early in 2011, it was 
further increased to 3 batches per week. 
The plans to further increase the output 
to 4 batches per week remain on track. 
The production halt caused a delay in the 
overall delivery schedule, which will now 
stretch into 2013. 

Performance-based milestone payment 
of USD 25 million received in 2010 
The last milestone payment under the 
RFP-3 contract was received earlier than 
previously expected after completion 
of certain important milestones related 
to the development and deliveries of 
IMVAMUNE®.

Phase 3 protocols submitted to the FDA 
awaiting review
Based on the successful end of Phase 2 
meeting for IMVAMUNE®, Bavarian Nordic 
submitted the final clinical and preclini-
cal protocols for Phase 3 to the FDA in 
2010. The FDA have indicated a need for 
further dialogue on the licensing approach 
agreed upon at the End of Phase 2 meet-
ing and are in the process of scheduling a 
scientific workshop comprised of leading 
international experts. The Phase 3 studies 

Contract	A warded	C ontents	V alue
 
RFP-1	 2003	E arly clinical and technical development of IMVAMUNE®	U SD 29 m
RFP-2	 2004	� Industrialisation of production process  

– production and delivery of 500,000 doses. 
Clinical studies to support emergency use of the vaccine  
in healthy persons.	 > USD 115 m

RFP-3 base	 2007	� 20 million doses of vaccine. Clinical studies designed 
to support registration of the vaccine for use in healthy  
persons and for emergency for use of the vaccine in  
persons infected by HIV.	U SD 505 m

RFP 	 2009	 Validation of production process 
Freeze-dried		�P  reclinical and clinical development to support  

emergency use	U SD 40 m
RFP-3 option	N ot yet awarded	�P rocurement of an additional 60 million doses. 

Clinical studies designed to support registration 
of the vaccine for use in persons infected by HIV,  
children and elderly people.	 Minimum USD 1,100 m

Overview of contracts with the U.S. Government
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IMVAMUNE® will be licensed under the animal rule (i.e. animal data to support the 
efficacy in humans), which requires investigations into the mechanism of action of the 
product. To this end, two papers were published in 2010 that provide further data sup-
porting the mechanisms of how IMVAMUNE® induces a post-exposure protection from a 
lethal infection with mouse pox and the underlying genetics of the attenuation proper-
ties of MVA-BN®. A third manuscript that was published in the Journal of Virology has 
demonstrated that by using a new promoter to drive the expression of a gene inserted 
into MVA-BN®, this recombinant MVA-BN®-based vaccine could induce stronger immune 
responses to the encoded antigen than to MVA itself, following repeated vaccinations 
with the vaccine. This has clearly demonstrated that even in the presence of strong im-
mune responses to MVA a recombinant MVA-BN®-based vaccine can stimulate stronger 
immune responses to a encoded gene, which obviously demonstrates the many advan-
tages and future utility of MVA-BN® based vaccines for infectious diseases and cancer.

Immediate-Early Expression of a Recombinant Antigen by Modified Vaccinia Virus 
Ankara Breaks the Immunodominance of Strong Vector-Specific B8R Antigen in 
Acute and Memory CD8 T-Cell Responses. J Virol. 2010 84(17):8743-52. 

Immune requirements of post-exposure immunization with modified vaccinia 
Ankara of lethally infected mice. PLoS One. 2010. 11;5(3):e9659.

Introduction of the six major genomic deletions of modified vaccinia virus Ankara 
(MVA) into the parental vaccinia virus is not sufficient to reproduce an MVA-like 
phenotype in cell culture and in mice. J Virol. 2010 Jul 28.

A complete list of IMVAMUNE® publications with abstracts are found at  
www.bavarian-nordic.com/imvamune

supporting the licensure under the Animal 
Rule are still planned for 2011.

Phase 2 data in patients diagnosed 
with atopic dermatitis submitted to 
the FDA
In 2010, Bavarian Nordic submitted the 
final study report for a large Phase 2 
study investigating the safety and im-
munogenicity of IMVAMUNE® in patients 
diagnosed with atopic dermatitis (AD), a 
population that is currently contraindicat-
ed to the current licensed smallpox vac-
cine. The study was designed to fulfil the 
FDA requirements to potentially support 
the use of IMVAMUNE® in people with 
AD following a declared emergency. As 
such the data could potentially expand 
the current planned use of IMVAMUNE® 
in the US. Indeed, the U.S. Govern-
ment have indicated a need for a safer 
smallpox vaccine for up to 66 million 
people, which includes 28 million people 
diagnosed with AD. 

A two dose vaccination schedule with 
IMVAMUNE® was shown to be well toler-
ated in all 632 subjects enrolled into the 
study, including the 350 people diag-
nosed with AD. As with earlier studies 
there was no difference in the safety 
profile of IMVAMUNE® in healthy people 
or people diagnosed with AD. Moreo-
ver, the immune responses induced by 
IMVAMUNE® in healthy subjects and peo-
ple diagnosed with AD was shown to be 
non-inferior, indicating that IMVAMUNE® 
was safe and immunogenic in this im-
portant population.

Phase 2 data in subjects between 
56 and 80 years to generate data 
on safety and immunogenicity of 
IMVAMUNE® in an elderly population

Bavarian Nordic has completed a rand-
omized, double-blind, placebo-controlled 
Phase 2 study to evaluate the safety and 
immunogenicity of IMVAMUNE® in an el-
derly population. The study was designed 
to expand the safety data and to compare 

the immunogenicity of IMVAMUNE® after 
administration of either one or two doses 
of IMVAMUNE® in 120 subjects aged 
between 56-80 years old, all of which 
had been previously vaccinated against 
smallpox. 

IMVAMUNE® was shown to be safe and 
well tolerated, and no vaccine related se-
rious or cardiac adverse events were ob-
served. The results clearly indicated that a 

Supportive data published in scientific journals
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single dose of IMVAMUNE® was sufficient 
to activate the immunologic memory 
stimulated by a previous smallpox vaccine 
vaccination in an elderly population up to 
80 years of age. This study completes the 
Phase 2 development of IMVAMUNE® in 
this population and further development 
will await the exercise of the RFP-3 option 
to extend the license for IMVAMUNE® for 
an elderly population.

Filing for approval in Canada 
In 2008, Bavarian Nordic was awarded 
a contract by the Canadian Government 
for the acquisition of 20,000 doses of 
IMVAMUNE® which were delivered in 
2009 and accepted under a Canadian 
Special Access Programme. Under the 
contract, the Canadian Authorities 
has provided Bavarian Nordic with 
milestone-based funding for the filing 
of a New Drug Submission (NDS) for 
IMVAMUNE® in Canada.

Following the completion of the Phase 2 
development for IMVAMUNE®, Bavarian 
Nordic held a meeting with Health 
Canada in October, 2009. Upon review of 
the current data package, which included 
the manufacturing, clinical and animal 
data, Health Canada recommended 
that Bavarian Nordic submit an NDS 
application for consideration to license 
IMVAMUNE® as a smallpox vaccine for 
the general population.  

The NDS is expected to be filed in the first 
half of 2011, possibly leading to the first 
license of IMVAMUNE® during 2012.

Anthrax
Bavarian Nordic is developing an anthrax 
vaccine based on MVA-BN®. This would be 
a combined anthrax and smallpox prophy-
lactic vaccine and would build upon the 
Company’s existing ability to manufacture 
MVA-BN® at an industrial GMP (Good 
Manufacturing practice) scale.

An MVA-BN® anthrax vaccine could poten-
tially have the following advantages:

•	 Combined smallpox and anthrax vaccine 
– one vaccine to offer protection against 
two of the largest biological threats

•	 Improved safety suitable for high risk 
groups

•	 Reduced number of vaccinations com-
pared to the current licensed anthrax 
vaccine

•	 Validated manufacturing process for 
MVA-BN® based vaccine 

•	 Improved storage and transport logistics 
of a freeze-dried formulation

Bavarian Nordic has generated several an-
thrax vaccine candidates based on MVA-

BN® encoding components of the anthrax 
toxin. The leading construct has shown 
complete protection in an acceptable 
animal model and as such fulfils the cur-
rent U.S. Government requirements for a 
new generation anthrax vaccine. Screen-
ing of the vaccine candidates will be 
completed in the first half of 2011, which 
will then lead to clinical batch production 
and filing of an Investigational New Drug 
application (IND) to the FDA with a view 
of initiating Phase 1 clinical study in the 
first half of 2012. Funding from the U.S. 
Government to further support the clinical 
development of MVA-BN® Anthrax will 
also be sought during 2011.

Filoviruses
In 2010, Bavarian Nordic received funding 
from the U.S. National Institutes of Health 
(NIH) to advance its early research in 
the prevention of filoviruses (Ebola and 
Marburg virus).

The Company is investigating the po-
tential use of MVA BN® as a combined 
vaccine encoding genes for both the Ebola 
and Marburg strains. The funding from 
NIH will support an animal efficacy study 
performed in primates. 

Upon evaluation of the initial data from 
this study, which are expected in 2011, 
Bavarian Nordic will determine the future 
of this project.
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Other programmes

Childhood vaccines
The ability of recombinant MVA-BN® to 
stimulate durable antibody production in 
newborns has not been seen with other 
highly attenuated vaccine vectors or licensed 
vaccines and is considered novel and an 
exciting opportunity to improve existing 
childhood vaccines and to develop vaccines 
for diseases such as RSV, for which there is 
a high unmet clinical need, as no licensed 
vaccine currently exists.

Measles
The attractive properties of MVA-BN® that 
allow the vaccination of newborn animals 
led Bavarian Nordic to develop a measles 
vaccine candidate as a proof-of-concept vac-
cine i.e. demonstrate that an MVA BN®-based 
vaccine could induce protective immune 
responses in infants. The measles vaccine 
candidate was chosen as the lead product, 
because there is a clear unmet medical need 
for a more effective measles vaccines for use 
in children below one year of age, particular-
ly in sub-Saharan Africa and South east Asia, 
where the measles virus is still endemic and 
significant measles related morbidity and 
mortality exists.

Following a successful Phase I study in 
healthy adults, Bavarian Nordic performed 
its first study in a paediatric population to 
examine the safety and immunogenicity 
of MVA-BN® Measles vaccine. The study 
enrolled 90 children aged between 6 months 
to 6 years of age, which were randomized 
into equal groups receiving either two 
vaccinations with MVA-BN® Measles or a 
commercial measles vaccine. The MVA-
BN®-based vaccine was well tolerated with 
no vaccine-related serious adverse events 
being reported for any of the age groups 
investigated. When examining the immune 
responses against measles, MVA-BN® 
Measles resulted in a significantly higher 
neutralizing responses compared to the 
commercial vaccine, demonstrating a proof 

of concept that a MVA-BN®-based vaccine 
is highly immunogenic in a paediatric 
population. The immune responses against 
the vector were at least as high or even 
higher than the responses observed in adults 
following vaccination with IMVAMUNE®, 
with highest titers achieved in the youngest 
age group i.e. children under two years old. 
These results add further support for the use 
of MVA-BN® in a paediatric population, which 
is part of the RFP-3 option (i.e. extension of 
the adult license for IMVAMUNE® to include a 
paediatric indication).

This proof-of-concept study will be used to 
support the development of other childhood 
vaccines with a high unmet medical need 
(e.g. RSV). As such no further studies will be 
performed using MVA-BN® Measles.

MVA-BN® RSV
RSV results in flu-like symptoms, although 
RSV can lead to lower respiratory infections, 
pneumonia, respiratory failure and death. 
Indeed, RSV is leading cause of death (from 
an infection) in infants and is also associated 
with comparable deaths in adults, particu-
larly risk populations (elderly, immunocom-
promised, underlining respiratory conditions) 
than influenza. Currently, there is no vaccine 
against RSV to protect the estimated 200 
million people at risk from annual RSV infec-
tions.

Bavarian Nordic has been evaluating several 
vaccine candidates based on MVA-BN® 
encoding several RSV proteins, which have 
shown to be highly immunogenic and 
protective in suitable animal models. As 
the body’s natural defence against RSV 
is only transient leading to frequent or 
annual re-infections, Bavarian Nordic is 
currently identifying a suitable adult RSV 
vaccine that would also be suitable for 
the high number of high risk groups (e.g. 
immunocompromised, people diagnosed 
with cardiovascular disorders, asthma suffers 

etc). A clinical batch of the lead MVA-BN® 
RSV candidate will be manufactured during 
2011, leading to the submission of an IND 
and initiation of a Phase 1 trial in the first 
half of 2012.

In parallel the preclinical development 
of a MVA-BN® RSV vaccine suitable for a 
paediatric indication will continue and 
clinical development of this candidate will 
commence after Phase 2 proof-of-concept 
studies in adults.

MVA-BN® HIV multiantigen
MVA-BN® HIV multiantigen is both a prophy-
lactic and a therapeutic vaccine candidate 
expressing eight whole or truncated antigens 
from HIV with the aim of eliciting a very 
broad immune response against HIV. 

The vaccine encodes eight genes from HIV, 
including nef, and thus represents a more 
advanced vaccine candidate compared to 
Bavarian Nordic’s previous MVA-based HIV 
vaccine candidates, MVA HIV nef and MVA-
BN® HIV polytope. In previous clinical studies 
with MVA HIV nef, Bavarian Nordic has 
demonstrated proof of concept for the MVA 
technology’s ability to control HIV replication. 
Furthermore, the vaccine was shown to be 
immunogenic and to induce a broad T-cell 
response to nef. 

The improved technology using the MVA-BN® 
HIV multiantigen advances the technology 
further and thus represents an excellent 
opportunity to stimulate a broad immune 
response to the majority of the HIV proteins 
that will likely have important implications in 
a prophylactic and therapeutic setting for HIV. 

The programme has completed Phase 1 
trials. Bavarian Nordic will not initiate any 
cost-intensive Phase 2 studies and thus the 
continued development will depend on 
external funding opportunities.
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Our CSR report can be downloaded from 
the company’s website.

Download the CSR report:

www.bavarian-nordic.com/csr

Just like last year’s document, the CSR 
report was inspired by elements from 
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), a 
recognised framework for reports on 
sustainability. The GRI structure includes 
principles and indicators used to measure 
and explain financial, environmental and 
social performance. We have added more 
GRI indicators to this 2010 CSR report and 
will also in future strive to expand our re-
porting, but only in those fields which are 
directly or indirectly related to the future 
development of the Company’s business 
and activities.

Corporate Social Responsibility

This is the second CSR report to be issued 
by the Company, so it includes a follow-up 
on the goals we set for ourselves in 2009.

As a result of a targeted effort, initiated 
in 2010, to systematise our work with 
corporate social responsibility (CSR), we 
now have an actual general CSR policy 
which includes policies in the areas we 
have deemed vital to our work.

General CSR policy
Bavarian Nordic develops and manufac-
tures vaccines for the prevention and 
treatment of life-threatening diseases 
where there are as yet unmet needs. In 
doing so, we seek to create a continuing 
business that will ensure the Company’s 
growth and investment in research 
and development and thus continue to 
contribute to a healthier and safer society. 
At the same time, we focus on working 
and acting responsibly with respect to the 
world we live in. We aim to do this by: 

•	 �manufacturing high-quality vaccines

•	 �working actively to minimise our impact 
on the environment and climate 

•	 �maintaining an active dialogue with our 
stakeholders – on a local, national and 
global level 

•	 �providing a safe and healthy working 
environment for our staff that includes 
opportunities for professional and per-
sonal development

•	 �communicating our CSR policy to exter-
nal collaboration partners, including our 
suppliers

Our goals in the environment, health and 
safety field are specified in greater detail 
in our environmental and occupational 
health and safety policies.
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Corporate Governance

of which is set out in the Company’s 
guidelines for incentive pay. The fees to 
the Board of Directors are fixed accord-
ing to the standards in the market and 
reflect demands to their competencies 
and efforts in light of the scope of their 
work and the number of Board meet-
ings. The Chairman receives twice the 
fee of an ordinary Board member. The 
Chairman’s fee in 2010 was DKK 400 
thousand, and fees paid to each of the 
ordinary members amounted to DKK 200 
thousand, equivalent to a total of DKK 
1.4 million. The members of the Board 
of Directors participate in the warrant 
programme as explained in note 25. The 
members of the Board of Directors did 
not receive any other remuneration from 
Bavarian Nordic in 2010.

Practices of the Corporate Management
Corporate Management is Anders Hede-
gaard, the Company’s President and CEO. 
Members of the Corporate Management 
are appointed by the Board of Directors 
which lays down their terms and condi-
tions of employment and the framework 
for their duties. The Corporate Manage-
ment is responsible for the day-to-day 
management of Bavarian Nordic A/S 
in compliance with the guidelines and 
directions issued by the Board of Direc-
tors. The day-to-day operations do not 
include transactions of an unusual nature 
or of material importance to the affairs of 
Bavarian Nordic A/S.

Moreover, there are three Executive Vice 
Presidents who assist Corporate Manage-
ment in the day-to-day operations of the 
Company. Corporate Management holds 
fortnightly meetings with the Executive 
Vice Presidents to coordinate the day-to-
day management activities. 

Bavarian Nordic remains focused on 
good corporate governance and have 
implemented the recommendations from 
the Committee of Corporate Governance 
(Komitéen for god selskabsledelse) as the 
code to follow for listed companies on the 
NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen exchange. 

The Management believes that the 
Company is operated in compliance 
with guidelines and recommendations 
that support the Company’s business 
model and can create value for Bavarian 
Nordic’s stakeholders. Management 
monitors regularly and at least once a 
year adherence to the recommendations 
on corporate governance in order to en-
sure the best possible utilisation of and 
compliance with the recommendations 
and legislation. 

The Company overall complies with 
the ”Recommendations on Corporate 
Governance”. However, the Company has 
decided to embark on certain deviations 
as explained in detail on the Company’s 
website: 

www.bavarian-nordic.com/corporate
governance

Board and Management 
practices

Bavarian Nordic is managed under a 
two-tier structure composed of the Board 
of Directors and the Corporate Manage-
ment.  The Board of Directors is responsi-
ble for the overall strategic management 
and the financial and managerial super-
vision of Bavarian Nordic A/S as well as 
for regular evaluation of the work of the 
Corporate Management. In addition, the 
Board of Directors supervises the Compa-

ny in a general sense and ensures that it 
is managed in an adequate manner and 
in accordance with applicable law and 
the Company’s articles of association. 

Practices of the Board
The Board of Directors discharges its 
duties in accordance with the rules of 
procedure of Bavarian Nordic A/S set out 
for the Board of Directors. The rules of 
procedure are reviewed and updated by 
all members of the Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors consists of six 
external members elected by the share-
holders at the Annual General Meeting for 
terms of one year. Retiring members are 
eligible for re-election. In addition, such 
members that are to be elected pursuant 
to the statutory rules regarding repre-
sentation of the employees on the Board 
of Directors shall be elected as well. 
Currently, the Board has no employee rep-
resentation. The Board elects a chairman 
from among its members. 

The Board plans to hold five or six meet-
ings each year. In 2010, the Board held 
six meetings. Corporate Management 
and certain senior employees of Bavarian 
Nordic usually attend the Board meet-
ings. The Board regularly receives reports 
from Corporate Management on the 
status of the Company’s operations and 
business. The Chairman of the Board and 
the Company’s legal advisor evaluate the 
performance of the Board and Corporate 
Management on an annual basis. The 
result is presented to and discussed by 
the Board.

Remuneration of the Board
Members of the Board of Directors 
receive a fixed fee, and warrants may be 
granted to them, the aggregate number 
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Risk Management

It is Company strategy with respect to risk 
management to work continually to iden-
tify material risks that could affect the 
Company’s work, future performance or 
goals or the interests of the shareholders, 
so that the Company is run in accordance 
with best practice in the Company’s area 
of business.

The Company has set up internal systems 
for this purpose and also uses external 
advisers to assist in the constant assess-
ment and updating work. The Board of 
Directors regularly monitors reporting 
on these initiatives, and its work is then 
included in the Board’s assessments and 
decisions about the Company’s activities 
and future.

In 2010, the Company has focused on 
risks regarding the Company’s production. 
Technical problems during the scale-up 
caused a delay in the planned deliveries 
to the US. All processes were reviewed 
and action plans were developed and 
implemented in order to resume routine 
production and restart the scale up. 

Furthermore, the Company has focused 
on financing the working capital, required 
for the production of IMVAMUNE®, which 
is supplied for the US government. In this 
regard, a credit facility of DKK 100 million 
was established.

Risk factors
Expectations and assumptions in the an-
nual report concerning Bavarian Nordic’s 
business, the market for vaccines against 
smallpox, cancer and infectious diseases, 
and Bavarian Nordic’s revenue, accounting 
results and expected market share are 
subject to substantial uncertainty. There 
is no guarantee that Bavarian Nordic will 

wholly or partly achieve its expectations 
for revenue or the profit/loss for the year. 
The major uncertainties include, but are 
not limited to:

•	 Fulfilment of the RFP-3 contract for  
IMVAMUNE®

•	 Funding of Phase 3 trial with PROSTVAC®

•	 Collaborative agreements
•	 Developments in the USD exchange rate 

and how it affects the free liquidity and 
futures revenue

•	 Bavarian Nordic’s production capacity 
and subcontractors

•	 Duration of review processes by various 
authorities

•	 Protection of patents and other intel-
lectual property rights

•	 Clinical development
•	 Risks relating to Bavarian Nordic’s tech-

nologies, projects and products
•	 The Company’s cash preparedness
•	 Establishment of a credit facility for 

working capital
•	 Foreign currency risks
•	 Tax risks
•	 Interest rate risks

The primary risks in 2011 relate to the 
deliveries of IMVAMUNE® under the  
RFP-3 contract, scale up of the production 
of smallpox vaccines at the Company’s 
manufacturing facility in Kvistgård,  
and the ability to secure funding for the 
further development of PROSTVAC®.

Bavarian Nordic’s operational risks further 
include the ability to enter into collabo-
rations with partners for development, 
manufacturing, marketing and financial 
resources.

There are additional risks related to sales 
contracts and the related production.

Currency risk includes the risk arising 
because sales and production contracts 
are denominated in currencies other than 
Danish kroner, and the cost base is primar-
ily in Danish kroner. Contracts are primarily 
in US dollars and thus other currencies do 
not represent significant currency risks. 
The Company assesses that exposure 
from fluctuations in the USD is reduced in 
the income statement and on the equity, 
because a significant part of the exposure 
is hedged either by loans in USD or by 
forward exchange instruments. The liquid-
ity can be influenced by changes in the 
USD/DKK exchange rate in that profit or 
loss from the forward exchange contracts 
can be settled when the contracts are 
due for extension. Changes in the USD/
DKK exchange rate can affect the liquidity 
by approximately DKK 5 million per 0.10 
change in the USD/DKK exchange rate. 

Bavarian Nordic is primarily exposed to 
interest rate risk through interest-bearing 
assets and obligations. The liquidity 
surplus is primarily invested in short-term 
solid credit-rated bonds in Danish kroner 
or US dollars and also in fixed deposits in 
Danish kroner or Euros.

The intellectual property position on mat-
ters relating to biopharmaceuticals and 
bio-technological innovation is uncertain 
and involves complex legal and factual 
issues. There can be no assurance that 
Bavarian Nordic can successfully defend 
the validity of its patents or oppose 
infringement claims.

Delays or intervention by the authorities 
in future or current clinical trials could also 
have a substantial impact on Bavarian 
Nordic’s operations and financial position.
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Financial Reporting Process
The Board of Directors and the Manage-
ment of Bavarian Nordic are overall 
responsible for the Group’s control and risk 
management in connection with the finan-
cial reporting process, including compliance 
with rules and regulations that are relevant 
for the reporting.

Bavarian Nordic has an audit committee 
consisting of the Company’s board mem-
bers and chaired by Erik G. Hansen. The 
audit committee reviews and discusses 
the accounting and audit practices with 
the Company’s auditors elected at the 
general meeting and the Corporate Man-
agement in accordance with the working 
framework of the audit committee.

Bavarian Nordic’s main focus is to ensure 
that its financial statements are in compli-
ance and give a correct and reliable view 
of the Company’s operations and financial 
position.

Financial planning, follow up and report-
ing for the individual business divisions 
are standardised and followed by inte-
grated systems for the Group.

Relevant segregation of duties has been 
implemented. Further, the controller team 
in the corporate finance department 
maintains collaboration between the 
business divisions in the subsidiaries and 
the parent company and performs qualita-
tive business support as link to ensure 
efficiency and effectiveness in knowledge 
sharing between the business and the 
corporate finance department.

Monthly closing procedures in both the 
accounting and controlling team ensure 
in-depth analysis of deviations between 
actual performance, business plans and 

Internal Control

budgets and updated estimates for the 
financial year. Monthly management re-
ports are compiled based upon top-down 
approach, including deviation explanation 
for key business area and are reviewed by 
Executive Management, before distribu-
tion to the Board of Directors.

The quarterly financial reporting is pre-
pared by the corporate finance depart-
ment. Upon assessment, key risk focus 
areas are reviewed by the auditors if 
relevant. 

The annual audit and reporting process 
includes detailed planning of individual 
tasks, planning meeting between IR, 
Finance and the auditors, based on an 
audit strategy, approved by the audit 
committee.

The annual report is completed in close 
collaboration with key personnel of the 
Management and the business units. 

Further, the auditors ensure that the 
financial statements give a reliable and 
true view of the Group’s assets, liabilities, 
financial position and ensure that the 
annual report is prepared in accordance 
and compliance with accounting policies 
and practice.

Control environment
Once a year as a minimum, the Board 
of Directors assesses the organizational 
structure, the risk of fraud and the pres-
ence of internal rules and guidelines.

The Group’s control and risk management 
systems give a reasonable, but not abso-
lute certainty that unlawful use of assets, 
loss and/or significant errors or deficien-
cies in relation to the financial reporting 
process can be avoided.

The Board of Directors determines and 
approves the overall policies, procedures 
and controls in significant areas in relation 
to the financial reporting process. The 
Board of Directors approves the overall 
policies, procedure and controls, which 
are maintained and monitored by the ex-
ecutive Management and key personnel 
representing each business area.

Bavarian Nordic has policies, procedures 
and manuals in the key areas related to 
the financial reporting process, includ-
ing business procedures for investments, 
financial reporting and planning, as well 
as procedures for IT security.

Risk assessment
Once a year as a minimum, the Board of 
Directors assesses the risks connected 
with the financial reporting process. 

The goal of Bavarian Nordic’s internal 
control system is to maintain effective pro-
cedures for identification, monitoring and 
reporting of risks and maintain safety and 
security measures in the IT area. Informa-
tion technology and computerised systems 
are widely used in almost any area in 
Bavarian Nordic. Several processes are au-
tomated and key decisions and actions are 
being taken through electronic interfaces. 

As part of the risk assessment, the Board 
of Directors assesses the risk of fraud and 
the measures that should be taken in or-
der to reduce and/or eliminate such risks. 
In that regard any incentive or motive 
from the Management to perform earn-
ings manipulation or any other fraudulent 
action is being discussed.

The Board has decided not to establish an 
internal audir in Bavarian Nordic, based on the 
assessment that the Company’s size and com-
plexity does not necessitate such a function. 
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The Bavarian Nordic Share

Share price development and trading 
volume in 2010
Bavarian Nordic’s share price rose more 
than 100 % in 2010. The share price at 
year-end was DKK 245 compared to an 
adjusted share price of DKK 121 at year-end 
2009. The significant increase in the share 
price was driven by an important news 
flow in the Company throughout the year. 
Thus the Company outperformed the Dan-
ish stock market. The Danish Midcap index 
which includes Bavarian Nordic rose only 
12 % and the OMXC20 index, comprising 
the 20 leading stocks in Denmark rose 
36 %. Share price volatility has in general 
been high with fluctuations between a low 
of DKK 122 and a high of DKK 285. 

Bavarian Nordic’s core data as of  
31 December 2010
Stock exchange	NA SDAQ OMX  
		  Copenhagen
Ticker symbol	 BAVA.CO
ID code	 DK0015998017
Share capital	 DKK 129,620,520
Number of shares	 12,962,052
Free-float	 89%
Class of shares	O ne class
Nominal value	 DKK 10
Bearer security	 Yes
Ownership and voting  
right restrictions	N o

The trading volume in 2010 increased 
heavily compared to 2009. This was 
partly driven by a larger foreign interest. 
Although the trading volume is adjusted 
for the increase in shares in the Company 
during the year, it grew by approximately 
50 % compared to 2009.

Share capital
In February 2010, Bavarian Nordic success-
fully completed a rights issue with pre-
emptive rights to existing shareholders, 

Share price development compared to indices:

providing the Company with net proceeds 
of DKK 297 million. In the offering, 
3,960,307 new shares were subscribed 
at DKK 80 per share, corresponding to a 
subscription rate of 99.6%. 

In December 2010, the Company complet-
ed a private placement of 1,050,000 new 
shares that were subscribed at DKK 195 
per share through an accelerated book 
building process amongst strategic Danish 
and international investors, thus raising 
net proceeds of DKK 197 million. 

Due to the rights issue and private place-
ment, Bavarian Nordic’s share capital was 
increased with 5,010,307 shares with a 
nominal value of DKK 10 each, totalling the 
outstanding number of shares to 12,962,052 
with a nominal value of DKK 10 each.

Ownership
As of 31 December 2010, Bavarian Nordic 
had 17,203 registered shareholders own-
ing 11,232,826 shares, which corresponds 
to 86.7 percent of the share capital. In 
2010 the number of registered sharehold-
ers increased by 2.250. Bavarian Nordic 
continuously invites its shareholders to 
have their shares registered with the 
Company. Bavarian Nordic does not hold 
any of its own shares. 

The Company regularly updates its web-
site with information about the number of 
registered shareholders and their holding 
of shares. 

Through a focused effort, the Company 
has succeeded in obtaining a more bal-
anced ownership structure by increasing 
the institutional share holdings and thus 
reducing the private share holdings. 
Likewise, the Company has succeeded 
in increasing the foreign ownership rate, 
which was doubled in 2010 compared to 
the previous year.

Major shareholders 
By 10 March 2011, the following share-
holders had publicly informed Bavarian 
Nordic that they owned five percent or 
more of the Company’s shares:

A. J. Aamund A/S,  
Copenhagen (Denmark) 	 11.23%
Arbejdsmarkedets Tillægspension  
(ATP), Hillerød (Denmark) 	 12.37%

Dividend policy
Bavarian Nordic does not expect to declare 
dividends until the Company has achieved 
an adequate capital base. However, the 
Company continues to strive towards se-
curing an adequate capital base for future 
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dividend payments. The Board of Directors 
will propose at the Annual General Meeting 
on 26 April 2011 that no dividends be paid.

Annual General Meeting
The 2011 Annual General Meeting will be 
held at 4 pm on Tuesday, 26 April 2011,  
at Comwell Borupgaard, Nørrevej 80,  
DK-3070 Snekkersten, Denmark. 

Investor Relations
Through its investor relations policy, the 
Company wishes to comply with the 
general requirements and recommenda-
tions of the NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen. 
The Company seeks to do so by, among 
other things, ensuring timely and correct 
communication about relevant strategic, 
economic, financial, operational and 
scientific affairs of the Company. 

On its corporate website, Bavarian  
Nordic informs about its latest develop-
ment, activities and plans. The direct 
investor contact is important in the 
communication of company progress, 
and the Company has added additional 

management resources to the Investor 
Relations Department in recent years. 
The Company wishes to continue to de-
velop its dialogue with its shareholders, 
analysts, prospective investors and other 
stakeholders by providing open, honest 
and accessible information. 

www.bavarian-nordic.com
On the website all registered shareholders 
can access the shareholder portal, which 
allows for signing up for the general 
meetings electronically as well as offers 
the ability to vote by proxy. Furthermore 
it is possible to sign up for electronic 
information services. 

Analysts
A number of analysts from different 
investment banks in Denmark and abroad 
follow the Bavarian Nordic share and 
regularly issue recommendations based 
on the Company’s performance and fac-
tors that may influence on its business 
and future development in the share 
price. A list of all analysts is found on the 
Company’s website. 

Road shows and investor meetings abroad
The management and the investor rela-
tions team work extensively to present 
Bavarian Nordic to international institu-
tional investors, analysts and the media. 
Over the past year, Bavarian Nordic’s road 
shows travelled to venues such as Scan-
dinavia, Paris, Frankfurt, Zurich, Geneva, 
Amsterdam, Brussels, London, Toronto, 
Boston and New York. The Company also 
participates in a number of international 
bank and investor conferences. In support 
of increasing the shareholder base abroad 
and in the US in particular, the Company 
has increased its efforts towards these 
markets, thus reflecting the geographic 
diversification of the Company’s activities 
and future sales. 

Furthermore, Bavarian Nordic often 
participates in shareholder events and 
meetings for private investors. In order 
to promote good relations with the lo-
cal community, local shareholders and 
stakeholders are occasionally invited 
for an evening presentation at Bavarian 
Nordic.

  	Institutionnal  	 64 %
  	Private 	 23 %
  	Non-Registered	 13 %

Figure 1: Ownership by category:

  	Denmark  	 75 %
  	Great Britain 	 9 %
  	North America	 7 %
  	Other countries	 10 %

Figure 2: Ownership by location  (in per cent of 
share capital)Financial Calendar 2011

	 10 March 2011  
	 2010 Annual Accounts 

	 26 April 2011  
	A nnual General Meeting 

	 31 May 2011  
	 First quarterly report (Q1) 

	 31 August 2011  
	 Half-year report (Q2)

	 16 November 2011  
	T hird quarterly report (Q3) 
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Management of Bavarian Nordic

Board of Directors

Asger Aamund, Chairman
Chairman of the Board since inception 
of Bavarian Nordic in 1994. Re-elected in 
2010 for a one-year term. Not independ-
ent. Mr. Aamund is President & CEO of 
A.J. Aamund A/S, a holding company 
focusing on the field of biotechnology. He 
was previously CEO of Ferrosan, a Danish 
pharmaindustrial group. Mr. Aamund is 
member of the board of directors of  
A.J. Aamund A/S. Mr. Aamund is a Danish 
national, born in 1940.

Erling Johansen
Member of the board since 2000. Re-
elected in 2010 for a one-year term. Inde-
pendent. Mr. Johansen is former President 
and CEO of BASF Health and  
Nutrition A/S. Prior to this he was 
President of DanoChemo A/S. Mr. 
Johansen worked previously in various 
management positions for Ferrosan, 
DITZ Schweitzer A/S and Oticon A/S. Mr. 
Johansen is a Danish national, born in 
1944. The special competences possessed 
by Mr. Johansen that are important for the 
performance of his duties are his in-depth 
knowledge of Bavarian Nordic’s business 
and his extensive background within the 
pharmaceutical industry.

Claus Braestrup
Member of the board since 2008. Re-
elected in 2010 for a one-year term. 
Independent Mr. Braestrup is former 
President and CEO of H. Lundbeck A/S. 
Previously he has been Vice President of 
Pharmaceutical Research, President of the 
CNS Division, and President of the Diabe-
tes Care Division, respectively, at Novo 
Nordisk A/S and Head of Preclinical Drug 
Research with Schering AG. Mr. Braestrup 
is Chairman of the Board of Probiodrug 

AG and member of the boards of Santaris 
Pharma A/S, Evolva Holding SA and Uni-
versity of Copenhagen. Mr. Braestrup has 
a degree of Doctorate of Medicine from 
the University of Copenhagen, where he 
also for a period was Professor in Neuro-
science. He is writer and co-author of 125 
scientific publications. Mr. Braestrup is a 
Danish national, born in 1945. The special 
competences possessed by Mr. Braestrup 
that are important for the performance of 
his duties are his scientific qualifications 
and his extensive executive background 
within the international pharmaceutical 
industry. 

Gerard van Odijk
Member of the board since 2008. Re-
elected in 2010 for a one-year term. 
Independent. Mr. van Odijk is President 
and CEO of Teva Pharmaceuticals Europe 
B.V. Mr. van Odijk's international executive 
career has led to a variety of senior posi-
tions in GlaxoSmithKline (GSK).  He holds 
a medical degree from the State Univer-
sity of Utrecht. Mr. van Odijk is Chairman 
of the Board of Merus Biopharmaceuticals 
B.V. Mr. van Odijk is a Dutch national, born 
in 1957. The special competences pos-
sessed by Mr. van Odijk that are important 
for the performance of his duties are his 
medical qualifications and his extensive 
executive background within the interna-
tional pharmaceutical industry.

Anders Gersel Pedersen
Elected for the board in 2010 for a one-
year term. Independent. Mr. Pedersen is 
Executive Vice President of Drug Develop-
ment at H. Lundbeck A/S. Before joining 
H. Lundbeck A/S in 2000, Mr. Pedersen 
worked for Eli Lilly for 11 years: 10 of these 
as a director overseeing worldwide clinical 
research in oncology. He is a member of 
the European Society of Medical Oncology,  

the International Association for the Study 
of Lung Cancer, the American Society 
of Clinical Oncology, the Danish Society 
of Medical Oncology and the Danish 
Society of Internal Medicine. Mr. Ped-
ersen received his medical degree and a 
doctoral degree in neuro-oncology from 
the University of Copenhagen and a BSc in 
Business Administration from Copenhagen 
Business School. Mr. Pedersen is Chairman 
of the Board of Lundbeck International 
Neuroscience Foundation and member 
of the Board of Directors of Lundbeck 
Cognitive Therapeutics A/S, TopoTarget 
A/S, ALK-Abelló A/S and Genmab A/S 
(Deputy Chairman). Mr. Pedersen is a 
Danish national, born in 1951. The special 
competences possessed by Mr. Pedersen 
that are important for the performance of 
his duties are his scientific qualifications 
and his extensive executive background 
within the international pharmaceutical 
and biotech industries.

Erik G. Hansen
Elected for the board in 2010 for a one-
year term. Independent. Erik G. Hansen 
is Director at Tresor Asset Advisers. He 
previously held the positions as Manag-
ing Director at Dansk Portefølje A/S (now 
Nykredit Asset Management) and CFO 
in A.P. Møller - Maersk A/S. Mr. Hansen 
is chairman of the Board of Directors of 
COMX Holding A/S, COMX Networks A/S, 
DTU Symbion Innovation A/S, NPT A/S, 
Polaris Management A/S, Polaris Invest 
II ApS, TTIT A/S and TTIT Ejendomme A/S 
and member of the Board of Directors of 
Fertin Pharma A/S (Deputy Chairman), 
Gumlink A/S (Deputy Chairman), Bagger-
Sørensen & Co. A/S (Deputy Chairman), 
PFA Holding A/S, PFA Pension Forsikring-
saktieselskab, Lesanco ApS and Wide In-
vest ApS. Furthermore, Erik G. Hansen is a 
member of the Executive Boards of Rigas 
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Holding ApS, Rigas Invest ApS, Tresor As-
set Advisers ApS, E.K.P. Invest ApS, Berco 
ApS, BFB ApS, Sirius Holding ApS, Tresor 
ApS, EGH Private Equity ApS and Hansen 
Advisers ApS. Mr. Hansen holds a MSc in 
Finance and Accounting. Mr. Hansen is a 
Danish national, born in 1952. The special 
competences possessed by Mr. Hansen 
that are important for the performance of 
his duties is his thorough understanding 
of managing finance operations. Mr. Han
sen is chairman of the audit committee.

Executive Management

Anders Hedegaard,  
President & CEO
Mr. Hedegaard joined Bavarian Nordic A/S 
in August 2007. Prior to this he worked 
with the pharmaceutical company, 
ALK-Abelló A/S, where he was Executive 
Vice President, Business Operations & 
International Marketing and member of 
the executive management. His previous 
management career includes executive 
and management positions with FOSS 
A/S and Novo Nordisk A/S. Mr. Hedegaard 
holds an MSc in chemical engineering 
specialising in molecular biology. Mr. 
Hedegaard is a Danish national, born in 
1960. 

Ole Larsen,  
CFO, Executive Vice President
Mr. Larsen joined Bavarian Nordic in July 
2008. He previously held the position as 
CFO at Berlingske Tidende and later at 
Nordisk Film. Mr. Larsen holds an MSc in 
Economics & Business Administration. Mr. 
Larsen is a Danish national, born in 1965. 

		  Share holdings	 Warrants

			   changes during					     changes during	  
	 31.12.2009	 the year		  31.12.2010	 31.12.2009	 the year		  31.12.2010
 
Asger Aamund	 1,334,099 	 122,049		  1,456,148	 19,279	 2,415		  21,694 
Erling Johansen	 3,146		  450			   3,596		  19,279	 2,415		  21,694 
Claus Braestrup	 1,500		  750			   2,250		  9,000		 6,732		  15,732 
Gerard van Odijk	 0		  0			   0		  9,000		 6,732		  15,732 
Anders Gersel Pedersen	 0*		  0			   0		  0*		  5,000		  5,000 
Erik G. Hansen	 0*		  0			   0		  0*		  5,000		  5,000

	 *) �First election as member of the Board in April 2010. The member did not hold shares or warrants prior to the election to the Board. Please refer to note 25 for 

an overview of all warrant programmes. 

Paul Chaplin,  
Division President Infectious Diseases, 
Executive Vice President
Mr. Chaplin joined Bavarian Nordic in 1999 
and was appointed Executive Vice Presi-
dent in 2004. Prior to joining Bavarian 
Nordic, Mr. Chaplin worked for several 
years both in the UK and Australia de-
veloping vaccines against infectious dis-
eases. Mr. Chaplin holds an MSc in Biology 
and a PhD in Immunology from Bristol 
University. Mr. Chaplin is General Manager 
in Bavarian Nordic GmbH. Mr. Chaplin is a 
British national, born in 1967. 

Reiner Laus,  
Division President Cancer Vaccines, Execu-
tive Vice President
Mr. Laus joined Bavarian Nordic in 2005 
as CEO of BN ImmunoTherapeutics, Inc. 
In 2008 he was appointed Executive Vice 
President. Prior to joining Bavarian Nordic, 
he was Vice President of Research and 
Development at Dendreon Corporation 
in Seattle, Washington where he was 
responsible for discovery, pre-clinical and 
development functions. Mr. Laus received 
his M.D. from the University of Kiel and 
holds a PhD from Stanford University.. Mr. 
Laus is member of the Board of Directors 
of CG therapeutics Inc. Mr. Laus is a Ger-
man national, born in 1960.
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Statement by Management  
on the Annual Report

We have today presented the annual report of Bavarian Nordic 
for the financial year 1 January to 31 December 2010. 

The annual report is prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and ad-
ditional Danish disclosure requirements for annual reports of 
listed companies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the 
parent financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s 
and the parent’s financial position at 31 December 2010 as well as of 

their financial performance and their cash flows for the financial year 
1 January to 31 December 2010. 

We also believe that the management commentary contains a 
fair review of the development and performance of the Group’s 
and the parent’s business and of their financial position as a 
whole, together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that they face. 

We recommend the annual report for adoption at the Annual 
General Meeting.

Corporate Management

 

Anders Hedegaard
President & CEO

Board of Directors

 

Asger Aamund				E    rling Johansen 				    Gerard van Odijk
Chairman		

Claus Braestrup				A    nders Gersel Pedersen 			E   rik G. Hansen

Kvistgård,10 March 2011 
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Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders  
of Bavarian Nordic A/S

Report on the consolidated financial statements and parent 
financial statements 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements and par-
ent financial statements of Bavarian Nordic A/S for the financial 
year 1 January - 31 December 2010, which comprise the income 
statement, statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, 
statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and notes, 
including the accounting policies, for the Group and the Parent, 
respectively. The consolidated financial statements and parent 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and 
Danish disclosure requirements for listed companies.

Management's responsibility for the consolidated financial 
statements and parent financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presen-
tation of consolidated financial statements and parent financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the EU and Danish disclosure require-
ments for listed companies. This responsibility includes design-
ing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements and parent financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies, and making ac-
counting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor's responsibility and basis of opinion
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 
financial statements and parent financial statements based on our 
audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Danish Standards 
on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the consolidated financial statements and par-
ent financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements and parent financial statements. The procedures select-

ed depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements and parent financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair pres-
entation of consolidated financial statements and parent financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin-
ion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
Management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements and parent financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Our audit has not resulted in any qualification.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and parent 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s and 
the Parent’s financial position at 31 December 2010, and of their 
financial performance and their cash flows for the financial year 
1 January – 31 December 2010 in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and Danish 
disclosure requirements for listed companies.

Statement on the management commentary
Management is responsible for preparing a management com-
mentary that contains a fair review in accordance with Danish 
disclosure requirements for listed companies.

Our audit did not include the management commentary, but we 
have read it pursuant to the Danish Financial Statements Act. We 
did not perform any procedures other than those performed dur-
ing the audit of the consolidated financial statements and parent 
financial statements.

Based on this, we believe that the disclosures in the manage-
ment commentary are consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements and parent financial statements.

Copenhagen, 10 March 2011

Deloitte					      Jens Rudkjær 				C    arsten Vaarby
Statsautoriseret Revisionsaktieselskab		  State Authorised Public Accountant		  State Authorised Public Accountant
		

statement of the management   annual report 2010	 41



Financial statements

42	 annual report 2010   



		  Financial Statements   |   Annual Report 2010  	 43

Income statements for the period  
1 January – 31 December
	  		  Group	 Parent Company  

Note 	 DKK thousands 	 2010 	 2009 	 2010 	 2009
	
	 3	 Revenue	  314,072 	  74,783 	  314,072 	  74,783 
	 4,5,6	 Production costs	  444,468 	  140,098 	  444,519 	  140,098 
		  Gross profit	  (130,396)	  (65,315)	  (130,447)	  (65,315)
				  
	 5,6	 Research and development costs	  210,833 	  163,980 	  159,741 	  117,857 
	 5	 Distribution costs	  28,276 	  20,408 	  25,134 	  17,647 
	 5,6,7	 Administrative costs	  104,582 	  91,480 	  100,022 	  94,191 
		  Total operating costs	  343,691 	  275,868 	  284,897 	  229,695 
				  
		  Income before interest and tax (EBIT)	  (474,087)	  (341,183)	  (415,344)	 (295,010)
				  
	 8	 Financial income	  4,189 	  17,809 	  27,912 	  24,093 
	 9	 Financial expenses	  13,542 	  7,759 	  14,188 	  8,131 
		  Income before company tax	  (483,440)	  (331,133)	  (401,620)	 (279,048)
				  
	 10	 Tax on income for the year	  (93,529)	  (64,855)	  (95,244)	 (67,863)
		  Net profit for the year	  (389,911)	  (266,278)	  (306,376)	 (211,185)
				  
		  				  
		  Earnings per share (EPS) - DKK			 
	 11	 Basic earnings per share of DKK 10	  (33.5)	  (34.0)		
	 11	 Diluted earnings per share of DKK 10	  (33.5)	  (34.0)		
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Statement of comprehensive income 
for the period 1 January – 31 December
	  		  Group	 Parent Company  

Note 	 DKK thousands 	 2010 	 2009 	 2010 	 2009
	

		 Net profit for the year	  (389,911)	  (266,278)	  (306,376)	  (211,185)
				 
		 Exchange rate adjustments, investments in subsidiaries	  (3,627) 	  1,424 	  - 	  - 
				 
		 Fair value of financial instruments entered into  
		 to hedge future cash flow:			 
20	 This years fair value adjustment	  (22,269)	  (27,185)	  (22,269)	  (27,185)

	 3,20	 Fair value adjustment transferred to revenue	  745 	  - 	  745 	  - 
				 
		 Tax on other comprehensive income 	  5,381 	  6,797 	  5,381 	  6,797 
		 Other comprehensive income after tax	  (19,770)	  (18,964)	  (16,143)	 (20,388)
				 
		 Total comprehensive income	  (409,681)	  (285,242)	  (322,519)	 (231,573)
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Statement of cash flow for the period
1 January - 31 December
	  		  Group	 Parent Company  

Note 	 DKK thousands 	 2010 	 2009 	 2010 	 2009
		

		 Income before interest and tax (EBIT)	  (474,087)	  (341,183)	  (415,344)	 (295,010)
				 
6	 Depreciations and amortisations	  49,735 	  50,144 	  44,874 	  44,158 
	5	 Share-based payment	  25,503 	  8,063 	  25,503 	  7,530 
		 Adjustment for other non-cash items	  745 	  - 	  745 	  - 
		 Changes in inventories	  125,017 	  (184,267)	  127,623 	  (183,697)
		 Changes in receivables	  (34,180)	  (30,271)	  (101,013)	  (99,002)
		 Changes in provisions	  655 	  - 	  655 	  - 
		 Changes in current liabilities	 72,754 	  (4,023)	  60,339 	  (7,358)
		 Cash flow from operations (operating activities)	  (233,858)	  (501,537)	  (256,618)	 (533,379)
				 
		 Received financial income	  1,648 	  28,341 	  1,647 	  34,951 
		 Paid financial expenses	  (5,238)	  (7,873)	  (5,172)	  (8,723)
		 Paid corporation taxes	  (2,414)	  (2,953)	  - 	  - 
		 Cash flow from operating activities	  (239,862)	  (484,022)	  (260,143)	  (507,151)
				 
		 Investments in intangible assets	  (16,167)	  (45,472)	  (16,167)	  (43,611)
		 Investments in tangible assets	  (45,674)	  (50,559)	  (27,949)	  (43,638)
		 Disposal of tangible assets	  25 	  - 	  25 	  - 
		 Investments in financial assets	  431 	  9 	  (121)	  7 
		 Investments in securities	  15,575 	  122,115 	  15,575 	  122,115 
		 Cash flow from investment activities	  (45,810)	  26,093 	  (28,637)	  34,873 
				 
		 Payment on mortgage debt	  (8,626)	  (70,048)	  (8,626)	  (70,048)
		 Payment on financial leasing liabilities	  (8,729)	  (12,909)	  (8,729)	  (12,909)
		 Proceeds through financial commitments	  - 	  68,000 	  - 	  68,000 
		 Repurchase of stock options in subsidiary	  (5,579)	  (15,835)	  - 	  - 
		 Proceeds through issue of new shares	  521,574 	  - 	  521,574 	  - 
		 Costs related to issue of new shares	  (27,639)	  - 	  (27,639)	  - 
		 Cash flow from financing activities	  471,001 	  (30,792)	  476,580 	  (14,957)
				 
		 Cash flow of the year	  185,329 	  (488,721)	  187,800 	  (487,235)
				 
		 Cash as of 1 January	  80,954 	  569,778 	  71,925 	  559,160 
		 Currency adjustments 1 January	  500 	  (103)	  - 	  - 
				 
		 Cash as of 31 December	  266,783 	  80,954 	  259,725 	  71,925 
				 
		 Securities - highly liquid bonds	  88,871 	  104,045 	  88,871 	  104,045 
		 Credit lines	  104,480 	  20,000 	  104,480 	  20,000 
				 
		 Cash preparedness	  460,134 	  204,999 	  453,076 	  195,970 
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Statement of financial position – 
Assets as of 31 December
	  		  Group	 Parent Company  

Note 	 DKK thousands 	 2010 	 2009 	 2010 	 2009
		
		  Non-current assets			 
				  
	 12	 Acquired patents and licenses	  8,132 	  8,759 	  1,793 	  2,242 
	 12	 Software	  15,969 	  15,925 	  15,853 	  15,925 
	 12	 Intangible assets under construction	  109,484 	  102,117 	  109,484 	  102,117 
		  Intangible assets	  133,585 	  126,801 	  127,130 	  120,284 
				  
	 13	 Land and buildings	  179,928 	  150,925 	  179,928 	  150,925 
	 13	 Leasehold improvements	  18,305 	  2,317 	  1,524 	  1,531 
	 13	 Plant and machinery	  121,727 	  144,745 	  121,727 	  144,745 
	 13	 Fixtures and fittings, other plant and equipment	  18,360 	  14,448 	  9,136 	  5,258 
	 13	 Assets under construction	  22,495 	  42,049 	  22,035 	  39,520 
		  Tangible assets	  360,815 	  354,484 	  334,350 	  341,979 
				  
	 14	 Investments in subsidiaries	  - 	  - 	  183,657 	  183,657 
		  Other financial non-current assets	  371 	  192 	  144 	  23 
		  Financial assets	  371 	  192 	  183,801 	  183,680 
				  
	 10	 Deferred tax assets	  334,417 	  233,645 	  334,417 	  233,792 
				  
		  Total non-current assets	  829,188 	  715,122 	  979,698 	  879,735 
				  
		  Current assets			 
				  
	 15	 Inventories	  121,452 	  246,468 	  116,392 	  244,016 
				  
	 16	 Trade receivables 	  36,922 	  15,095 	  36,922 	  15,095 
		  Receivables from subsidiaries	  - 	  - 	  165,304 	  69,645 
		  Tax receivables	  635 	  - 	  - 	  - 
	 17	 Other receivables	  13,734 	  31,385 	  11,731 	  30,229 
	 18	 Prepayments	  109,543 	  78,035 	  106,461 	  75,641 
		  Receivables	  160,834 	  124,515 	  320,418 	  190,610 
				  
	 20	 Securities	  88,871 	  104,045 	  88,871 	  104,045 
	 20	 Cash and cash equivalents	  266,783 	  80,954 	  259,725 	  71,925 
		  Securities, cash and cash equivalents	  355,654 	  184,999 	  348,596 	  175,970 
				  
		  Total current assets	  637,940 	  555,982 	  785,406 	  610,596 
				  
		  Total assets	  1,467,128 	  1,271,104 	  1,765,104 	  1,490,331 
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Statement of financial position –  
Equity and liabilities as of 31 December
	  		  Group	 Parent Company  

Note 	 DKK thousands 	 2010 	 2009 	 2010 	 2009

		  Equity 

		  Share capital	  129,620 	  79,517 	  129,620 	  79,517 
		  Retained earnings	  651,408 	  590,684 	  935,857 	  791,598 
		  Other reserves	  29,407 	  34,013 	  27,642 	  28,621 
		  Equity	  810,435 	  704,214 	  1,093,119 	  899,736 

			
		  Liabilities			 
				  
	 21	 Provisions	  8,708 	  11,099 	  8,708 	  11,099 
	 22	 Credit institutions	  97,801 	  101,925 	  97,801 	  101,925 
		  Non-current liabilities	  106,509 	  113,024 	  106,509 	  113,024 
				  
	 22	 Credit institutions	  8,996 	  16,881 	  8,996 	  16,881 
	 23	 Prepayment from customers	  381,805 	  276,640 	  381,805 	  276,640 
		  Trade payables	  50,085 	  48,020 	  43,061 	  41,747 
		  Payables to subsidiaries	  - 	  - 	  36,120 	  43,496 
		  Company tax	  29 	  53 	  - 	  - 
	 21	 Provisions	  6,089 	  - 	  6,089 	  - 
	 19	 Other liabilities	  103,180 	  112,272 	  89,405 	  98,807 
		  Current liabilities	  550,184 	  453,866 	  565,476 	  477,571 
				  
		  Total liabilities	  656,693 	  566,890 	  671,985 	  590,595 
				  
		  Total equity and liabilities	  1,467,128 	  1,271,104 	  1,765,104 	  1,490,331 
				  
				  
				  
	 20	 Financial risks and financial instruments			 
	 24	 Related party transactions			 
	 25	 Incentive plans			 
	 26	 Contingent liabilities, contractual obligations			 
	 27	 Significant events after the balance sheet date			 
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Statement of changes in equity 
– Group
								        Reserves for			   
							       Reserves for	 fair value of 	 Share-		  
					     Share-	 Retained	 currency	 financial	 based	 Equity	 
DKK thousands			   capital	 earnings	 adjustment	 instruments	 payment	 group

						   
Equity as of 1 January 2010			    79,517 	  590,684 	  4,189 	  10,656 	  19,168 	  704,214
								     
Comprehensive income for the year						    
Net profit for the year			    - 	  (389,911)	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (389,911)

Other comprehensive income						    
Exchange rate adjustments, investments in  
subsidiaries			    - 	  - 	  (3,627)	  - 	  - 	  (3,627)
Fair value of financial instruments	  		  - 	  - 	  - 	  (16,143)	  - 	  (16,143)
Total comprehensive income for the year		   - 	  (389,911)	  (3,627)	  (16,143)	  - 	  (409,681)

Transactions with owners						    
Share-based payment			    - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  21,967 	  21,967 
Warrants programme expired			    - 	  6,803 	  - 	  - 	  (6,803)	  - 
Capital increase through rights issue		  39,603	 277,221	 -	 -	 -	 316,824
Capital increase through private  
placement			   10,500	 194,250	 -	 -	 -	 204,750
Costs related to issue of new shares		   - 	  (27,639)	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (27,639)
Total transactions with owners			    50,103 	  450,635 	  - 	  - 	  15,164 	  515,902 

Equity as of 31 December 2010 	  		  129,620 	  651,408 	  562 	  (5,487)	  34,332 	  810,435 
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Statement of changes in equity 
– Group

						      Reserves for				     
					     Reserves for	 fair value of 	 Share-	 Equity		   
			   Share-	 Retained	 currency	 financial	 based	 parent	 Equity	 Equity 
DKK thousands	 capital	 earnings	 adjustment	 instruments	 payment	 company	 minority	 group

					  
Equity as of  
1 January 2009	  78,156 	  888,115 	  2,765 	  31,044 	  11,339 	  1,011,419 	  3,708 	  1,015,127 
								     
Comprehensive income  
for the year								      
Net profit for the year	  - 	  (266,278)	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (266,278)	  - 	  (266,278)

Other comprehensive  
income								      
Exchange rate adjustments,  
investments in subsidiaries	  - 	  - 	  1,424 	  - 	  - 	  1,424 	  - 	  1,424 
Fair value of financial  
instruments	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (20,388)	  - 	  (20,388)	  - 	 (20,388)
Total comprehensive  
income for the year	  - 	  (266,278)	  1,424 	  (20,388)	  - 	  (285,242)	  - 	 (285,242)

Transactions with owners								      
Share-based payment	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  7,829 	  7,829 	  - 	  7,829 
Transfer of minority interest	  - 	  3,708 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  3,708 	  (3,708)	  - 
Purchase of minority  
interest in subsidiary	  - 	  (35,899)	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (35,899)	  - 	  (35,899)
Repurchase of stock option  
in subsidiary measured at  
fair value at the time of  
cancellation	  - 	  (23,332)	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (23,332)	  - 	  (23,332)
Issue of new shares	  1,361 	  24,651 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  26,012 	  - 	  26,012 
Costs related to issue  
of new shares	  - 	  (375)	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (375)	  - 	  (375)
Tax on transactions in  
equity	  - 	  94 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  94 	  - 	  94 
Total transactions  
with owners	  1,361 	  (31,153)	  - 	  - 	  7,829 	  (21,963)	  (3,708)	  (25,671)

Equity as of  
31 December 2009 	  79,517 	  590,684 	  4,189 	  10,656 	  19,168 	  704,214 	  - 	  704,214 



	50	 Annual Report 2010   |   Financial Statements

						      Reserves for		   
						      fair value of 	 Share-	 Equity 
				    Share-	 Retained	 financial	 based	 parent 
DKK thousands		  capital	 earnings	 instruments	 payment	 company

					  
Equity as of 1 January 2010		   79,517 	  791,598 	  10,656 	  17,965 	  899,736 
						   
Comprehensive income for the year						    
Net profit for the year		   - 	  (306,376)	  - 	  - 	 (306,376)

Other comprehensive income						    
Fair value of financial instruments		   - 	  - 	  (16,143)	  - 	 (16,143)
Total comprehensive income for the year		   - 	  (306,376)	  (16,143)	  - 	 (322,519)

Transactions with owners						    
Share-based payment		   - 	  - 	  - 	  21,967 	  21,967 
Warrants program expired		   - 	  6,803 	  - 	  (6,803)	  - 
Capital increase through rights issue		  39,603	 277,221	 -	 -	 316,824
Capital increase through private placement		  10,500	 194,250	 -	 -	 204,750
Costs related to issue of new shares		   - 	  (27,639)	  - 	  - 	 (27,639)
Total transactions with owners		   50,103 	  450,635 	  - 	  15,164 	  515,902 

Equity as of 31 December 2010 		   129,620 	  935,857 	  (5,487)	  33,129 	  1,093,119 
					  
The share capital comprises a total of 12,962,052 shares of DKK 10 as of 31 December 2010 (7,951,745 shares).
The shares are not divided into share classes, and each share carries one vote.					   
					  

Statement of changes in equity 
– Parent Company
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						      Reserves for		   
						      fair value of 	 Share-	 Equity 
				    Share-	 Retained	 financial	 based	 parent 
DKK thousands		  capital	 earnings	 instruments	 payment	 company

					  
Equity as of 1 January 2009		   78,156 	  978,414 	  31,044 	  10,643 	  1,098,257 
						   
Comprehensive income for the year						    
Net profit for the year		   - 	  (211,185)	  - 	  - 	 (211,185)

Other comprehensive income						    
Fair value of financial instruments		   - 	  - 	  (20,388)	  - 	 (20,388)
Total comprehensive income for the year		   - 	  (211,185)	  (20,388)	  - 	 (231,573)

Transactions with owners						    
Share-based payment		   - 	  - 	  - 	  7,322 	  7,322 
Issue of new shares	  	 1,361 	  24,650 	  - 	  - 	  26,011 
Costs related to issue of new shares		   - 	  (375)	  - 	  - 	 (375)
Tax on transactions in equity		   - 	  94 	  - 	  - 	  94 
Total transactions with owners		   1,361 	  24,369 	  - 	  7,322 	  33,052 

Equity as of 31 December 2009 		   79,517 	  791,598 	  10,656 	  17,965 	  899,736 
					  
The share capital comprises a total of 7,951,745 shares of DKK 10 as of 31 December 2009 (7,815,568 shares).
The shares are not divided into share classes, and each share carries one vote.					   
					  
Transactions on the share capital have been the following:					   
					  

DKK thousands		  2010	 2009	 2008	 2007	 2006

Share capital as of 1 January		   79,517 	  78,156 	  78,156 	  63,762 	  57,971 
Issue of new shares		   50,103 	  1,361 	  - 	  14,394 	  5,791 
Share capital as of 31 December 		   129,620 	  79,517 	  78,156 	  78,156 	  63,762 
	
	
Rules on changing Articles of Association					   
Changing the Articles of Association requires that the resolution passes by at least 2/3 of the votes as well as 2/3 of the voting capital repre-
sented.

Statement of changes in equity 
– Parent Company
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Accounting policies

General information

Basis of preparation
The annual report of Bavarian Nordic A/S for the year ended 
31 December 2010, comprising the financial statements of the 
parent company and the consolidated financial statements, has 
been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and Danish dis-
closure requirements for the annual reports of listed companies. 
Danish disclosure requirements for the presentation of annual 
reports are imposed by the Statutory Order on Adoption of IFRS 
issued under the Danish Financial Statements Act and by the 
NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen exhange.

The accounting policies are unchanged from last year, except for 
changes in presentation according to new and changed standards. 

The annual report is presented in Danish kroner (DKK), which is 
considered the primary currency of the Group’s activities and the 
functional currency of the parent company.

The annual report is presented on a historical cost basis, apart 
from derivative financial instruments which are measured at fair 
value. A further description of the accounting policies applied is 
given below.

The accounting policies described below have been consistently 
applied for the financial year and for the comparative figures. 
Certain layouts and notes to the financial statements have been 
changed compared with previous years. 

Implementation of new and revised standards  
and interpretations
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has issued 
new standards and revisions to existing standards and new 
interpretations which are mandatory for accounting periods com-
mencing on or after 1 January 2010.

Implementation of new or revised standards and interpretations 
that are in force have not changed the accounting policies and 
thus not affected net profit for the year or the financial position. 

Standards and interpretations not yet in force
At the time of publication of this annual report a number of new 
or revised standards and interpretations are available, but not 
yet entered into force and are therefore not incorporated in the 
annual report.

Management believes that the application of these new and 
revised standards and interpretations will not have any material 
impact on the annual report for the coming financial years.

Significant accounting estimates, assumptions and uncertainties 
The recognition and measurement of assets and liabilities often 
depends on future events that are somewhat uncertain. In that 
connection, it is necessary to assume a course of events that 
reflects management’s assessment of the most probable course 
of events.

In connection with the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements, management has made a number of estimates and 
assumptions concerning carrying amounts. Management has 
made the following accounting judgements which significantly 
affect the amounts recognised in the annual report:

Capitalisation of development costs
Management has assessed that development costs relating to 
the registration of IMVAMUNE® under the RFP-3 contract with the 
US health authorities continues to meet the conditions for capi-
talisation. See “Research and development costs”. The carrying 
amount of capitalised development projects was DKK 108 million 
as of 31 December 2010 (DKK 96 million as of 31 December 2009).

Useful lives of tangible assets
As stated below, management reviews the estimated useful lives 
of material property, plant and equipment at the end of each 
financial year. Management’s review of useful lives in 2010 did 
not give rise to any changes as compared with 2009. The carrying 
amount of property, plant and equipment was DKK 361 million as 
of 31 December 2010 (DKK 354 million as of 31 December 2009).

Value of investments in subsidiaries
The carrying amount as of 31 December 2010 of the investment 
in the subsidiary BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc., USA, exceeded 
the net assets in the Company. In such a situation, management 
estimates whether there are any events or other circumstances 
that indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Management estimates that the value of non-recognised intan-
gible assets related to the subsidiary corresponds at least to the 
amount by which the cost of the subsidiary exceeds the carrying 
amount of the net assets, and management therefore assessed 
that no impairment exists. The recognised value of investments 
was DKK 184 million as of 31 December 2010 (DKK 184 million as 
of 31 December 2009). 

Production overheads
Production overheads are measured on the basis of actual costs. 
The basis of the actual costs is reassessed regularly to ensure 
that they are adjusted for changes in the utilisation of production 
capacity, production changes and other relevant factors. Biologi-
cal living material is used, and the measurements and assump-
tions for the estimates made may be incomplete or inaccurate, 
and unexpected events or circumstances may occur, which may 



	54	 Annual Report 2010   |   Financial Statements

cause the actual outcomes to later deviate from these estimates. 
It may be necessary to change previous estimates as a result of 
changes in the assumptions on which the estimates were based 
or due to new information or subsequent events, for which cer-
tainty could not be achieved in the earlier estimates.

Estimates that are material to the financial reporting are made in 
the determination of the quantity and any impairment of inven-
tories as a result of technical obsolescence.

The value recognised as inventories was DKK 121 million as of 31 
December 2010 (DKK 246 million as of 31 December 2009).

Deferred tax asset
Management is required to make an estimate in the recognition 
of deferred tax assets and liabilities. On the basis of the coming 
years’ activities and budgets, management believes the tax 
assets can be used against future profits. The value of the recog-
nised deferred tax assets was DKK 334 million as of 31 December 
2010 (DKK 234 million as of 31 December 2009).

Derivative financial instruments
Bavarian Nordic uses derivative financial instruments to hedge 
future cash flows. The fair value of derivative financial instru-
ments is based on the official exchange rates, market interest 
rates and other market data such as volatility adjusted for the 
special characteristics of each instrument. The carrying amount 
of recognised financial instruments was DKK -32 million as of 31 
December 2010 (DKK -10 million as of 31 December 2009).

Other financial liabilities
A management discretion is required when recognition of 
contingent payments. Management considers in the light of 
expectations for the coming year’s research and development 
achievements the likelihood that expected results will trigger 
contingent payments. On initial recognition, contingent payments 
are measured at fair value.

Determining the fair value is based on a management estimate 
of the likelihood that the triggering event is achieved and a fixed 
discount factor. Contingent payments were DKK 15 million as of 
31 December 2010 (DKK 11 million as of 31 December 2009).

The estimates and assumptions applied are based on historical 
experience and other factors which management considers rel-
evant under the circumstances, but which are inherently incom-
plete and inaccurate at the time of presentation of the financial 
statements, and unexpected events or circumstances may arise. 
The Company is subject to risks and uncertainties which may 
have the effect that the actual outcomes may deviate from the 

estimates made. Such risks are described in “Risk management”, 
which is a separate section in the annual report.

Change in accounting estimates
No material changes have been made in accounting estimates. 

Accounting Policy

Recognition and measurement
Income is recognised in the income statement when generated. 
Assets and liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when it 
is probable that any future economic benefit will flow to or from 
the Company and the value can be reliably measured. On initial 
recognition, assets and liabilities are measured at cost. Subse-
quently, assets and liabilities are measured as described below 
for each item.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include Bavarian Nordic 
A/S and the subsidiaries in which the Group holds more than 
50% of the voting rights or otherwise has a controlling interest.

Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the basis 
of the financial statements of the parent company and the 
individual subsidiaries, and these are prepared in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policies and for the same accounting 
period.

Intra-group income and expenses together with all intra-group 
profits, receivables and payables are eliminated on consolidation. 
In the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, the 
book value of shares in subsidiaries held by the parent company 
is set off against the equity of the subsidiaries. 

On acquisition of companies, the purchase method of accounting 
is applied under which the identifiable assets and liabilities of 
the acquired companies are recognised at market value at the 
date of acquisition, and any excess of the cost of the acquired 
companies over the market value is recognised as goodwill. 

Merger of subsidiaries is subject to the pooling method and does 
not generate a reassessment of the assets and liabilities. Cost is 
hereby recognized in the income statement.

Purchase of minority shares in a subsidiary is treated in the con-
solidated financial statements as an equity transaction and the 
difference between the consideration and the carrying amount 
allocated to the parent company’s share of equity.
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The items of the financial statements of subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements. Minor-
ity interests include a proportionate share of the profit and are 
stated as part of the consolidated profit and as a separate line 
item in equity.

Foreign currency translation
On initial recognition, transactions denominated in currencies 
other than the Group’s functional currency are translated at the 
exchange rate ruling at the transaction date.

Receivables, payables and other monetary items denominated 
in foreign currencies that have not been settled at the balance 
sheet date are translated at the exchange rates at the balance 
sheet date. Exchange differences between the exchange rate at 
the date of the transaction and the exchange rate at the date of 
payment or the balance sheet date, respectively, are recognised 
in the income statement under financial items. Tangible assets 
and intangible assets, inventories and other non-monetary assets 
acquired in foreign currency and measured based on historical 
cost are translated at the exchange rates at the transaction date. 

Transactions hedged by forward currency instruments are rec-
ognised at the hedged exchange rate. See “Derivative financial 
instruments” below. 

On recognition in the consolidated financial statements of subsid-
iaries whose financial statements are presented in a functional 
currency other than Danish kroner (DKK), the income statements 
are translated at average exchange rates for the respective 
months. Balance sheet items are translated at the exchange 
rates at the balance sheet date. 

Exchange rate differences arising on the translation of foreign 
subsidiaries’ opening balance sheet items to the exchange rates 
at the balance sheet date and on the translation of the income 
statements from average exchange rates to exchange rates at 
the balance sheet date are recognised as other comprehensive 
income. Similarly, exchange differences arising as a result of 
changes made directly in the equity of the foreign subsidiary are 
also recognised as other comprehensive income. 

Foreign exchange rate adjustment of receivables or debt to 
subsidiaries which are considered part of the parent company’s 
overall investment in the subsidiary in question are recognised as 
other comprehensive income in the consolidated financial state-
ments, whereas they are recognised in the income statement of 
the parent company.

Derivative financial instruments
On initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are meas-
ured at the fair value on the settlement date.

Directly attributable costs related to the purchase or issuance of 
the individual financial instruments (transaction costs) are added 
to the fair value on initial recognition unless the financial asset 
or the financial liability is measured at fair value with recognition 
of fair value adjustments in the income statement. Subsequently, 
they are measured at fair value at the balance sheet date. 

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments 
designated as and qualifying for recognition as fair value hedges 
of a recognised asset or a recognised liability are recognised in 
the income statement together with any changes in the value of 
the hedged asset or hedged liability. Changes in the fair value of 
derivative financial instruments designated as and qualifying for 
recognition as effective hedges of future transactions are recog-
nised as comprehensive income. The ineffective portion is recog-
nised immediately in the income statement. When the hedged 
transactions are realised, cumulative changes are recognised as 
part of the cost of the transactions in question. 

For derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting, changes in fair value are recognised as financial 
items in the income statement as they occur.

Share-based payment
Share-based incentive plans in which employees can only opt 
to buy shares in the parent company (equity schemes) are 
measured at the equity instruments’ fair value at the grant date 
and recognised in the income statement in staff costs under the 
respective functions over the vesting period. The balancing item 
is recognised directly in equity. The fair value on the date of grant 
is determined using the Black-Scholes model. 

Cash-based incentive programmes in which employees can 
have the difference between the agreed price and the actual 
share price settled in cash are measured at fair value at the date 
of grant and recognised in the income statement under staff 
costs over the period when the final right of cash-settlement is 
obtained. Vested rights are subsequently re-measured on each 
balance sheet date and upon final settlement, and any changes 
in the fair value of the programmes are recognised in the income 
statement under administrative costs. The balancing item is 
recognised under liabilities. 

The fair value of the cash-based incentive programmes is deter-
mined using the Black-Scholes model.
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Income statement

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the value of sales of products and income 
derived from development contracts and amounts received for 
achieving milestones in development projects. These are recog-
nised in the year in which any major risks and rewards connected 
with the title to the goods or right to the services are transferred 
and the Company no longer retains managerial responsibility for, 
or control of, the goods sold. 

Revenue from milestone payments is recognised if all attached 
obligations are fulfilled and it is certain that there will be no 
demand for these to be refunded. Revenue from development 
contracts are recognised in line with the execution and delivery 
of the work. Research and development grants without a profit 
element are set off against the costs of research and develop-
ment at the time when a final and binding right to the grant has 
been obtained. 

Production costs
Production costs consist of costs incurred to earn the revenue for 
the year. Production costs comprise consumables, factory-related 
general and administrative costs, transport insurance and freight 
costs, salaries, depreciation, costs to secure production processes 
by way of maintenance, excess capacity and external costs 
required to fulfil the contractual deliveries. 

Research and development costs
Research and development costs include salaries and costs 
directly attributable to the Company’s research and develop-
ment projects, less government grants. The Company considers 
a project to be a development project upon receipt of regulatory 
approval to initiate clinical trials. Furthermore, salaries and costs 
supporting direct research and development, including costs of 
patents, rent, leasing and depreciation attributable to laborato-
ries, and external scientific consultancy services, are recognised 
under research and development costs.

Contract research costs incurred to achieve revenue are recog-
nised under production costs.

Research costs are normally written off in the year they are 
incurred.

Where there is sufficient certainty that the future earnings to the 
Company will cover not only production and direct distribution 
costs and administrative costs, but also the development costs, 
the development costs that cover the ongoing costs of a clinical 
programme after the date of regulatory approval of the said clini-

cal trial are recognised as assets. Due to the general risk relating 
to the development of pharmaceutical products, capitalisation 
in the balance sheet requires that the product can be completed 
and marketed. If sufficient certainty thereof does not exist, the 
development costs are expensed. 

Distribution costs
Distribution costs include costs incurred for distribution of goods 
sold and sales campaigns, including costs for sales and distribu-
tion personnel, advertising costs and depreciation and amortiza-
tion of tangible and intangible assets used in the distribution 
process.

Administrative costs
Administrative costs include costs of company management, 
staff functions, administrative personnel, office costs, rent, lease 
payments and depreciation not relating specifically to production 
or research and development activities and distribution costs.

Financial items
Interest income and expenses are recognised in the income 
statement at the amounts relating to the financial year. Finan-
cials also include financing costs related to finance leases, value 
adjustments of financial instruments, securities, items denomi-
nated in foreign currency and charges. 

Tax
Income tax for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax 
for the year. The part relating to the profit for the year is recog-
nised in the income statement, and the part attributable to items 
in equity is recognised in the comprehensive income statement.

Current tax payable but not yet paid is recognised in the balance 
sheet under current liabilities. Deferred income tax is provided 
on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 
and associates, unless the parent company has a possibility of 
controlling when the deferred tax is to be realised and it is likely 
that the deferred tax will not crystallise as current tax within the 
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is measured using the balance sheet liability 
method on all temporary differences between accounting values 
and tax values. Deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary tax 
differences are recognised in the balance sheet as a provision. 
Deferred tax assets arising from temporary deductible differences 
and tax losses carried forward are recognised when it is probable 
that they can be realised by offsetting them against tax on future 
income. At each balance sheet date, it is assessed whether it is 
likely that there will be sufficient future taxable income for the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised.
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Unrealised temporary deductible differences are disclosed in a 
note. 

Full deferred tax is provided on the accumulated fair value 
reserve under equity. The tax effect of costs that have been 
recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity under the 
relevant items.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rate applicable on the bal-
ance sheet date.

Minority interests
Minority interests include the part of net profit that is attributable 
to minority shareholders.

Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated as the profit or loss for the year 
compared to the weighted average of the issued shares in the 
financial year. The basis for the calculation of diluted earnings per 
share is the weighted average number of shares in the financial 
year adjusted for the dilutive effects of warrants.

Balance sheet

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are measured at historic cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment. 

Development projects that meet the requirements for recognition 
as assets are measured at direct cost relating to the development 
projects. Interest expenses on borrowings to finance the produc-
tion of intangible assets are included in cost if they relate to the 
period of production. Other borrowing costs are expensed.

Amortisation of development projects commences when the 
asset is taken into use and is provided on a straight-line basis 
over the useful economic lives of the assets. An asset is defined 
as being taken into use at the commencement of sales activities. 
For development projects, an individual assessment of the useful 
economic life of the project is made by the management. 

Purchased rights or rights acquired in connection with acquisi-
tions which fulfil the requirements for recognition are measured 
at cost. Individual assessments are made of the useful economic 
lives of rights.

Amortisation is made on a straight-line basis over the expected 
useful lives of the assets, which are: 

Rights � max. 15 years
Software � 3 years
Development projects not defined (under construction).

Acquired intellectual property rights are written down to their re-
coverable amount where this is lower than the carrying amount. 
See the section on impairment below.

Tangible assets
Tangible assets includes land and buildings, production equip-
ment, leasehold improvements, office and IT equipment and 
laboratory equipment and are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Cost includes the costs directly attributable to the purchase of the 
asset, until the asset is ready for use. For assets manufactured by 
the Company, cost includes direct and indirect costs of materials, 
components, third-party suppliers and labour. 

Interest expenses on loans to finance the manufacture of prop-
erty, plant and equipment are included in cost if they relate to 
the production period. Other borrowing costs are taken to the 
income statement.

Depreciation is charged over the expected economic lives of the 
assets, and the depreciation methods, expected lives and re-
sidual values are reassessed individually for the assets at the end 
of each financial year. Assets are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Buildings � 10-20 years
Installations � 5-15 years
Leasehold improvements � 5 years
Office and IT equipment � 3-5 years
Laboratory equipment � 10 years
Production equipment � 3-15 years

Depreciation and gains and losses from regular replacement of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in the income 
statement.

Leasing
Assets held under finance leases are measured in the balance 
sheet at the lower of the fair value and the present value of 
future lease payments on the date of acquisition. The capitalised 
value of the residual lease obligation is carried as a liability in 
the balance sheet. The interest rate implicit in the lease is used 
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in the calculations. The liability is reduced by the repayment 
element of the lease payment. The interest element of the lease 
payment is recognised in the income statement under financial 
items. The assets are depreciated over the expected useful lives 
of the assets in the same way as other similar assets. 

Lease payments for assets held under operating leases are 
charged to the income statement. The total lease commitment is 
disclosed in a note to the financial statements.

Investment in subsidiaries of the parent company financial 
statements
Investments in subsidiaries are recognised and measured at cost 
in the financial statements of the parent company. Where the 
recoverable amount of the investments is lower than cost, the 
investments are written down to this lower value.

If dividends distributed exceed the total earnings in the company 
since parent company acquired the equity, this is considered 
as an indication of impairment, see the section on impairment 
below.

Impairment of non-current assets
The carrying amounts of intangible and tangible assets and 
investments carried at cost or amortised cost are tested annu-
ally to determine whether there are indications of any impair-
ment in excess of that expressed in normal amortisation and 
depreciation. If that is the case, the asset is written down to the 
recoverable amount, which is the higher value of the net sales 
price and the capitalised value. Impairment losses on intangible 
and tangible assets are recognised under the same line item as 
amortisation and depreciation of the assets.

For ongoing development projects, the recoverable amount 
is assessed annually, regardless of whether any indications of 
impairment have been found. 

Inventories
Inventories expect for raw materials are measured at the lower 
of cost using the weighted average cost formula method less 
write-downs for obsolescence and net realisable value. Raw 
materials are measured at cost based on FIFO method.

For raw materials cost is determined as direct acquisition costs 
incurred. The cost of finished goods produced in-house and work 
in progress includes raw materials, consumables, filling cost, QC 
testing and direct payroll costs plus indirect costs of production.

Indirect costs of production include indirect materials and labour 
as well as maintenance of and depreciation on the machinery 

used in production processes, factory buildings and equipment 
used and cost of production administration and management. 

The net realisable value is the estimated sales price in the 
ordinary course of business less relevant sales costs determined 
on the basis of marketability, obsolescence and changes in the 
expected sales price.

Receivables
Receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value and 
subsequently at amortized value usually equal to the nominal 
value, net of depreciation, to counter the loss after an individual 
assessment of risk of loss.

Receivables from subsidiaries are written down when the receiv-
able is deemed to be irrecoverable. In the event that the parent 
company has a legal or constructive obligation to cover the 
negative balance of the subsidiary, a provision will be made for 
the amount.

Prepayments
Prepayments recognised under assets include costs paid in 
respect of subsequent financial years, including specially prepay-
ments for filling campaigns at IDT Biologika GmbH. Prepayments 
are measured at cost.

Securities
Securities consist of listed bonds, which are measured at fair 
value as of the balance sheet date. Bonds with a maturity of less 
than three months on the date of acquisition are recognised in 
the line item “Cash and cash equivalents”. 

Bavarian Nordic’s portfolio of short-term securities is classified 
as “financial items at fair value through profit or loss”, as the 
portfolio is accounted for and valued on the basis of the fair 
value in compliance with Bavarian Nordic’s investment policy and 
information provided in-house to the corporate management. 

Both realised and unrealised value adjustments are recognised in 
the income statement under financial items. 

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has an obligation 
as a result of events in the current or in previous financial years 
with a probability that the obligation will result in an outflow of 
the Company’s financial resources. 

Provisions are measured as the best estimate of the costs 
needed at balance day to settle obligations. 
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Prepayments from customers
Advance payments are recognised under liabilities and will be 
recognised in the income statement as the delivery of paid 
products takes place.

Pension obligations and similar obligations
For defined contribution plans, the Group pays regular fixed 
contributions to independent pension funds and insurance com-
panies. 

The Group has no obligations to pay additional contributions. 
Periodical payments to defined contribution plans are disclosed 
in the income statement, in the period in which employees have 
completed the outpost, giving entitlement to pension.

Mortgages
Mortgage loans measured at time for borrowings at fair value 
minus any transaction costs. Subsequent mortgage debt is meas-
ured at amortized cost. This means that the difference between 
the proceeds of the loan is made and the amount to be repaid, 
are recognized in the income statement over the term of the 
loan as a financial cost using the effective interest method.

Leasing obligations
Lease obligations regarding financial leased assets is recognized 
in the balance sheet as liabilities and measured at the time the 
contract is awarded, at the lowest of the fair value of the leased 
asset and the present value of future lease payments. After initial 
recognition, leased liabilities are measured at amortized cost. 
The difference between the present value and the nominal value 
of lease payments are recognized in the income statement as 
financial cost for the period of the contract duration. 

Lease payments for operating leases are recognized in the in-
come statement, linearly for the period of the lease term.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities include bank debt, trade payables 
and other payables to public authorities. Other liabilities also 
include contingent payments at the conclusion of agreements, 
contracts, etc.

Other financial liabilities are measured at initial recognition at fair 
value minus any transaction costs. The fair value of contingent 
payments is calculated as the probability that the results, which 
trigger future payments, are achieved and a fixed discount factor.

Subsequent obligations are measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest method, whereby the difference between 
proceeds and the nominal value is recognized in the income 

statement as a financial expense over the period. Changes to the 
assessed fair value of the contingent payments due to changes 
in risk factor are included in administrative costs and disclosed in 
the notes. 

Loans are classified as short-term obligations, unless the Com-
pany has an unconditional right to defer payment for at least 12 
months after the balance sheet date.

Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement is prepared in accordance with the 
indirect method on the basis of the Group’s operating profit/
loss. The statement shows the Group’s cash flows broken down 
into operating, investing and financing activities, cash and cash 
equivalents at year end and the impact of the calculated cash 
flows on the Group’s cash and cash equivalents.

Cash flows in foreign currencies are translated into Danish kroner 
at the exchange rate on the transaction date. 

In the cash flows from operating activities, operating profit/loss 
is adjusted for non-cash operating items and changes in working 
capital.

Cash flows from investing activities include cash flows from the 
purchase and sale of intangible assets, tangible assets, invest-
ments and securities.

Cash flows from financing activities include cash flows from the 
raising and payment of loans and capital increases as well as 
financial items. Additional, cash flows of financial leased assets 
are recognized the in the form of lease payments payable.

Segment reporting
Bavarian Nordic is divided into two business areas: Cancer 
Vaccines and Infectious Diseases each led by its own Division 
President reporting to the President & CEO of the Company. The 
internal financial reporting is also divided into these two operat-
ing segment and a Holding (not reportable segment). Holding 
covers costs for group management, IR, Finance, IT, HR, Legal and 
Facility. 

Segment results reflect the results reported to the Company’s 
chief operating decision management for the purposes of their 
decisions about allocating resources and assessing segment 
performance.

Financials are not allocated to operating segments. Therefore, 
the “Income before interest and tax” is presented as target in 
segment reporting. Similar the balance sheet is not divided into 
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operating segments, therefore total assets per operating seg-
ment does not appear. Investments are broken down by operat-
ing segments and is shown in the segment reporting.

In Bavarian Nordic the internal management reporting follows 
the Group’s accounting policies.

Financial definitions 
Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share

	 Parent company´s part of net profit for the year x 100
	 Average number of shares

In accordance with IAS 33, the average number of shares, when 
calculating diluted earnings, equals earnings per share, as the 
inclusion of potential shares would improve earnings per share.

Net asset value per share: 

	 Equity excluding minority interests
	 Number of shares at year-end

Share price/Net asset value per share:  

	 Share price per share
	 Net asset value per share

Equity share, %: 

	 Equity excluding minority interests x 100
	 Total assets

Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share are calculated 
as specified in note 11.

The ratios are calculated and applied in accordance with ”An-
befalinger og Nøgletal 2010” (Recommendations and Financial 
Ratios 2010) issued by the Danish Society of Financial Analysts. 
The ratios are stated on page 8.
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2	 Segment reporting
In the autumn 2010 it was decided to reorganize the company’s primary business areas into two divisions; Cancer Vaccines and Infectious 
Diseases each led by its own Division President reporting to the President & CEO of the Company. It was at the same time decided to 
divide the financial reporting into three elements - Cancer Vaccines, Infectious Diseases and a Holding (not reportable segment). Holding 
covers costs for group management, IR, Finance, IT, HR, Legal and Facility. From 2011 a large part of these services should be covered by 
the two operating segments through internal allocations. However, these allocations are not made in 2010, with resolution on the new 
structure not taken until autumn 2010.

Segment results reflect the results reported to the company’s chief operating decision management for the purposes of their decisions 
about allocating resources and assessing segment performance.

Financials are not allocated to operating segments. Therefore, the “Income before interest and tax” is presented as target in segment 
reporting. Similar the balance sheet is not divided into operating segments, therefore total assets per operating segment do not appear. 
Investments for the year are broken down by operating segments and are shown in the note below.

The accounting policies used for segment information are the same as the Group’s accounting policies, see note 1.
					  
					  

2010	

			   Cancer	 Infectious 
DKK thousands	 Vaccines	 Diseases	 Holding	 Total

					  
RFP-3 IMVAMUNE® sales	  - 	  214,945 	  - 	  214,945 
Contract work	  - 	  98,819 	  - 	  98,819 
Product sale	  - 	  308 	  - 	  308 
Revenue	  - 	  314,072 	  - 	  314,072 
Depreciations	  3,280 	  33,291 	  13,164 	  49,735 
Income before interest and tax	  (123,910)	  (230,014)	  (120,163)	 (474,087)
Investments	  17,444 	  23,332 	  21,065 	  61,841 

Revenue for the following customers represent more than 10% of total revenue in Infectious Diseases:			 
Biomedical Advanced Research and Development Authority (BARDA), USA, DKK 249.7 million				  
National Institutes of Health (NIH), USA, DKK 40.6 million				  

2009

			   Cancer	 Infectious 
DKK thousands	 Vaccines	 Diseases	 Holding	 Total

					  
RFP-3 IMVAMUNE® sales	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 
Contract work	  - 	  67,966 	  - 	  67,966 
Product sale	  - 	  6,817 	  - 	  6,817 
Revenue	  - 	  74,783 	  - 	  74,783 
Depreciations	  3,643 	  38,350 	  8,151 	  50,144 
Income before interest and tax	  (82,100)	  (130,053)	  (129,030)	  (341,183)
Investments	  5,962 	  44,165 	  45,904 	  96,031 
				 
Revenue for the following customers represent more than 10% of total revenue in Infectious Diseases:	
National Institutes of Health (NIH), USA, DKK 68.0 million
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2	 Segment reporting – continued
				    Group	

DKK thousands			   2010	 2009
					  
Geographic split of revenue:
Denmark			    - 	  - 
USA				    313,764 	  67,966 
Other geographic markets			    308 	  6,817 
Revenue			    314,072 	  74,783 

			   Group	 Parent Company

DKK thousands	 2010	 2009	 2010	 2009
			

3	 Revenue			 
RFP-3 IMVAMUNE® sale	  214,945 	  - 	  214,945 	  - 
Contract work	  98,819 	  67,966 	  98,819 	  67,966 
Product sale	  308 	  6,817 	  308 	  6,817 
Revenue	 314,072 	  74,783 	  314,072	  74,783 
		
Total revenue includes:			 
Fair value adjustment transferred from equity concerning			 
financial instruments entered into to hedge revenues	  (745)	  - 	  (745) 	  - 

4	 Production costs			 
Cost of goods sold, RFP-3 IMVAMUNE® sale	  136,949 	  - 	  136,949 	  - 
Contract costs	  68,559 	  49,306 	  68,559 	  49,306 
Cost of goods sold, product sales	  27 	  2,602 	  27 	  2,602 
Other production costs	  238,933 	  88,190 	  238,984 	  88,190 
Production costs	  444,468 	  140,098 	  444,519 	  140,098



Notes

		  Financial Statements   |   Annual Report 2010  	63

	  		  Group 	 Parent Company 

DKK thousands 	 2010 	 2009 	 2010 	 2009

5	 Staff costs			 
Wages and salaries	  206,513 	  181,248 	  122,813 	  105,268 
Contribution based pension	  14,245 	  12,182 	  10,411 	  8,782 
Social security expenses	  7,605 	  7,479 	  1,132 	  1,180 
Other staff expenses	  18,342 	  13,708 	  11,902 	  10,482 
Share-based payment	  25,503 	  8,063 	  25,503 	  7,530 
Staff costs	  272,208 	  222,680 	  171,761 	  133,242 
		
Staff expenses are distributed as follows:			 
Production costs	  120,370 	  95,377 	  103,237 	  72,983 
Research and development costs	  73,636 	  52,782 	  11,888 	  4,010 
Distribution costs	  15,658 	  10,172 	  13,597 	  8,832 
Administrative costs	  54,907 	  47,107 	  41,949 	  43,924 
Capitalised salaries 	  7,637 	  17,242 	  1,090 	  3,493 
Staff costs	  272,208 	  222,680 	  171,761 	  133,242 
		
Of which:			 
Board of Directors:			 
Remuneration to the Board of Directors	  1,400 	  1,200 	  1,400 	  1,200 
Share-based payment	  1,491 	  1,026 	  1,491 	  1,026 
		
President of the company:			 
Salary	  5,282 	  5,346 	  5,282 	  5,346 
Contribution based pension	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 
Share-based payment	  1,797 	  955 	  1,797 	  955 
		
Group Management:			 
Salaries	  14,741 	  15,471 	  8,267 	  8,424 
Contribution based pension	  719 	  1,085 	  615 	  730 
Share-based payment	  4,462 	  2,813 	  3,029 	  2,813 
Severance costs	  8,951 	  - 	  8,951 	  - 
		
Total management remuneration	  38,843 	  27,896 	  30,832 	  20,494 

By the end of third quarter 2010, group management was reduced by three members. Two members of group management resigned. 
Severance costs of DKK 8,951 thousands include expenses for share-based payment of DKK 4,092 thousands.

A long term incentive agreement was entered into with Paul Chaplin in December 2009. The incentive scheme offers one-off payments 
ranging from EUR 150.000 up to EUR 1.5 million. The one-off payments are subject to achievement of various possible future milestones 
and are furthermore conditioned upon continuing employment (irrespective of the position held) with the Company at the time of the 
achievement of the respective milestone event. The long term incentive scheme will cease to be effective as of 31 December 2015. 
Bavarian Nordic A/S has no obligation to continue with other similar programmes after this date.

Incentive programmes are disclosed in note 25.

Members of the group management have contracts of employment containing standard conditions for members of the group manage-
ment of Danish listed companies, including with regard to the periods of notice that both parties are required to give and competition 
clauses. If contract of employment is terminated by Bavarian Nordic, without there having been misconduct on the part of the group 
management, the group management has the right to compensation, which, depending of the circumstances, may amount to maximum 
of two years salary and pension contributions. 						   
	
Average number of employees converted to full-time	  377 	  340 	  206 	  177 
Number of employees as of December 31 converted to full-time	  402 	  354 	  226 	  185
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	  		  Group 	 Parent Company 

DKK thousands 	 2010 	 2009 	 2010 	 2009

6	 Depreciation and amortisation			 
Depreciation and amortisation included in:			 
Production costs	  35,112 	  37,839 	  35,084 	  37,748 
Research and development costs	  3,610 	  6,842 	  292 	  138 
Administrative costs	  11,013 	  5,463 	  9,498 	  6,272 
Depreciation and amortisation	  49,735 	  50,144 	  44,874 	  44,158 
			
Hereof profit ()/loss from disposed fixed assets	  (25)	  14 	  (25)	  - 

7	 Fees to auditor appointed at the annual general meeting			 
Statutory audit of annual accounts	  706 	  706 	  591 	  591 
Other assurance services	  2,076 	  416 	  2,076 	  375 
Tax advisory	  2,084 	  803 	  1,946 	  665 
Other services	  139 	  680 	  139 	  656 
Fees	  5,005 	  2,605 	  4,752 	  2,287

8	 Financial income			 
Financial income from securities and realised/unrealised  
capital gains on securities measured at the fair value  
through the income statement	  3,178 	  7,225 	  3,178 	  7,225 
Financial income from bank and deposit contracts	  1,011 	  10,584 	  1,010 	  10,579 
Financial income from subsidiaries	  - 	  - 	  23,724 	  6,289 
Financial income	  4,189 	  17,809 	  27,912 	  24,093 

9	 Financial expenses			 
Interest expenses on debt	  7,993 	  6,214 	  7,911 	  6,207 
Financial leasing expenses	  108 	  653 	  108 	  653 
Adjustment of net present value of provisions	  1,767 	  - 	  1,767 	  - 
Financial expenses to subsidiaries	  - 	  - 	  627 	  725 
Net expenses from exchange rate adjustments	  3,674 	  892 	  3,775 	  546 
Financial expenses	  13,542	  7,759 	  14,188 	  8,131 
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	  		  Group 	 Parent Company 

DKK thousands 	 2010 	 2009 	 2010 	 2009

10	 Tax for the year			 
Current tax on profit for the year	  1,944 	  2,809 	  - 	  - 
Change in deferred tax	  (95,093)	  (67,863)	  (94,946)	  (67,863)
Adjustments to deferred tax for previous years	  (298)	  - 	  (298)	  - 
Adjustments current tax for previous years	  (82)	  199 	  - 	  - 
Tax for the year recognised in the income statement 	  (93,529)	  (64,855)	  (95,244)	  (67,863)
		
Tax on income for the year is explained as follows:			 
		
Income before company tax	  (483,440)	  (331,133)	  (401,620)	  (279,048)
		
Calculated tax (25%) tax on income before company tax	  (120,860)	  (82,783)	  (100,405)	  (69,762)
Tax effect on:			 
Different percentage in foreign subsidiaries	  (411)	  1,100 	  - 	  - 
Tax values in foreign subsidairies, not included	  22,688 	  15,122 	  - 	  - 
Permanent differences	  5,459 	  1,899 	  5,459 	  1,899 
Adjustments to deferred tax for previous years	  (298)	  - 	  (298)	  - 
Other corrections 	  (107)	  (193)	  - 	  - 
Tax on income for the year	  (93,529)	  (64,855)	  (95,244)	  (67,863)
		
Tax recognised directly in equity:			 
Tax on costs related to issue of new shares	  -	  (94)	  -	  (94)
Tax for the year recognised directly in equity	  -	  (94)	  -	  (94)
		
Tax recognised in the comprehensive income:			 
Tax on fair value adjustment of financial instruments  
entered into to hedge future cash flow	  (5,381)	  (6,797)	  (5,381)	  (6,797)
Tax for the year recognised in the comprehensive income	  (5,381)	  (6,797)	  (5,381)	  (6,797)
		
Deferred tax			 
Recognised deferred tax assets relates to temporary differences			 
between valuations for accounting and taxation purposes and 			 
tax losses carried forward:			 
Tangible assets	  (16,132)	  (25,755)	  (16,132)	  (25,608)
Intangible assets	  (26,095)	  (29,553)	  (26,095)	  (29,553)
Financial instruments	 7,985	 -	 7,985	 -
Obligations	  4,501 	  1,743 	  4,501	  1,743 
Inventories	  12,405 	  572 	  12,405 	  572 
Accrued project costs	 (1,491)	 -	 (1,491)	 -
Prepayment from customers	  95,451 	  69,160 	  95,451 	  69,160 
Tax losses carried forward	  257,793 	  217,478 	  257,793 	  217,478 
Recognised deferred tax assets	  334,417 	  233,645 	  334,417 	  233,792 

Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences for tax purposes and tax losses carried forward are recognised as these will be 
offset against future taxable income.

Recognized tax loss carried forward relates only to Bavarian Nordic A/S. Based on budgets and forecasts, including a partnership agree-
ment on PROSTVAC®, it is the management’s assessment that the tax loss carried forward will be used within a few years.

The tax asset of non-recognised tax losses and tax credits carried forward, with certain limitations, in subsidiaries amounts to  
DKK 114.9 million (DKK 73.4 million).			 



Notes

	66	 Annual Report 2010   |   Financial Statements

				    Group	

DKK thousands 			   2010	 2009

11	 Earnings per share (EPS)
Profit for the Parent company´s shareholders			    (389,911)	  (266,278)
Weighted average of shares (thousand units)			    11,640 	  7,821
Earnings per share of DKK 10			    (33.5)	  (34.0)
Diluted earnings per share of DKK 10			    (33.5)	  (34.0)
		
In accordance with IAS 33, the weighted average number of shares, when calculating  
diluted earnings, equals earnings per share, as the inclusion of potential shares would  
improve earnings per share.
		
As of 31 December 2010 the following warrants are excluded by calculating the average  
number of shares in calculating diluted earnings per share:  
		
2010-programmes 			   346,200	 -
2009-programmes			    344,601 	 295,000
2008-programme			    183,635 	 158,500 
2007-programme			    177,670 	  150,000 
2006-programme			    - 	  138,840
Outstanding warrants, re. note 25			   1,052,106	 742,340
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			   Acquired		  Intangible  
			   patents and		  assets under	 2010 
DKK thousands	  licenses 	 Software	 construction	 Total

12	 Intangible assets - Group 2010			 
Costs as of 1 January 2010	  13,992 	  37,222 	  102,117 	  153,331 
Additions	  - 	  3,312 	  12,855 	  16,167 
Transfer	  (297)	  5,785 	  (5,488)	  - 
Disposals	  - 	  (78)	  - 	  (78)
Exchange rate adjustments 	  581 	  2 	  - 	  583 
Cost as of 31 December 2010	  14,276 	  46,243 	  109,484 	  170,003 
			
Amortisation as of 1 January 2010	  5,233 	  21,297 	  - 	  26,530 
Amortisation	  944 	  8,972 	  - 	  9,916 
Transfer	  (82)	  82 	  - 	  - 
Disposals	  - 	  (78)	  - 	  (78)
Exchange rate adjustments 	  49 	  1 	  - 	  50 
Amortisation as of 31 December 2010	  6,144 	  30,274 	  - 	  36,418 
			
Book value as of 31 December 2010	  8,132 	  15,969 	  109,484 	  133,585 
			
			

12	 Intangible assets - Parent company 2010			 
Costs as of 1 January 2010	  6,864 	  36,195 	  102,117 	  145,176 
Additions	  - 	  3,312 	  12,855 	  16,167 
Transfer	  - 	  5,488 	  (5,488)	  - 
Disposals	  - 	  (78)	  - 	  (78)
Cost as of 31 December 2010	  6,864 	  44,917 	  109,484 	  161,265 
			
Amortisation as of 1 January 2010	  4,622 	  20,270 	  - 	  24,892 
Amortisation	  449 	  8,872 	  - 	  9,321 
Disposals	  - 	  (78)	  - 	  (78)
Amortisation as of 31 December 2010	  5,071 	  29,064 	  - 	  34,135 
			
Book value as of 31 December 2010	  1,793 	  15,853 	  109,484 	  127,130 
			
Intangible assets under construction include development costs related to the registration of IMVAMUNE® under the RFP-3 contract  
(DKK 108.1 million) and investment in software.			 
			
Geographical split of intangible assets - Group 2010			 
Denmark				     127,130 
USA					     6,455 
						      133,585 
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			   Acquired		  Intangible  
			   patents and		  assets under	 2009 
DKK thousands	  licenses 	 Software	 construction	 Total

12	 Intangible assets - Group 2009			 
Costs as of 1 January 2009	  12,149 	  16,707 	  79,024 	  107,880 
Additions	  1,861 	  5,578 	  38,033 	  45,472 
Transfer	  - 	  14,940 	  (14,940)	  - 
Exchange rate adjustments 	  (18)	  (3)	  - 	  (21)
Cost as of 31 December 2009	  13,992 	  37,222 	  102,117 	  153,331 
		
Amortisation as of 1 January 2009	  4,262 	  16,389 	  - 	  20,651 
Amortisation	  989 	  4,911 	  - 	  5,900 
Exchange rate adjustments	  (18)	  (3)	  - 	  (21)
Amortisation as of 31 December 2009	  5,233 	  21,297 	  - 	  26,530 
		
Book value as of 31 December 2009	  8,759 	  15,925 	  102,117 	  126,801 
		
		

12	 Intangible assets - Parent company 2009			 
Costs as of 1 January 2009	  6,864 	  15,677 	  79,024 	  101,565 
Additions	  - 	  5,578 	  38,033 	  43,611 
Transfer	  - 	  14,940 	  (14,940)	  - 
Cost as of 31 December 2009	  6,864 	  36,195 	  102,117 	  145,176 
		
Amortisation as of 1 January 2009	  4,174 	  15,360 	  - 	  19,534 
Amortisation	  448 	  4,910 	  - 	  5,358 
Amortisation as of 31 December 2009	  4,622 	  20,270 	  - 	  24,892 
		
Book value as of 31 December 2009	  2,242 	  15,925 	  102,117 	  120,284 
		
Intangible assets under construction include development costs related to the registration of IMVAMUNE® under the RFP-3 contract  
(DKK 96.0 million) and investment in software (DKK 6.1 million).			 
		
Geographical split of intangible assets - Group 2009			 
Denmark				     120,284 
USA					     6,517 
						      126,801 
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						      Fixtures and 
						      fittings, other	 Assets 
			   Land and	 Leasehold	 Plant and	 plant and 	 under	 2010 
DKK thousands	 buildings	 improvement	 machinery	 equipment	 construction	 Total

13	 Tangible assets - Group 2010			 
Costs as of 1 January 2010	  172,999 	  10,993 	  224,249 	  66,650 	  42,049 	  516,940 
Additions	  14,122 	  15,551 	  1,171 	  7,473 	  7,357 	  45,674 
Transfer	  24,087 	  1,231 	  - 	  1,606 	  (26,924)	  - 
Exchange rate adjustments 	  - 	  187 	  - 	  638 	  13 	  838 
Cost as of 31 December 2010	  211,208 	  27,962 	  225,420 	  76,367 	  22,495 	  563,452 
			
Depreciation of 1 January 2010	  22,074 	  8,676 	  79,504 	  52,202 	  - 	  162,456 
Depreciation	  9,206 	  858 	  24,189 	  5,591 	  - 	  39,844 
Exchange rate adjustments 	  - 	  123 	  - 	  214 	  - 	  337 
Depreciation as of 31 December 2010	  31,280 	  9,657 	  103,693 	  58,007 	  - 	  202,637 
			
Book value as of 31 December 2010	  179,928 	  18,305 	  121,727 	  18,360 	  22,495 	  360,815 
			
Book value of leased assets 
as of 31 December 2010	  - 	  - 	  5,804 	  - 	  - 	 5,804 
			

13	 Tangible assets - Parent company 2010			 
Costs as of 1 January 2010	  172,999 	  1,657 	  224,249 	  19,233 	  39,520 	  457,658 
Additions	  14,122 	  348 	  1,171 	  5,411 	  6,897 	  27,949 
Transfer	  24,087 	  - 	  - 	  295 	  (24,382)	  - 
Cost as of 31 December 2010	  211,208 	  2,005 	  225,420 	  24,939 	  22,035 	  485,607 
			
Depreciation of 1 January 2010	  22,074 	  126 	  79,504 	  13,975 	  - 	  115,679 
Depreciation	  9,206 	  355 	  24,189 	  1,828 	  - 	  35,578 
Depreciation as of 31 December 2010	  31,280 	  481 	  103,693 	  15,803 	  - 	  151,257 
			
Book value as of 31 December 2010	  179,928 	  1,524 	  121,727 	  9,136 	  22,035 	  334,350 
			
Book value of leased assets  
as of 31 December 2010	  - 	  - 	 5,804 	  - 	  - 	  5,804 
			
Tangible assets under construction mainly include investment in new boiler plant and TFF equipment for production in Kvistgård (DKK 5.7 
million) and expansion and upgrade of canteen facility in Kvistgård (DKK 1.6 million).			
			
As guarantee for mortgage loans of DKK 42 million is a total pledge of DKK 50 million in the property Bøgeskovvej 9/Hejreskovvej 10, 
Kvistgård, Denmark. In addition, as of 31 December 2010 mortgage deeds of total of DKK 75 million have been issued for guarantee on 
loan of DKK 65 million. The book value of assets pledged as collateral for mortgage and construction loan amounts to DKK 302 million.
			
Geographical split of tangible assets - Group 2010			 
Denmark						       334,350 
Europe, other			    			   22,450 
USA							       4,015 
								        360,815 
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						      Fixtures and 
						      fittings, other	 Assets 
			   Land and	 Leasehold	 Plant and	 plant and 	 under	 2009 
DKK thousands	 buildings	 improvement	 machinery	 equipment	 construction	 Total

13	 Tangible assets - Group 2009			 
Costs as of 1 January 2009	  168,278 	  8,865 	  222,615 	  59,598 	  7,778 	  467,134 
Additions	  4,721 	  2,199 	  1,634 	  7,734 	  41,768 	  58,056 
Transfer	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (7,497)	  (7,497)
Disposals	  - 	  (33)	  - 	  (551)	  - 	  (584)
Exchange rate adjustments 	  - 	  (38)	  - 	  (131)	  - 	  (169)
Cost as of 31 December 2009	  172,999 	  10,993 	  224,249 	  66,650 	  42,049 	  516,940 
			
Depreciation of 1 January 2009	  14,199 	  7,681 	  50,241 	  46,844 	  - 	  118,965 
Depreciation	  7,875 	  1,067 	  29,263 	  6,025 	  - 	  44,230 
Disposals	  - 	  (33)	  - 	  (537)	  - 	 (570)
Exchange rate adjustments 	  - 	  (39)	  - 	  (130)	  - 	 (169)
Depreciation as of 31 December 2009	  22,074 	  8,676 	  79,504 	  52,202 	  - 	  162,456 
			
Book value as of 31 December 2009	  150,925 	  2,317 	  144,745 	  14,448 	  42,049 	  354,484 
			
Book value of leased assets  
as of 31 December 2009	  - 	  - 	  48,505	  - 	  - 	  48,505 
			

13	 Tangible assets - Parent company 2009			 
Costs as of 1 January 2009	  168,278 	  - 	  222,615 	  16,302 	  7,050 	  414,245 
Additions	  4,721 	  1,657 	  1,634 	  3,156 	  39,239 	  50,407 
Transfer	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (6,769)	  (6,769)
Disposals	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (225)	  - 	 (225)
Cost as of 31 December 2009	  172,999 	  1,657 	  224,249 	  19,233 	  39,520 	  457,658 
			
Depreciation of 1 January	  14,199 	  - 	  50,241 	  12,664 	  - 	  77,104 
Depreciation	  7,875 	  126 	  29,263 	  1,536 	  - 	  38,800 
Disposals	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (225)	  - 	 (225)
Depreciation as of 31 December 2009	  22,074 	  126 	  79,504 	  13,975 	  - 	  115,679 
			
Book value as of 31 December 2009	  150,925 	  1,531 	  144,745 	  5,258 	  39,520 	  341,979 
			
Book value of leased assets  
as of 31 December 2009	  - 	  - 	  48,505 	  - 	  - 	  48,505 
			
Tangible assets under construction mainly includes investment in new QC laboratory (DKK 23.6 million) and production equipment  
(DKK 16.0 million).			 
			
As guarantee for mortgage loans of DKK 43 million is a total pledge of DKK 50 million in the property Bøgeskovvej 9/Hejreskovvej 10, 
Kvistgård, Denmark. In addition, as of 31 December 2009 mortgage deeds of total of DKK 75 million have been issued for guarantee on 
loan of DKK 66 million. The book value of assets pledged as collateral for mortgage and construction loan amounts to DKK 296 million.		
	
Geographical split of tangible assets - Group 2009	 		
Denmark			    			   341,979 
Europe, other						       8,498 
USA			   				    4,007 
								        354,484 
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				    Parent Company	

DKK thousands			   2010	 2009

14	 Investment in subsidiaries			 
Cost of subsidiaries as of 1 January			    183,657 	  147,757 
Additions			    - 	  35,900 
Cost of subsidiaries as of 31 December 			    183,657 	  183,657 
				 
Write-down as of 1 January			    - 	  - 
Disposals			    - 	  - 
Write down as of 31 December			    - 	  - 
				 
Book value as of 31 December			    183,657 	  183,657 

	
	Company summary		  Domicile	 Ownership	 Voting rights
			
Subsidiaries			 
Bavarian Nordic GmbH		   Tyskland 	  100% 	  100% 
BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc.		   USA 	  100% 	  100% 
	  Bavarian Nordic Inc.		   USA 	  100% 	  100% 

Representative office			 
Bavarian Nordic A/S		  Singapore		

In December 2009, Bavarian Nordic A/S obtained full ownership of the subsidiary BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc. by purchasing shares in 
BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc. from the CEO and President in BNIT and Division President in Bavarian Nordic A/S, Reiner Laus, and two 
former employees in the subsidiary.			 
			
The companies in USA are not under audit obligations.			 
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	  		  Group 	 Parent Company 

DKK thousands 	 2010 	 2009 	 2010 	 2009

15	 Inventories			 
Raw materials and supply materials	  24,031 	  22,907 	  18,970 	  20,455 
Work in progress	  191,693 	  236,663 	  191,694 	  236,663 
Manufactured goods and commodities	  13,390 	  20,753 	  13,390 	  20,753 
Write-down on inventory	  (107,662)	  (33,855)	  (107,662)	  (33,855)
Inventories	  121,452 	  246,468 	  116,392 	  244,016 
			
Write-down on inventory 1 January	  (33,855)	  (42,738)	  (33,855)	  (42,738)
Write-down during the year	  (101,370)	  (9,584)	  (101,370)	  (9,584)
Use of write-down	  19,886 	  - 	  19,886 	  - 
Reversal of write-down	  7,677 	  18,467 	  7,677 	  18,467 
Write-down on inventory 31 December	  (107,662)	  (33,855)	  (107,662)	 (33,855)
			
Cost of goods sold amounts to	  136,976 	  2,602 	  136,976 	  2,602 

16	 Trade receivables 			 
Trade receivables from RFP-3 IMVAMUNE® sale	  23,868	  - 	  23,868 	  - 
Trade receivables from product sale and contract work	  13,054 	  15,095 	  13,054 	  15,095 
Trade receivables	  36,922 	  15,095 	  36,922 	  15,095 
			
There are no overdue receivables and  
no provision for bad debts.			 

17	 Other receivables			 
Accrued project costs	 5,964	 9,806 	 5,964 	  9,806 
Other receivables	  7,770 	  21,579 	  5,767 	  20,423
Other receivables	  13,734 	  31,385 	  11,731 	  30,229 
			
Other receivables are measured at amortised cost.			 
Accrued project costs will generate revenue in 
the following fiscal year.

18	 Prepayments			 
Prepayments filling costs	  95,280 	  68,976 	  95,280 	  68,976 
Other prepayments	  14,263 	  9,059 	  11,181 	  6,665 
Prepayments	  109,543 	  78,035 	  106,461 	  75,641 
			
IDT Biologika GmbH has issued bank guarantees covering the  
received prepayments of future fillings of IMVAMUNE®.

19	 Other liablities			 
Financial instruments at fair value	  31,942 	  9,673 	  31,942 	  9,673 
Liability relating to phantom shares	 3,810	 275	 3,810	 275
Other liablities	  67,428 	  102,324 	  53,653	  88,859 
Other liabilities	  103,180	  112,272 	  89,405 	  98,807 
			
Except from financial instruments and liability relating to 
phantom shares, other debts are measured at amortised cost.			 
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	  		  Group 	 Parent Company 

DKK thousands 	 2010 	 2009 	 2010 	 2009

20	 Financial risks and financial instruments		

Categories of financial instruments		
Derivative financial instruments to hedge future cash flows (currency)	  (29,895)	  (9,008)	  (29,895)	  (9,008)
Derivative financial instruments to hedge future cash flows (interest)	  (2,047)	  (665)	  (2,047)	  (665)
Financial assets/liabilities used as hedging instruments	  (31,942)	  (9,673)	  (31,942)	  (9,673)
		
Trade receivables	  36,922 	  15,095 	  36,922 	  15,095 
Receivables from subsidiaries	  - 	  - 	  165,304 	  69,645 
Other receivables	  7,770	  21,579 	  5,767	  20,423 
Cash and cash equivalents	  266,783 	  80,954 	  259,725 	  71,925 
Loan and receivables 	  311,475 	  117,628	  467,718	  177,088 
		
Securities	  88,871 	  104,045 	  88,871 	  104,045 
Financial assets measured at 
fair value in the income statement	  88,871 	  104,045 	  88,871 	  104,045 
		
Mortgage debt	  41,942 	  43,454 	  41,942 	  43,454 
Bank debt	  64,621 	  66,388 	  64,621 	  66,388 
Financial lease commitments	  234 	  8,964 	  234 	  8,964 
Trade payables	  50,085 	  48,020 	  43,061 	  41,747 
Other liabilities	  67,428 	  102,324 	  53,653	  88,859 
Payables to subsidiaries	  - 	  - 	  36,120 	  43,496 
Financial obligations measured at amortised cost	  224,310 	  269,150 	  239,631 	 292,908
	
Liability relating to phantom shares	 3,810	 275	 3,810	 275
Financial liabilities measured at 
fair value in the income statement	  3,810	  275	  3,810	  275

Policy for managing financial risks
Through its operations, investments and financing the Bavarian Nordic Group is exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates and interest 
rates. These risks are managed centrally in the parent company, which manages the Group´s liquidity. The Group pursues a financial 
policy approved by the Board of Directors. The policy operates with a low risk profile, so that exchange rate risks, interest rate risks and 
credit risks arise only in commercial relation. Thus, the Group does not undertake any active speculation in financial risk.

The Group´s capital structure is regularly assessed by the Board of Directors relative to the Group´s cash flow position and cash flow 
budgets.
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20	 Financial risks and financial instruments – continued		

Currency risks
The Group´s exchange rate exposure is primarily to USD and EUR. The exchange rate exposure to USD is hedged to the greatest possible 
extent by matching incoming and outgoing payments denominated in USD. Furthermore in connection with the RFP-3 contract, the Group 
entered into forward currency contracts for USD 300 million to hedge future cash flows from the contract. As of 31 December 2010, the 
balance on the unsettled forward currency contract was USD 46 million. Furthermore the construction loan of originally DKK 68 million 
has been swapped into USD upon renewal mid 2009 and works as a hedge of USD revenue.

The forward currency contracts are subject to a sensitivity which affects equity equivalent to DKK 4.6 million per 0.10 points of change in 
the USD/DKK exchange rate.		
	
The forward currency contracts further affect equity with respect to the forward premiums/discounts that apply to extension of the 
forward currency contracts. These forward premiums/discounts reflect the difference in interest rates between the two currencies. At 
the current interest rate levels, neither a forward premium nor a forward discount applies, and the sensitivity of the forward currency 
contracts is very limited. A rise in the USD/DKK exchange rate will affect the equity adversely.		
		
The sensitivity to exchange rate fluctuations of bank deposits denominated in USD, per USD 1 million, is DKK 0.1 million per 0.10 points of 
change in the USD/DKK exchange rate.

Exchange rate risks in respect of recognised financial assets and liabilities
The Group’s exposure to currency is shown below.

			  Cash and
			   cash equivalents,		  Non-current			   Non-secure 
DKK thousands	 Securities	 Receivables	 liabilities	 Net position	 Covered	 net position

				 
2010 Group				  
DKK		  341,666 	  10,164 	  (181,828)	  170,002 	  - 	  170,002 
EUR		  460 	  1,779 	  (11,123)	  (8,884)	  - 	  (8,884)
USD		  13,528 	  39,348 	  (81,937)	  (29,061)	 - 	  (29,061)
As of 31 December 2010	  355,654 	  51,291 	  (274,888)	  132,057 	 -	  132,057 
				 
2010 Parent Company				  
DKK		  341,666 	  10,164 	  (181,828)	  170,002 	  - 	  170,002 
EUR		  962 	  - 	  (35,532)	  (34,570)	  - 	  (34,570)
USD		  5,968 	  203,793 	  (72,820)	  136,941 	  - 	  136,941 
As of 31 December 2010	  348,596 	  213,957 	  (290,180)	  272,373 	  -	  272,373 
				 
				 
2009 Group				  
DKK		  161,056 	  - 	  (123,084)	  37,972 	  - 	  37,972 
EUR		  7,575 	  10,016 	  (30,422)	  (12,831)	  - 	  (12,831)
USD		  16,368 	  36,464 	  (136,744)	  (83,912)	  - 	  (83,912)
As of 31 December 2009	  184,999 	  46,480 	  (290,250)	  (58,771)	  - 	  (58,771)
				 
2009 Parent Company				  
DKK		  161,056 	  - 	  (123,084)	  37,972 	  - 	  37,972 
EUR		  6,059 	  8,862 	  (63,865)	  (48,944)	  - 	  (48,944)
USD		  8,855 	  106,107 	  (127,006)	  (12,044)	  - 	  (12,044)
As of 31 December 2009	  175,970 	  114,969 	  (313,955)	  (23,016)	 -	 (23,016)



Notes

		  Financial Statements   |   Annual Report 2010  	 75

20	 Financial risks and financial instruments – continued		

Interest rate and cash risks				  
It is the Group’s policy to hedge interest rate risks on loans whenever it is deemed that interest payments can be hedged at a satisfac-
tory level relative to the related costs. Hedging will then consist of interest rate swaps that convert floating rate loans to fixed rate loans. 
The interest rate risk involved in placing cash funds and investing in securities is managed on the basis of duration. 	
			
The Group´s bank deposits are placed in term deposits for terms of less than one year. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents totalled 
DKK 266.8 million (DKK 81.0 million).		

The Group’s fixed rate bond portfolio expire as shown below. Amount indicated are excluding interests. 
			

			   Group and Parent Company 	 Group and Parent Company  
			   2010	 2009	

			   Fair value as of 	 Effective	 Fair value as of	 Effective 
DKK thousands	 31 December	 interest	 31 December	 interest

Bond portfolio				  
Within 0-2 years	  33,468 	 1.4%	  72,813 	 4.1%
Within 2-5 years	  18,406 	 2.0%	  10,268 	 3.3%
After 5 years	  36,997 	 3.8%	  20,964 	 4.3%
Total	  88,871 	 2.5%	  104,045 	 4.1%
			
Fluctuations in interest rate levels affect the Group’s bond portfolio. An increase in the interest rate level by 1 percentage point relative to 
the interest rate level on the balance sheet date would have had a negative effect on DKK 0-2 million on the Group´s result and equity 
(DKK 0-2 million). A corresponding fall in the interest rate level would have had an equivalent positive effect on the result and equity.	

With respect to the Group´s bank deposits at floating rates, an increase in the applicable interest rate by 1 percentage point would have 
had a positive effect on the Group’s result and equity of DKK 0-1 million. A corresponding fall in the interest rate would have had an 
equivalent negative effect. Note 22 shows the due dates of financial liabilities.

Credit risks
The primary credit risk relates to trade receivables. The Group´s customers are predominantly public authorities, and the credit risk on the 
Company´s receivables is therefore considered to be very low.
As of 31 December 2010, none of the receivables are overdue.

Cash and cash equivalents are not deemed to be subject to any special credit risk as they are deposited with Nordea and invested in 
bonds, either government bonds, Danish mortgage bonds or bonds issued by Danish banks with high ratings. 

Hedge accounting of expected future cash flows
The Group has forward currency contracts to hedge revenues in USD and interest rate swaps to hedge interest payments on non-current 
liabilities. The fair value adjustment of these derivatives at year end is recognised directly in equity and in the relevant line items as the 
financial contracts are realised.

As of 31 December 2010, the accumulated fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments to hedge future cash flows amounts 
to DKK -5.5 million after tax (DKK 10.7 million). This amount has been recognised in equity. 

The Group has entered into one interest rate swap to hedge the interest payments on USD loan. The accumulated fair value adjustment 
of DKK -2.0 million is recognized in equity (DKK -0.7 million). The interest rate swap runs until repayment of the hedged loan.
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20	 Financial risks and financial instruments – continued		

As of 31 December 2010, the forward currency contracts entered into to hedge future cash flows amounted to USD 143 million, of which 
USD 46 million remains unsettled as of 31 December 2010 and USD 97 million has been settled. In 2009 forward currency contracts of 
DKK 129 million was settled. The accumulated fair value adjustment of the forward currency contracts settled at the settlement date was 
negative by USD 3.0 million and is recognised in equity. In 2010 USD 32 million of settled forward currency contracts have been used as 
doses have been delivered to U.S. authorities, so by year end USD 97 million remain. A proportionate share of the accumulated fair value 
adjustment on the settled forward currency contracts is recognized as revenue in 2010 (USD 0.7 million), while the remaining adjustment 
is still recognized in equity. In 2009 some of the fair value adjustment on open forward currency contracts had been settled in cash, 
DKK 26.9 million, and the fair value has been reduced accordingly. The settled amount remains recognised in equity until the originally 
hedged transactions take place. The accumulated fair value adjustment of forward currency contracts (incl. settled in cash) amounts to 
USD -5.3 million before tax (DKK 14.9 million). 

The term to maturity of the forward currency contracts is approximately one month, but they are extended regulary, and they will hedge 
expected cash flow under the RFP-3 contract equalling approx. three million doses within the comming year.

			   2010	 2009

					     Fair value			   Fair value 
					     adjustment			   adjustment 
			   Contract		  recognised	 Contract		  recognised 
			   amount 	 Fair value	 in other	 amount	 Fair value	 in other 
			   based on 	 as of	 comprehensive	 based on	 as of	 comprehensive 
DKK thousands	 agreed rates	 31 December	 income 	 agreed rates	 31 December	 income

Interest rate swap				  
USD - fixed rate 2.3046% p.a.	  64,621 	  (2,047)	  (1,382)	  66,388 	  (665)	  (1,625)
	Forward currency contracts
USD 46 million	  226,693 	  (29,895)	  (20,887)	  228,643 	  (9,008)	  (25,560)
				    (31,942)	  (22,269)		   (9,673)	  (27,185)

DKK thousands			   2010	 2009
				 
Accumulated effect on equity
				 
Interest rate swap
Fair value as of 31 December					      (2,047)	  (665)
Accumulated fair value adjustment interest rate swap				     (2,047)	  (665)
				 
Forward currency contracts				  
Fair value on open forward currency contracts (USD 46 million)				     (29,895)	  (9,008)
Settled in cash on open forward currency contracts (USD 46 million)				    26,859 	  26,859 
Fair value adjustment on settled forward currency contracts (USD 129 million)			    (2,980)	  (2,980)
- of which used/recognised as revenue (USD -32 million)				     745 	  - 
Accumulated fair value adjustment on forward currency contracts (USD 143 million)			    (5,271)	  14,871 

Accumulated fair value adjustment on derivative financial instruments as of 31 December		   (7,318)	  14,206 
Tax effect					      1,831 	  (3,550)

Accumulated effect on equity as of 31 December				     (5,487)	  10,656 
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20	 Financial risks and financial instruments – continued
		
Optimisation of capital structure
The company´s management regularly assesses whether the Group´s capital structure best serves the company´s and its shareholders´ 
interest. The overall goal is to ensure that the Group has a capital structure which supports its long-term growth target.

The current capital structure is deemed to be appropriate in view of the Group’s R&D programmes and the coming stockpiling for the 
RFP-3 contract. Please refer to the Management Review.
			
Method and assumption to determine fair value
The Group has financial instruments measured at fair value at level 1 and level 2.

Securities (level 1)
The stock of public traded government bonds and public traded mortgage bonds are valued at listed prices and price quotas.

Derivative financial instruments (level 2)
Forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps are valued according to generally accepted valuation methods based on relevant 
observable swap curves and exchange rates.

				    Group and  
				    Parent Company

DKK thousands			   2010	 2009

21	 Provisions

Provisions as of 1 January			    11,099 	  - 
Additions during the year			    3,698 	  11,099 
Disposals during the year			    - 	  - 
Provisions as of 31 December			    14,797 	  11,099 

					     Due within	 Due between	 Due after	  
	 Provisions			   1 year	 1 and 5 years	 5 years	 Total

2010	  6,089 	  6,076 	  2,632 	  14,797 
2009	  - 	  5,122 	  5,977 	  11,099 

As part of an agreement entered into between the Company and Reiner Laus regarding the Company’s purchase of shares in BN Immu-
noTherapeutics Inc. in December 2009, Reiner Laus is entitled to receive a consideration triggered upon successful achievement of certain 
predefined milestones. In addition thereto a separate agreement regarding cancellation of certain contractual rights for Reiner Laus’ sale 
of shares in BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc. entitles Reiner Laus to a consideration upon successful achievement of certain pre-defined 
milestones.

When calculating the provision as of 31. December 2010 changed assessment of certain risk factors have increased the provision of DKK 
0.6 million. The amount is expensed under administrative costs. Currency adjustment of the obligation (USD) and adjustment of the net 
present value is recognised as financial expenses (note 9).

The total remaining consideration amounts to a maximum of DKK 59 million (risk adjusted net present value of DKK 13 million).

Further, other provisions cover agreement with Paul Chaplin, mentioned in note 5.	
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			   Parent Company and Group

			   Due within	 Due between	 Due after	  
DKK thousands	 1 year	 1 and 5 years	 5 years	 Total

22	 Credit Institutions
							    
2010		
Mortgage, fixed interest 4.1684%	  531 	  2,357 	  19,420 	  22,308 
Mortgage, fixed interest 4.5352%	  1,051 	  4,710 	  13,873 	  19,634 
Financial leasing, variable interest interval 1-2% p.a. *)	  234 	  - 	  - 	  234 
Construction loan, USD, variable interest a) *)	  7,180 	  57,441 	  - 	  64,621 
Total 	  8,996 	  64,508 	  33,293 	  106,797 

2009		
Mortgage, fixed interest 4.1684%	  509 	  2,261 	  20,046 	  22,816 
Mortgage, fixed interest 4.5352%	  1,004 	  4,502 	  15,132 	  20,638 
Financial leasing, variable interest interval 2.2-7.6% p.a. *)	  8,729 	  235 	  - 	  8,964 
Construction loan, USD, variable interest a) *)	  6,639 	  59,749 	  - 	  66,388 
Total 	  16,881 	  66,747 	  35,178 	  118,806 

a) The variable-rate loan is changed to fixed interest of 2.3046% p.a. via a SWAP

*) Annual rate adjustment 

The average lease period is five years. All lease contracts have a fixed repayment profile and no agreements contain provisions on 
conditioned lease payments except for provisions on indexing based on official index. The lease agreements are non-terminable in the 
agreed lease period, but can be extended on renewed terms. The Company has guaranteed the residual value of the assets by the end 
of the lease period.

							        Future 	  Present 
			   Due within	 Due between	 Due after		   interest rate 	  value of 
Minimum financial lease payments	 1 year	 1 and 5 years	 5 years	  Total 	  on lease 	  payments 

2010	  236 	  -   	  -   	  236 	  2	  234 
2009	  8,835 	  236 	  -   	  9,071 	  107	  8,964 
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	  		  Group 	 Parent Company 

DKK thousands 	 2010 	 2009 	 2010 	 2009

23	 Prepayment from customers			 
Prepayment from customers as of 1 January	  276,640 	  276,640 	  276,640 	  276,640 
Prepayments received during the year	  147,965 	  - 	  147,965 	  - 
Recognised as income during the year	  (42,800)	  - 	  (42,800)	  - 
Prepayment from customers as of 31 December	  381,805 	  276,640 	  381,805 	  276,640 

Prepayment of USD 50 million was received in 2007 as a part of the RFP-3 contract for delivery of 20 million vaccines of IMVAMUNE®. If 
Bavarian Nordic fails to fulfil the RFP-3 contract the company has a repayment obligation. It is the Company’s assessment that the repay-
ment obligation is reduced in line with delivery of vaccines, thus a proportionate share of the advance payment is recognised as revenue 
- equivalent to USD 2.50 per vaccine - along with the delivery. In 2010 2 million vaccines were delivered.

In 2010 the Company received a milestone payment of USD 25 million under the RFP-3 contract with the same repayment obligation as 
the prepayment. The milestone payment is treated as the above mentioned prepayment and recognised as revenue in line with delivery 
of vaccines, equivalent to USD 1.25 per vaccine.

DKK thousands			   2010	 2009
				 

24	 Related party transactions			 
The management and Board of Directors of Bavarian Nordic A/S are considered related parties  
as they have significant influence

Intercompany purchases from the subsidiaries comprise:		
		
Research and development costs		
Bavarian Nordic A/S purchase of research and development services from Bavarian Nordic GmbH		   118,107 	  114,463 
Bavarian Nordic A/S purchase of services from Bavarian Nordic Inc.			    8,844 	  7,815 
		
Management fee (income)		
BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc. purchase of management services from Bavarian Nordic A/S		   278 	  257 

Overview of subsidiaries can be found in note 14.

Information on further intercompany transactions and balances can be found in notes 8 and 9.

Apart from Group intercompany transactions, mentioned above, renumeration of the Board of Directors, President of the Company and 
managerial staff, re. note 5, and the warrants programme, re. note 25, and redemption of shares in the BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc., as 
indicated below, there are no significant transactions with related parties.

Transactions with subsidiaries are eliminated in the consolidated accounts, in accordance with the Accounting Policies in note 1.

In December 2009, Bavarian Nordic A/S obtained full ownership of the subsidiary BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc. by purchasing shares in 
BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc. from the CEO and President in BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc. and Division President in Bavarian Nordic A/S, 
Reiner Laus, and two former employees in the subsidiary. Further, stock options issued to employees in the subsidiary were repurchased. 
The transaction was part of Bavarian Nordic’s strategy to strengthen the cancer business area and gave Bavarian Nordic A/S full control 
over the Group’s activities in this field. The consideration to Reiner Laus and the two former employees was paid partly in shares in 
Bavarian Nordic A/S and partly with a number of future milestone payments that are triggered upon the successful completion of a num-
ber of pre-defined development milestones. In addition to this, a separate agreement regarding cancellation of certain contractual rights, 
including anti-dilution rights, regarding BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc., was entered into with Reiner Laus. As compensation, Reiner Laus 
has the right to a number of future milestone payments which are triggered upon successful completion of pre-defined development 
milestones, included as provisions, re. note 21.
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25	 Incentive plans

Share-based payment
In order to motivate and retain key employees and encourage the achievement of common goals for employees, management and 
shareholders, Bavarian Nordic A/S has established share-based compensation programmes by way of warrant plans for the Board of 
Directors, the CEO, the group management and other employees. Furthermore, the Company has established three-year phantom share 
programmes for all employees in the Group.

Warrants
In August 2006, August 2007, October 2008, March 2009, December 2009, May 2010, August 2010 and December 2010 the board of Direc-
tors granted warrants to the company´s management, selected employees of the Company and its subsidiaries and to the company´s 
Board of Directors. See the tables below.

The warrants were granted in accordance with the authorisations given to the Board of Directors by the sharebolders. The Board of 
Directors has fixed the terms of and the size of the grants of warrants, taking into account authorisations from the shareholders, the 
company’s guidelines for incentive pay, an assessment of expectations of the recipient´s work efforts and contribution to the Company´s 
growth, as well as the need to motivate and retain the recipient. In addition, the warrants granted are subject to the provisions of the 
Danish Public Companies Act regarding termination of employees prior to their exercise of warrants in the case of recipients who are 
subject to the act.

The terms of  the warrant plans are included in the Articles of Association (§§ 5 b - 5 l).

Adjustment of outstanding warrants in 2010
The warrant programme has a regulation, that if the decision is taken to increase the capital in Bavarian Nordic and the new shares 
are offered at a price, which is lower than the market price, the exercise price and number of shares, that can be subscribed for, will be 
adjusted to compensate the warrantholder for dilution. The warrant programmes for 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009 are adjusted regarding 
these rules as a result of the rights issue in January 2010 as shown in the below table.

The private placement in November 2010 was at market price, thus the warrant programmes have not been adjusted.

				    As of 2 February 2010 
			   As of 1 January 2010	  (after adjustment)

			   Exercise price 	 Number of	 Exercise price	 Number of 
Programme	 (DKK)	 warrants	 (DKK)	 warrants

August 2006	  542 	  138,840 	  455 	  165,556	
August 2007                                             	  549 	  150,000 	  460 	  178,862	
October 2008                                            	  156 	  158,500 	  131 	  189,000	
March 2009                                                	  124 	  25,000 	  104 	  29,808	
December 2009                                         	  184 	  270,000 	  154 	  321,947	
Outstanding warrants		  742,340		  885,173

In accordance with IFRS 2 an incremental fair value has been calculated based on the adjustment. The incremental fair value is calculated 
as the difference between the assessed value of the programme immediately before the rights issue based on original exercise price 
and number of warrants and the assessed value after the rights issue based on the new exercise price and number of warrants. The total 
incremental fair value amounted to DKK 10.0 million and is expensed over the period from the date of issue until the date when the war-
rant programmes vest. In 2010 DKK 4.9 million of the incremental fair value has been expensed.
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25	 Incentive plans – continued

Outstanding warrant plans as of 31 December		
The exercise price and exercise periods for the individual grants are stated in the tables below.

			   Outstanding 	 Adj. reg.	 Addition				   Outstanding	 Can be	 Average 
			   as of 	 rights	 during	 Options		  Termi-	 as of 31	exercised 31	 exercise 
2010		  1 January	  issue 	  the year 	  exercised 	  Annulled 	  nations 	 December 	  December 	  price 

									      
2006 programme	  138,840 	  26,716 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (165,556)	  - 	  - 	  - 
2007 programme	  150,000 	  28,862 	  - 	  - 	  (1,192)	  - 	  177,670 	  177,670 	  460 
2008 programme	  158,500 	  30,500 	  - 	  - 	  (5,365)	  - 	  183,635 	  - 	  131 
March 2009 programme	  25,000 	  4,808 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  29,808 	  - 	  104 
December 2009  
programme	  270,000 	  51,947 	  - 	  - 	  (7,154)	  - 	  314,793 	  - 	  154 
May 2010 programme	  - 	  - 	  270,000 	  - 	  (3,800)	  - 	  266,200 	  - 	  291 
August 2010  
programme	  - 	  - 	  35,000 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  35,000 	  - 	  259 
December 2010  
programme	  - 	  - 	  45,000 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  45,000 	  - 	  261 
Total	  742,340 	  142,833 	  350,000 	  - 	  (17,511)	  (165,556)	  1,052,106 	  177,670 	

			   Outstanding 	 Adj. reg. 	 Addition					    Outstanding 
			   as of 	 rights	 during	 Options		  Termi-	 Trans-	 as of 31 
2010		  1 January	 issue	 the year	 exercised	 Annulled	 nations	 ferred	 December

Board of Directors	  75,837 	  14,594 	  30,000 	  - 	  - 	  (18,885)	  (16,694)	  84,852 
CEO & President	  70,000 	  13,475 	  20,000 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  103,475 
Group management	  217,515 	  41,864 	  90,000 	  - 	  - 	  (56,660)	  (158,284)	  134,435 
Other employees	  332,593 	  63,970 	  210,000 	  - 	  (17,511)	  (58,535)	  31,082 	  561,599 
Resigned employees	  46,395 	  8,930 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (31,476)	  143,896 	  167,745 
Total	  742,340 	  142,833 	  350,000 	  - 	  (17,511)	  (165,556)	  - 	  1,052,106 

Weighted average exercise price	  317 	  180 	  284 	  - 	  198 	  455 	  - 	  243

Numbers of warrants which can be exercised as of 31 December 2010						       177,670
at an weighted average exercise price of DKK								         460

			   Outstanding 	 Adj. reg. 	 Addition					    Outstanding 
			   as of 	 rights	 during	 Options		  Termi-	 Trans-	 as of 31 
2009		  1 January	 issue	 the year	 exercised	 Annulled	 nations	 ferred	 December

Board of Directors	  61,116 	  - 	  25,000 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  (10,279)	  75,837 
CEO & President	  50,000 	  - 	  20,000 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  70,000 
Group management	  162,515 	  - 	  80,000 	  - 	  (25,000)	  - 	  - 	  217,515 
Other employees	  173,843 	  - 	  170,000 	  - 	  (11,250)	  - 	  - 	  332,593 
Resigned employees 	  36,116 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  10,279 	  46,395 
Total	  483,590 	  - 	  295,000 	  - 	  (36,250)	  - 	  - 	  742,340 

Weighted average exercise price	  417 	  - 	  179 	  - 	  527 	  - 	  - 	  317

Numbers of warrants which can be exercised as of 31 December 2009						       138,840 
at an weighted average exercise price of DKK								         455 (542)
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25	 Incentive plans – continued

						      March	 December	 May	 August	 December 
Specification of parametres		  2007	 2008	 2009	 2009	 2010	 2010	 2010 
for Black-Scholes model		  programme 	programme 	programme 	programme 	programme 	programme 	programme 

								     
Avearge share price (DKK)		   436.50 	  156.00 	  103.00 	  149.00 	  212.50 	  223.00 	  238.00 
Average share exercise price (DKK)		   549.00 	  156.00 	  124.00 	  184.00 	  291.00 	  259.00 	  261.00 
Average share exercise price at date  
of issue 2 February 2010 (DKK)		   460.00 	  131.00 	  104.00 	  154.00 			 
Expected volatility rate		  31.00%	 39.00%	 62.30%	 50.90%	 62.70%	 57.20%	 49.50%
Expected life - number of years		   3.3 	  3.0 	  3.0 	  3.0 	  3.0 	  3.0 	  3.0 
Expected dividend per share		   - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 	  - 
Risk-fee interest rate		  4.00%	 4.50%	 2.50%	 2.10%	 2.00%	 0.80%	 1.60%

The fair value of the warrants on grant  
has been determined applying the  
Black-Scholes model (DKK)		   65 	  49 	  39 	  48 	  72 	  76 	  78 
The fair value of the warrants at date of  
issue 2 February 2010 has been determined  
applying the Black-Scholes model (DKK)		   - 	  62 	  80 	  66 			 

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility (over 12 months).
Recognised costs in 2010 DKK 22.0 million (incl. incremental fair value) compared to DKK 7.3 million in 2009.

Exercise periods

2009 December programme
The warrants can be exercised wholly or partly in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of publication of the Company’s Annual 
Report for 2013, from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim Report for the first six months 2014 (Q2), from the day of publica-
tion of the Company’s Annual Report for 2014 and/or in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of publication of the Company’s 
Interim Report for the first six months 2015 (Q2).

2010 August programme
The warrants can be exercised wholly or partly in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim 
Report for the first six months 2013 (Q2), from the day of publication of the Company’s Annual Report for 2013, from the day of pub-
lication of the Company’s Interim Report for the first six months 2014 (Q2) and/or in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of 
publication of the Company’s Annual Report for 2014.

2010 May programme
The warrants can be exercised wholly or partly in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim 
Report for the first three months 2013 (Q1), from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim Report for the first nine months 2013 
(Q3), from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim Report for the first three months 2014 (Q1) and/or in a period of 14 days com-
mencing from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim Report for the first nine months 2014 (Q3). 
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25	 Incentive plans – continued

2009 December programme
The warrants can be exercised wholly or partly in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim 
Report for the first nine months 2012 (Q3), from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim Report for the first three months 2013 
(Q1), from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim Report for the first nine months 2013 (Q3) and/or in a period of 14 days com-
mencing from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim Report for the first three months 2014 (Q1).

2009 March programme
The warrants can be exercised wholly or partly in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of publication of the Company’s Annual 
Report for 2011, from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim Report for the first six months 2012 (Q2), from the day of publica-
tion of the Company’s Annual Report for 2012 and in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of publication of the Company’s 
Interim Report for the first six months 2013 (Q2).

2008 programmes
The warrants can be exercised wholly or partly in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of publication of the company’s Interim 
Report for the first six months 2011 (Q2), from the day of publication of the Company’s Annual Report for 2011, from the day of publica-
tion of the Company’s Interim Report for the first six months 2012 (Q2) and/or in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of publi-
cation of the Company’s Annual Report for 2012.

2007 programmes
The warrants can be exercised wholly or partly in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of publication of the Company’s Interim 
Report for the first nine months 2010 (Q3) and/or in a period of 14 days commencing from the day of publication of the Company’s An-
nual Report for 2010.

Phantom shares
In 2008 the Company established a three-year phantom share programme under which all employees of the parent company, Bavarian 
Nordic GmbH and Bavarian Nordic Inc. receive up to three phantom shares per month free of charge during the period from 1 Novem-
ber 2008 to 31 October 2011. Each employee who is a full-time employee during the entire term of the plan will be eligible to receive a 
maximum of 108 phantom shares (116 phantom shares after adjustment, cf. below).

In 2010 the Company establised another three-year phantom share programme covering all employees of the parent company, Bavarian 
Nordic GmbH, Bavarian Nordic Inc. and BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc. The employees receive up to three phantom shares per month free 
of charge during the period from 1 April 2010 to 31 March 2013. Each employee who is a full-time employee during the entire term of the 
plan will be eligible to receive a maximum of 108 phantom shares.

On expiry of the programme in 2011 and 2013 the employees may exercise the phantom shares granted to them and thus be entitled to 
a cash bonus calculated on the basis of the increase in the price of the Company´s shares. The exercise of phantom shares is conditional 
on the price of the Company´s shares being at least 10% higher at the time of exercise than the exercise price.
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25	 Incentive plans – continued

	 2010-2013 programme				    2010

Outstanding as of 1 January 				     - 
Granted during the year				     9,938 
Expired during the year				     - 
Outstanding phantom shares as of 31 December				     9,938 

Specification of parametres for Black-Scholes model				  
Share price 31 December (DKK)				     245 
Average share exercise price (DKK)				     248 
Expected volatility rate (% p.a.)				    51%
Expected life - number of years				     2.3 
Expected dividend per share				     - 
Risk-fee interest rate (% p.a.)				    1.02%
The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (over 12 months)				  

The recognised cost in 2010 was DKK 731 thousand
				 
Liability in DKK thousand as of 31 December relating to phantom shares				     731 

	 2008-2011 programme		  2010	 2009	 2008

Outstanding as of 1 January 		   12,048 	  1,539 	  - 
Granted during the year		   13,966 	  10,509 	  1,539 
Expired during the year		   - 	  - 	  - 
Outstanding phantom shares as of 31 December		   26,014 	  12,048 	  1,539 

Specification of parametres for Black-Scholes model			 
Share price 31 December (DKK)		   245 	  144 	  132 
Average share exercise price (DKK)		   131 	  156 	  156 
Expected volatility rate (% p.a.)		  51%	 39%	 21%
Expected life - number of years		   0.9 	  1.9 	  2.9 
Expected dividend per share		   - 	  - 	  - 
Risk-fee interest rate (% p.a.)		  0.74%	 3.30%	 3.90%
The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility (over 12 months)	
			
The recognised cost in 2010 was DKK 2,804 thousand (DKK 267 thousand)

Liability in DKK thousand as of 31 December relating to phantom shares		   3,079 	  275 	  8 

Adjustment of outstanding phantom shares in 2010
The phantom share program has an adjustment mechanism in case of changes in the Bavarian Nordic’s capital structure, including raise 
in capital to price under market level. In compliance of these rules the average price of the 2008 programme hs been adjusted from DKK 
156 to DKK 131 due to dilution following the rights issue in January 2010.

After adjustment, each employee can receive a maximum of 116 phantom shares under the 2008 programme.
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			   Group and Parent Company

DKK thousands			   2010	 2009

26	 Contingent liabilities, contractual obligations		
The parent company stands surety for a credit facility to the subsidiary of a maximum of		   5,367 	  5,362 

Bank guarantees issued as deposits for laboratory and office buildings in Martinsried, Germany		   1,736 	  2,054 

Income recognition of part of prepayment, re. note 23, with repayment obligation in the event 
of breach of the RFP-3 contract. In such event, repayment must occur in USD 			   42,800	 -

Guarantee issued in connection with sale of IMVAMUNE® to Asia			    91 	  76 

Operational leasing		
Leasing obligations for cars. 		
The rental agreements are irrevocable up to 35 months.		
  - Due during the next year			    1,701 	  1,234 
  - Due between 1 and 5 years			    2,762 	  677 
  - Due after 5 years			    - 	  - 

Rental commitments		
Rental agreements for laboratory and offices facilities.		
The rental agreements are irrevocable from 1 to 84 months.			    93,481	  46,638 

The above-mentioned rental agreements have bound payment obligations as follows:		
  - Due during the next year			    19,469 	  12,027 
  - Due between 1 and 5 years			    54,897 	  27,080 
  - Due after 5 years			    19,115 	  7,531 

Collaborative agreements		
The company has contractual obligations with research partners for long-term research projects.		
  - Due during the next year			    2,154	  13,147 
  - Due between 1 and 5 years			   1,056 	  899 
  - Due after 5 years			    - 	  - 

Other contractual obligations		
Other obligations include among other things purchase commitments related to filling of vaccines.		
  - Due during the next year			    131,688 	  126,983 
  - Due between 1 and 5 years			    116,570 	  179,805 
  - Due after 5 years			    - 	  70 

Company mortgage		
Bavarian Nordic A/S has by letter of indemnity (DKK 150 million) granted Nordea Bank Denmark company mortgage in unsecured claims 
arising from the sale of goods and services and stocks of raw materials, intermediate products and finished products. Company mortgage are 
granted in connection with Nordea Bank Denmark granting an additional operating credit line of DKK 100 million. At the same time the com-
pany mortgage secures the line for trading in financial instruments (DKK 155 million) and the line for leasing arrangements (DKK 3 million).

Lawsuits		
Bavarian Nordic is involved in an arbitration requested by Helmholtz Zentrum München, Deutsches Forschungszentrum für Gesundheit 
und Umwelt Gmbh (formerly also known as GSF). The arbitration, which was filed in August 2009, is based on two old agreements with 
Bavarian Nordic from 1994 and 1997 regarding a collaboration on certain recombinant vaccines, which was formally terminated in 2001. 
The agreements do not emcompass the MVA-BN® patents. Bavarian Nordic has rejected the claim.

Based on management’s assessment Bavarian Nordic is not involved in any lawsuits or arbitration cases which could have essential 
influence on the income statement of the parent company or the Group’s financial position or result.

27	 Significant events after the balance sheet date
No significant events have occured since 31 December 2010.
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Date		  No.	 Title
 
06-01-2010	  	 1	 Report on the Results of the Extraordinary General Meeting, held 6 January 2010
08-01-2010		  2	 Bavarian Nordic today publishes a prospectus in connection with a rights issue of up to 3,975,872 new  
					     shares with a nominal value of DKK 10 each at DKK 80 per share (the “Offering”) 
14-01-2010		  3	 Insiders trading 
14-01-2010		  4	 Insiders trading
19-01-2010		  5	 Insiders trading 
21-01-2010		  6	 Insiders trading 
26-01-2010		  7	 PROSTVAC® paper published in Journal of Clinical Oncology 
27-01-2010		  8	 Bavarian Nordic and Oxford BioMedica settle all legal disputes on MVA-BN® 
27-01-2010		  9	 Prospectus supplement no. 1 to prospectus of 8 January 2010 issued by Bavarian Nordic A/S 
02-02-2010		  10	 Bavarian Nordic completes offering 
02-02-2010		  11	 Major Shareholder Announcement 
02-02-2010		  12	 Insiders trading
02-02-2010		  13	 Bavarian Nordic A/S – Major Shareholder Announcement 
26-02-2010		  14	 Total number of voting rights and share capital in Bavarian Nordic A/S 
09-03-2010		  15	 Bavarian Nordic publishes its annual report 2009 
09-03-2010		  16	 Bavarian Nordic Successfully Completes End of Phase 2 Meeting for PROSTVAC® 

15-03-2010		  17	 Bavarian Nordic Publishes Scientific Data Supporting the Post-Exposure Protection of IMVAMUNE® 
17-03-2010		  18	 FDA Concludes that Bavarian Nordic has Fulfilled all Requirements to Support the Delivery of  
					     IMVAMUNE® to the U.S. Government 
18-03-2010		  19	 Bavarian Nordic introduces incentive programme for all employees 
30-03-2010		  20	 Notice convening ordinary general meeting 
27-04-2010		  21	 Interim Report for the period 1 January to 31 March 2010 
27-04-2010		  22	 Report on the Results of the Annual General Meeting, held 27 April 2010 
29-04-2010		  23	 Bavarian Nordic Receives FDA Fast Track Designation for PROSTVAC® 
29-04-2010		  24	 Notice convening extraordinary general meeting 
17-05-2010		  25	 Bavarian Nordic Begins Delivery of IMVAMUNE® to the U.S. Strategic National Stockpile 
21-05-2010		  26	 Insiders trading 
25-05-2010		  27	 Report on the Results of the Extraordinary General Meeting, held 25 May 2010 
25-05-2010		  28	 Bavarian Nordic awards warrants to management and certain employees 
31-08-2010		  29	 Interim Report for the period 1 January to 30 June 2010 
15-09-2010		  30	 Bavarian Nordic issues Financial Calendar for 2011 
30-09-2010		  31	 Bavarian Nordic Realigns for Expansion 
05-10-2010		  32	 Bavarian Nordic’s MVA-BN® patent stands in European validity challenge 
12-10-2010		  33	 U.S. Government Exercises Next Part of Bavarian Nordic’s Freeze-Dried IMVAMUNE® Contract 
13-10-2010		  34	 Bavarian Nordic Receives NIH Grant to Investigate the Potential of an MVA-BN® based Vaccine against  
					     Ebola and Marburg Viruses 
09-11-2010		  35	 Interim Report for the period 1 January to 30 September 2010 
30-11-2010		  36	 Bavarian Nordic A/S launches a private placement at market price 
30-11-2010		  37	 Bavarian Nordic A/S completes a private placement at market price 
06-12-2010		  38	 Bavarian Nordic A/S completes registration of share capital increase and upgrades its expectations to  
					     year-end cash preparedness
06-12-2010		  39	 Major Shareholder Announcement 
08-12-2010		  40	 Bavarian Nordic Receives Special Protocol Assessment Agreement from the FDA for Phase 3 Trial of PROSTVAC®

16-12-2010		  41	 Bavarian Nordic awards warrants to certain employees
30-12-2010		  42	 Total number of voting rights and share capital in Bavarian Nordic A/S

Company Announcements in 2011
 

28-02-2011		  1	 Bavarian Nordic Announces Start of Randomized Phase 2 Study Comparing PROSTVAC® and Chemotherapy versus 		
					     Chemotherapy
03-03-2011		  2	 Bavarian Nordic Enters Into New Research Project to Develop New Cancer Vaccines Supported by the Danish National 		
					     Advanced Technology Foundation
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Company headquarters
Bavarian Nordic A/S
Hejreskovvej 10A
DK-3490 Kvistgård
Denmark
Phone: +45 3326 8383
Fax: +45 3326 8380

CVR-no: 16 27 11 87

Germany
Bavarian Nordic GmbH
Fraunhoferstrasse 13
D-82152 Martinsried
Germany
Phone: +49 89 8565 0030
Fax: +49 89 8565 1333
General Manager: Paul Chaplin

Bavarian Nordic GmbH
Robert-Rössle-Strasse 10
D-13125 Berlin
Germany
Phone: +49 30 9406 3900
Fax: +49 30 9406 3999
General Manager: Paul Chaplin

USA
BN ImmunoTherapeutics Inc.
2425 Garcia Ave
Mountain View, CA 94043
USA
Phone: +1 650 681 4660
Fax: +1 360 838 2053

Bavarian Nordic Inc.
1055 Thomas Jefferson St. NW 
Suite 400
Washington, DC 20007
USA
Phone: +1 202 403 2136
Fax: +1 202 536 1579

Singapore 
(representative office)
Bavarian Nordic A/S
#521, Bukit Batok Street 23, 
#04-19,
Singapore 659544
Singapore
Phone: +65 65 13 89 36
Fax: +65 65 61 00 63

Legal advisor
Kromann Reumert
Sundkrogsgade 5
DK-2100 Copenhagen
Denmark

Independent auditors
Deloitte
Statsautoriseret Revisions-
aktieselskab
Weidekampsgade 6
DK-2300 Copenhagen
Denmark

Bank
Nordea A/S
Vesterbrogade 8
Box  850
DK-0900 Copenhagen
Denmark

Website
www.bavarian-nordic.com

Trademarks 
PROSTVAC® and IMVAMUNE® 
are registered trade marks 
owned by Bavarian Nordic. 

Design and Graphic Production: meyer & bukdahl as
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